
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 

COMMITTEE  
 

 
 
To: The Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
 
 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee 
to be held on Wednesday, 20th March, 2019 at 2.00pm in the Authority 

Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Trudy Bedford 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1330. 
 

Yours faithfully 
 

 
 

Chief Executive 
 



 

 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITEE 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

   

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS  

 To consider the minutes of the previous meetings of the Audit and 
Governance Committee held on: - 
 

a) 17th October 2018; and 
 

b) 23rd January 2019. 

  (Pages 1 - 8) 

4. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY INTERNAL AUDIT 
PERFORMANCE  

 The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit and Governance 
Committee with an overview of the internal audit work completed in 
respect of the Combined Authority for the period 1 October 2018 – 28 
February 2019 in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 2018-19. 

  (Pages 9 - 24) 
 

5. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  COMBINED AUTHORITY INTERNAL 
AUDIT PLAN AND CHARTER 2019-20  

 The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit and Governance 
Committee with the Internal Audit Plan of work and Internal Audit Charter 
for 2019-20. 

  (Pages 25 - 68) 
 

6. EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2018/19  

 The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit and Governance 
Committee with the external audit plan of work (2018/19) which is 
proposed by the appointed External Auditors, Mazars.  

  (Pages 69 - 92) 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

7. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY COUNTER-
FRAUD POLICIES  

 The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit and Governance 
Committee with the Counter-Fraud policies for the organisation. 

  (Pages 93 - 144) 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  

 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in respect of the system 
of corporate risk management and the activity that has been undertaken in 
embedding an effective system in the organisation. This encompasses 
presenting the refreshed Corporate Risk Register for noting and the 
revised Risk Management Policy for approval. 

  (Pages 145 - 174) 

9. ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 To consider a verbal presentation which seeks Members views on the 
accounting policies for the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority.  

   

10. GOVERNANCE UPDATE  

 To advise the Audit and Governance Committee of various matters relating 
to the CA Constitution and information policies. 

  (Pages 175 - 212) 
 

11. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ETHICAL STANDARDS - A REVIEW BY THE 
COMMITTEE ON STANDARDS IN PUBLIC LIFE  

 The purpose of this report is to inform the Audit and Governance 
Committee of the outcome of the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
review of Local Government Ethical Standards. 

  (Pages 213 - 222) 
 

12. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY AUDIT AND 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ANNUAL REVIEW FOR 2018/19  

 The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit and Governance 
Committee with an opportunity to consider their draft Annual Review for 
2018/19.  

  (Pages 223 - 238) 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
 

 
At a meeting of the Liverpool City Region (LCR) Audit & Governance Committee held 
in the Authority Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday, 17th 
October, 2018 the following Members were in attendance: -  
 
Councillor Edna Finneran  Overview & Scrutiny Knowsley MBC 
Councillor Paula Murphy  Overview & Scrutiny Sefton MBC 
Councillor Dr John Pugh  Overview & Scrutiny LCR Opposition Group 
Councillor Sir Ron Watson OBE Overview & Scrutiny LCR Opposition Group 
Councillor Derek Long  Combined Authority St Helens MBC 
Councillor Ian Maher   Combined Authority Sefton MBC 
 
 
1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRPERSON  
 
Councillor Ian Maher nominated Councillor Paula Murphy to be the Chairperson of 
the Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee. 
 
This was seconded by Councillor Derek Long. 
 
RESOLVED that Councillor Paula Murphy be appointed as the Chairperson of the 
LCR Audit and Governance Committee for the remainder of the municipal year 
2018/19. 
 
 
2. APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIRPERSON  
 
Councillor Ian Maher nominated Councillor Edna Finneran to be the Vice 
Chairperson of the Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee. 
 
This was seconded by Councillor Derek Long. 
 
RESOLVED that Councillor Edna Finneran be appointed as the Vice Chairperson of 
the Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee for the remainder of the 
municipal year 2018/19. 
 
 
3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Rob Polhill. 
 
 
4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
5. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS  
 
RESOLVED that the following minutes of the previous meetings of the Liverpool City 
Region Audit and Governance Committee be approved as a correct record: - 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



a) 8 September 2017; 
 

b) 22 February 2018; and 
 

c) 28 March 2018 
 
 

6. INTERNAL AUDIT PERFORMANCE REPORT QUARTER 1 AND 2  
 
The Committee considered a report relating to the internal audit work completed in 
respect of the Combined Authority for the period 1 April to 30 September 2018 
presented by Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit. 
 
Members enquired about the fleet management and assurance issues that needed to 
be addressed as well as the differences between the assurance opinions. 
 
John Fogarty informed the Committee that the fleet management is the fleet that is 
used to operate the Mersey Tunnels. 
 
Laura Williams informed the Committee that the assurance issues were related to 
policies and procedures and how they were adopted and implemented. She also 
stated that the differences between the assurance opinions were: - 
 

 Substantial – operating effectively and generally happy 

 Reasonable – operating adequately 

 Limited – not where it is supposed to be 

 No Assurance – poor 
 
There was a discussion about the assurances and the levels of opinions in relation to 
the follow-up and how it should be differentiated and consistent and be made clear 
for the members of the public to understand it. 
 
Laura Williams informed the Committee that the different levels of assurances are 
dependent on the priority levels of the recommendations made in the audit report. All 
recommendations are followed up equally and discussions were currently being held 
with officers about the progress being made in implementing the recommendations 
made. 
 
Members enquired about the publication scheme audit, the timescales involved in 
implementing the recommendations and whether it could not be completed earlier. 
 
Laura Williams informed the Committee that the Chief Legal Officer had advised that 
the publication scheme would be completed by March 2019. 
 
Jill Coule advised that the website was being developed and the publication scheme 
would be completed before the original timescales. 
 
 
RESOLVED that the Audit and Governance Committee notes: - 
 

a) the progress made in the delivery of the approved Internal Audit Plan in 
respect of the Combined Authority. 
 

b) the outcomes of the audit work undertaken during the period of the report. 

Page 2



 
c) that Audit and Governance training would be organised for members of the 

Committee prior to the next meeting in January 2019. 
 

d) that a copy of the report relating to Fleet Management be circulated to the 
Committee. 
 

e) that Jill Coule, Monitoring Officer to action the development of the Publication 
Scheme  

 
 
7. KPMG ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER  
 
The Committee considered a report relating to the Annual Audit Letter for 2017/18 
provided by the Combined Authority’s outgoing external auditors (KPMG) for 
information, presented by John Fogarty, Director of Corporate Services. 
 
There was a discussion about the recommendation on the report relating to the 
Combined Authority “noting” the Annual Letter and what the role of the Audit and 
Governance Committee was in its approval. 
 
John Fogarty informed the Committee that the report had already been to the 
Combined Authority for approval and it was a matter of process to be submitted to 
the Audit and Governance Committee. 
 
The Chair enquired about the reference to an “unqualified conclusion” on page 27 of 
the report and commented that she was confused as the Metro Mayor had reported 
at the last Overview and Scrutiny Committee that it was a “qualified opinion”. 
 
John Fogarty informed the Committee that it was the terminology being used and that 
it was an “unqualified opinion” that was reported by the internal auditors. 
 
Members enquired about the meaning of “misstatements” and “significant audit 
differences” references on page 27 of the report. 
 
John Fogarty informed the Committee that the references were from financial 
statements and related to the inaccuracy of the accounts but was not material but 
rather an opinion. 
 
RESOLVED that the Audit and Governance Committee: - 
 

a) receives the Annual Audit Letter for 2017/18 which was considered by the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority at its meeting in August 2018; and 
 

b) agrees that officers collate a glossary of terms and audit jargon to be 
circulated to members of the Committee to assist in understanding the 
terminology being used in reports. 

 
 
8. APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT MEMBER UPDATE  
 
The Committee considered a report relating to the recent recruitment of the 
Independent Member to the Audit and Governance Committee presented by Jill 
Coule Monitoring Officer. 
 

Page 3



Members discussed the report and the options available and enquired about 
approaching other local authorities in the region before looking at other costly 
methods. 
 
RESOLVED that the Audit and Governance Committee: - 
 

a) notes the progress to date for the recruitment of an Independent Member; 
and 
 

b) agrees to Option 2 being considered first, then Option 1 and Option 3 as a 
last resort due to the financial implications and that officers take the 
appropriate steps to appoint an Independent Member as soon as practicable. 
 

c) provides the Chair with an update and keeps the Committee informed of the 
progress.  
 
 

9. WORK PROGRAMME FOR 2018-19  
 
The Committee considered a report relating to the Audit and Governance Work 
Programme for 2018/19. 
 
Jill Coule informed the Committee that the Work Programme was produced as a 
guide for the Committee to be aware of items likely to be submitted to future 
meetings and now that a Chair and Vice Chair had been appointed to the Committee 
meetings would be arranged to look at the Work Programme in more detail. She also 
stated that a report on Information, Management and Governance would be included 
in the Work Programme for the January 2019 meeting. 
 
Members discussed the Work Programme and highlighted the March meeting being 
a “full agenda” and consideration may need to be given to including another meeting 
in the schedule to consider the reports appropriately. 
 
RESOLVED that the Audit and Governance Committee Work Programme for 
2018/19: - 
 

a) in consultation with the Chair and officers, be agreed as a developing 
document that would be subject to changes and additions as the municipal 
year progresses;  
 

b) be agreed subject to a report on Information, Management and Governance 
being included in the Work Programme for the January 2019 meeting; and 
 

c) in consultation with the Chair and officers, looks at the March 2019 meeting 
and agrees a way forward to consider the reports scheduled to be submitted. 
 
 

10. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS  
 
There was no other urgent business. 
 
 
11. DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING  
 
The date of the next meeting on 23 January 2019 was noted. 

Page 4



 
Minutes 1 to 11 received as a correct record on the 23 day of January 2018. 
 
 
 
 

 

Chairperson of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 

(The meeting closed at 2.55 pm) 
 
 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

At an inquorate meeting of the Audit & Governance Committee held in the Authority 
Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday, 23rd January, 2019 
the following Members were in attendance: -  
 
Councillor Edna Finneran   Overview & Scrutiny Knowsley MBC 
Councillor Paula Murphy (Chair)  Overview & Scrutiny Sefton MBC 
Councillor Ian Maher    Overview & Scrutiny Sefton MBC 
Councillor Graham Morgan (Substitute) Overview & Scrutiny Knowsley MBC 
 
Also in attendance was Mr Martin McDonagh (Independent Member, Knowsley MBC) 
who had been invited to observe the meeting. 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Dr John Pugh, Sir Ron 
Watson and Derek Long. 
 
2. ADVICE OF THE MONITORING OFFICER  
 
The Monitoring Officer of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, Jill Coule, 
addressed the meeting with regard to the quorum for this meeting, which she advised 
in accordance with the Constitution of the Authority should be at least two thirds of 
the voting members of the Committee. As one Member was unable to attend the 
meeting would therefore be inquorate.  
 
Arising from her interpretation of S80 of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
Monitoring Officer apologised for the inconvenience caused but indicated that on 
balance, the meeting should be adjourned on the basis that the fulfilment of the 
criteria for a quorum could not be satisfied beyond doubt and that this could 
potentially mean that any arising proceedings were invalid. 
 
It was clarified by the external auditor Gareth Hitchmough (Mazars) that with regard 
to the item of business due to have been considered at the meeting relating to the 
External Audit Plan 2018/19 of the Combined Authority, although not desirable, the 
External Audit Plan could nonetheless be legitimately determined directly by the 
Combined Authority at its next meeting on 8th March 2019 without a prior 
recommendation from this Committee. 
 
All other items on the agenda would be deferred to the next meeting on 20th March 
2019. 
 
3. DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING  
 
The next meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee on 20th March 2019 was 
noted by the Committee. 
 
 
 

 

Chairperson of the LCR Audit and Governance Committee 
 

(The meeting closed at 2.06 pm) 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee 
  
Meeting:  20 March 2019 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  Combined Authority/All Districts 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
INTERNAL AUDIT PERFORMANCE  

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit and Governance Committee with 

an overview of the internal audit work completed in respect of the Combined 
Authority for the period 1 October 2018 – 28 February 2019 in accordance with the 
Internal Audit Plan 2018-19. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee is 

recommended to: 
 

(a) Note the progress made in the delivery of the approved Internal Audit Plan  
in respect of the Combined Authority 

 
(b)  Note the outcomes of the audit work undertaken during the period of the 

 report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the work undertaken by the Internal Audit service in 
respect of LCRCA in the period 1 October 2018 – 28 February 2019.  The report 
highlights the following key points: 

 
(a) Audits completed in the period, detailing audit opinions and 

recommendations made; 
(b) Recommendations outstanding and progress made by management in 

implementing recommendations;  
(c) An update on internal audit performance indicators, as detailed in the Quality 

Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP); 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



(e) An update on work undertaken in respect of fraud and irregularity; and 
(f) An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards (PSIAS). 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4 Information Technology 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
5.1 It is the responsibility of the LCRCA to establish effective arrangements for the 

management of risk.  Internal Audit reports highlight weaknesses which pose a risk 
to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives and the according 
recommendations assist in mitigating such risks.  Internal audit work is one strand 
of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the system of internal control and this 
can be utilised to inform the LCRCA’s view of organisational risk and its 
management. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 

 
7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
8.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 

Page 10



9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 Internal Audit has made positive progress in the period of this report to deliver the 

Internal Audit Plan 2018-19.   
 
9.2 This report demonstrates how the provision of available Internal Audit resource has 

been utilised to provide appropriate assurance to the Combined Authority. 
 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit   tel: 0151 330 1764 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – Internal Audit Performance  
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

 

 

INTERNAL AUDIT PERFORMANCE  
 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

20 March 2019 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 13



 

Contents 
           
             Page 
 

1. Introduction            2 
 
2. Internal Audit Plan Progress         3   
  2.1 Background           3 
  2.2 Grant Assurance          3 
  2.3 Advice on Developing Systems        4  
  2.4 Follow-Up of Previous Recommendations      5  
  2.5 Performance Against Plan         6 
  2.6 Audits of Corporate Functions        7 
   
3. Fraud and Irregularity          8  
  3.1 Background           8   

3.2 CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (2014) 8  
 3.3 Proactive Counter-Fraud Work        8  

3.4 National Fraud Initiative (NFI)        9 
3.5 Reactive Counter-Fraud Work        9  

 3.6 Fraud Risk Register          9   
3.7 Fraud Policy Framework         9  

         
4. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards       10  
  4.1 Background           10 

4.2 Internal and External Assessment        10 
4.3 Quality Assessment and Improvement Programme (QAIP)    10  

      
   
 
 
 

 

P
age 14



         
 
 

Internal Audit Performance Page | 2 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of Internal Audit work completed in the period 1 October 2018 – 28 

February 2019, in respect of the LCRCA Internal Audit Plan 2018-19 approved by this Committee at its meeting on 28 March 
2018.   

 
1.2 The report is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee so as to facilitate the Committee’s obligations, as defined in 

its Terms of Reference, in monitoring the effectiveness of the LCRCA’s internal audit arrangements. It highlights the outcomes 
of Internal Audit work as a source of assurance on the effectiveness of the LCRCA’s internal control environment.  

 
1.3 Internal Audit is defined as: “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve 

an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach 
to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.” (Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards, 2017) 

 
1.4 The mission of Internal Audit is to: “To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight”. 
 
 
 
  

P
age 15



         
 
 

Internal Audit Performance Page | 3 
 

2. Internal Audit Plan Progress 
 
2.1 Background 
 
2.1.1 The Internal Audit Plan 2018-19 for the LCRCA was approved by this Committee at its meeting on 28 March 2018.  The Plan 

comprises 220 days of internal audit resource to be utilised on the audit of LCRCA activities.  In addition to this, the LCRCA 
can draw assurance from the internal audit work undertaken in the Merseytravel Internal Audit Plan in respect of corporate 
systems which Merseytravel provides to the LCRCA. 

 
2.1.2 The Internal Audit Plan comprises two main elements: 
 

 Assurance in respect of grants administered by the LCRCA such as the Strategic Investment Fund (SIF), Growth Fund, 
Growth Hub, Rural Leader and Skills for Growth. 

 Supporting developing systems by providing advice and guidance on risk and internal control.  This is particularly pertinent 
as the activities of the Combined Authority are being established. 

 
2.2 Grant Assurance 
 
2.2.1 Work has been undertaken by Internal Audit to review the evidence supporting requests for payment associated with grants.  

This work is vital in ensuring that grant applicants (including constituent Local Authorities, educational institutions, charities, 
voluntary organisations and businesses) have complied with the Grant Funding Agreements in place, and that payment is only 
released when they have done so. 

 
2.2.2 It is worthy of note that the volume and value of grants being presented for audit has grown exponentially during 2018-19, 

(124 claims totalling £16.3m up to 28 February 2019 compared to 91 claims totalling £10.6m for the same period in the prior 
year) and this demonstrates the development of the LCRCA’s activities and increased devolution. 

 
2.2.3 Table 1 shows the grant claims have been audited during the period 1 October 2018 – 28 February 2019: 
 

P
age 16



         
 
 

Internal Audit Performance Page | 4 
 

Table 1 

Grant Name Number of Claims Audited Value of Claims Audited (£) 

Growth Fund (Employment and Skills) 1 34,807 

Growth Hub (LEP) 2 221,225 

Careers and Enterprise (LEP) 6 134,546 

Local Energy Hub (LEP) 1 36,259 

Rural Leader 1 20,340 

Single Investment Fund 48 5,117,626 

Total  59 5,564,803 

 
2.3 Advice on Developing Systems 
 
2.3.1 Adult Education Budget 

Internal Audit has been providing support to the Education and Skills team to develop systems and procedures which will 
ensure robust audit and assurance arrangements are in place following the devolution of the Adult Education Budget in 
September 2019 from the Education Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) to the Combined Authority.  As well as advice on our own 
internal systems such as the procurement and payments process, internal audit have also provided advice and guidance in 
relation to the offer made by the ESFA in relation to proposed working arrangements on audit and assurance, financial health 
and fraud and investigations.  The Adult Education Budget devolved to the Combined Authority is in the region of £51m per 
academic year. 

 
2.3.2 Housing First 
 Internal Audit is represented on the Project Board for the development of Housing First, advising on internal control, 
 governance and risk management matters.  The project concerns the award of a grant to the Combined Authority from the 
 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) of £7.7m over three years, to deliver step change in 
 homelessness in the City Region. 
 
 
 

P
age 17



         
 
 

Internal Audit Performance Page | 5 
 

 
2.4 Follow-Up of Previous Recommendations 
 
2.4.1 The implementation of recommendations made by Internal Audit is subject to ongoing monitoring and follow-up audit review.   

Where dates of agreed action have passed and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts 
managers to establish progress, confirm actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate.  

 
2.4.2 Table 3 provides a summary of recommendations that are yet to be implemented: 
                                                 Table 3 

 
 
2.4.3 It is positive to note that there are no recommendations overdue. The level of acceptance of Internal Audit recommendations 

is high and this is reflected in a generally positive picture in terms of implementation of recommendations within an 
appropriate timescale.                                                                                                        

                  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Department Audit Name
Assurance     

Rating

Organisational              

Impact
Priority Required Advisory Completed

In 

Progress
Overdue

2017-18

Legal Freedom Of Information Substantial Low 4 0 1 3 2 0

Legal Publication Scheme Limited Low 2 5 0 2 5 0

P
age 18



         
 
 

Internal Audit Performance Page | 6 
 

 
2.5 Performance Against Plan 
 
2.5.1 Figure 1 below shows the completion of the Internal Audit Plan 2018-19, in comparison to the profiled expected completion for 

each quarter based on the total number of days allocated: 
 

 
Figure 1: Completion of Internal Audit Plan 2018-19 

 
2.5.2 It Is noted that the actual number of audit days completed up to 28 February 2019 is 241 compared to an expected 202 days.  

 This additional activity has primarily been due to the time taken providing advice on developing systems and resources 
required to undertake reactive counter-fraud work. 

 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 up to
28/02/19

Target

Actual

P
age 19



         
 
 

Internal Audit Performance Page | 7 
 

2.6 Audits of Corporate Functions 
 
2.6.1 There are a number of functions provided by Merseytravel to the LCRCA, such as: 
 

 Finance 

 Procurement  

 Human Resources 

 ICT 

 Mersey Tunnels. 
 

2.6.2 As these systems are “owned” by Merseytravel, these are subject to Merseytravel governance processes, which involve 
reporting to the Audit, Risk and Governance Board where there is a detailed review of the audit findings and 
recommendations.  However, as these provide services to the LCRCA, a high level summary is provided here so as to provide 
visibility and assurance to this Committee. 

 
2.6.3 During the period, the following relevant Merseytravel corporate functions were audited: 
 

Audit Review Assurance Opinion Recommendations Made 

Priority Required Advisory 

Database Management Limited 1 1 0 

IT Project Management  Substantial 0 2 2 

Data Management Limited 3 2 0 

IT Strategy Limited 1 0 0 

Mersey Tunnels -  Police 
Vehicles & Driver 
Management  

Reasonable 0 4 2 

Debtors Substantial 0 3 1 

Mail Services Limited 1 13 1 

P
age 20



         
 
 

Internal Audit Performance Page | 8 
 

3. Fraud and Irregularity  

 
3.1 Background 
 
3.1.1 The Merseytravel Internal Audit Plan 2018-19 includes 100 days for the investigation (where appropriate), prevention and 

detection of fraud. This is the subject of detailed scrutiny by the Audit, Risk and Governance Board, but as some of the work 
undertaken relates to services provided by Merseytravel to LCRCA (such as payroll and creditors), a high level summary is 
provided here so as to provide visibility and assurance to this Committee. 

 
3.2 CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (2014) 
 
3.2.1 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption is the key guidance document for the sector on 

managing fraud risk. 
 
3.2.2 The document takes the form of a self-assessment which examines all aspects of the organisation’s strategic focus on and 

response to, the risk of fraud and corruption. 
 
3.2.3 Two of the key requirements of the Code of Practice are that the Internal Audit Plan has a dedicated resource for 

investigation, prevention and detection of fraud and corruption, and that this is informed by a Fraud Risk Register.  Both of 
these items are in place. 

 
3.2.4 The self- assessment against the document is in the process of being reviewed and updated, so that it reflects the risk of fraud 

in the LCRCA. 
 
3.3 Proactive Counter-Fraud Work 
 
3.3.1 Proactive work is being undertaken examining creditors data to identify potential duplicate payments and reconciling the 

establishment list to the payroll to identify potential “ghost employees”. 
 

P
age 21



         
 
 

Internal Audit Performance Page | 9 
 

3.4 National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 
 
3.4.1 The organisation participates in the National Fraud Initiative co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office.  Data from the Payroll and 
 Creditors systems are uploaded to the dedicated Cabinet Office website, and are matched with data within and between 
 participating  bodies so as to identify potential frauds, overpayments and errors. On receipt of the results, the organisation has 
 responsibility to follow up and investigate the matches. The main NFI data matching is undertaken every two years, the 
 results of these matches is fed into a national report at the end of each cycle.  
 
3.4.2 Data for this cycle was uploaded in the week commencing 8 October 2018 in accordance with the NFI timetable, and matches 

were received at the end of January 2019. This Committee will be kept informed of the outcomes arising from the review of 
matches.  

 
3.5 Reactive Counter-Fraud Work  

 
3.5.1  Internal Audit is examining a range of compliance issues highlighted in relation to applications and payments related to a 

specific grant for which the Combined Authority acts as accountable body.  This work commenced in February 2019 and is 
ongoing.  This Committee will be informed of any outcomes from the investigation upon its conclusion. 

 
3.6 Fraud Risk Register 

 
3.6.1 The Fraud Risk Register is under review in conjunction with Heads of Service.  This is with the objective of updating the risks 

held within the risk register so as to reflect new and emerging fraud risks associated with the development of the LCRCA, and 
to ensure that Heads of Service have acknowledged such risks in their planning and development of internal controls.   

 
3.7 Fraud Policy Framework  
 
3.7.1 There is a separate report on this agenda which details the review and update of fraud policies. 
  

P
age 22



         
 
 

Internal Audit Performance Page | 10 
 

4. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 
 
4.1 Background 
 
4.1.1 The Internal Audit service is required to demonstrate its compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), 

which detail how the service should operate, be managed, and relate to the organisation. So as to demonstrate compliance, 
the service must undertake internal and external assessment.  

 
4.2 Internal and External Assessment  
 
4.2.1 It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the service must be subject to an external assessment of its compliance with the PSIAS 

once every five years.  The service was subject to such an external assessment (peer review validation of self-assessment) 
against the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) in June 2017.  

 
4.2.2 The overall outcome of this assessment was that the service conforms to the PSIAS. A number of enhancements to the 

service were suggested as a result of the assessment, and all such actions arising from the report have subsequently been 
completed. 

 
4.2.3 An internal assessment against the PSIAS is undertaken on an ongoing basis, so as to ensure that the service remains 

compliant until the next scheduled external review, which will be scheduled to take place in 2022. 
 
4.3 Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) 
 
4.3.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require that the service maintains a Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme (QAIP) which includes a series of performance measures and associated targets.  
 
4.3.2 Performance measures defined in the QAIP are also included within the 2018/19 Internal Audit Service Plan and are thus 

reported to senior management in accordance with the corporate quarterly performance reporting process.  This provides 

P
age 23



         
 
 

Internal Audit Performance Page | 11 
 

senior management oversight and scrutiny of performance and of any remedial actions required to meet identified targets. The 
QAIP is also subject to detailed scrutiny by the Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board.  

 
 

P
age 24



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee 
  
Meeting:  20 March 2019 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  Combined Authority/All Districts 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN AND CHARTER 2019-20 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit and Governance Committee with 

the Internal Audit Plan of work and Internal Audit Charter for 2019-20. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee is 

recommended to: 
 

(a) Approve the Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 and 
 
(b)  Approve the Internal Audit Charter 2019-20. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the proposed plan of internal audit work in respect 
of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority for 2019-20.  It also includes, in 
the interests of transparency, the planned work for Merseytravel, so that the 
Committee is fully sighted on the planned activities of the Internal Audit function 
during the forthcoming year.  The report explains the detailed process of 
compilation of the Plan, using a risk-based approach, and highlights the key areas 
for consideration. 

 
3.2 The report also provides the Internal Audit Charter for 2019-20 for the approval of 

the Committee.  This document sets out the role, purpose and authority of Internal 
Audit, and highlights the ethical framework within which auditors work. 

 
 Both documents are key requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4 Information Technology 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
5.1 It is the responsibility of the LCRCA to establish effective arrangements for the 

management of risk.  The Internal Audit Plan has been produced using a risk-based 
approach which facilitates targeting resource to those organisational areas of 
greatest risk. 

 
Internal audit work is one strand of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control and this can be utilised to inform the LCRCA’s view of 
organisational risk and its management. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 

 
7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
8.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
 

Page 26



9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 Internal Audit has produced a plan of work for the 2019-20 financial year, which 

concentrates on areas of most significant organisational risk, so as to contribute to 
the maintenance of an effective internal control environment and management of 
risk. 

 
9.2 Internal Audit has also produced an Internal Audit Charter for 2019-20 which 

highlights the role of internal audit and how it will conduct its work. 
 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit   tel: 0151 330 1764 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 
 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 

AND MERSEYTRAVEL 

 

INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN AND CHARTER 2019-20 
 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

20 March 2019 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 29



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 

                                                              Page 
 

1. Executive Summary           2 
 
2. Plan Compilation and Principles         3  

  
3. Organisational Context          4   
                  
4. Composition            5   
                 
5. Corporate Systems           7 
 
6. Liverpool City Region Combined Authority: Specific Systems     9 
 
7. Merseytravel: Specific Systems         10 
 
8. Planned Developments          11 
 
9. Internal Audit Charter          14 
 
 
 
 

           
 
 
 

  

P
age 30



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 2 
 

1.  Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report provides the Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20 for the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) 

and Merseytravel. 
 

1.2 The Internal Audit Plan is a key requirement of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (hereafter referred to as “the 
Standards”), and is vital in demonstrating the Internal Audit service’s continued compliance. 

 
1.3 The Plan demonstrates how internal audit resources will be used during the forthcoming financial year so as to provide 

assurance on the effectiveness of the internal control systems in place in both organisations, so as to inform the Annual 
Report and Opinion of the Head of Internal Audit for 2019-20 for LCRCA and for Merseytravel. 

 
1.4 Particular attention has been paid to ensuring that the Internal Audit Plan is reflective of the changing risk landscape of the 

organisation, and that it provides tangible added value in maintaining an effective system of internal control and 
management of risk. The Plan has a particular emphasis on the role Internal Audit can play at a strategic level. This has been 
achieved through consultation with relevant stakeholders. 

 

1.5 The Internal Audit Charter sets out the role, purpose and authority of Internal Audit, and details the behaviours and values 

adopted by audit staff. 

 

  

P
age 31



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 3 
 

 

2.  Plan Compilation and Principles 
 
2.1 The Standards state that the “Chief Audit Executive” must “establish risk based plans to determine the priorities of the internal 

audit activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals”. They refer to the need for the plan to reflect the assurance framework, 
risk management arrangements and input from management and “the board”. 
 

2.2 In meeting this Standard, an extensive consultation exercise has been undertaken to identify potential areas for audit, 
comprising: 

 Review of the Corporate Risk Registers for LCRCA and Merseytravel 

 Review of Service Risk Registers 

 Review of Committee reports and decisions 

 Cumulative audit knowledge and experience 

 Findings and outcomes from previous audit work 

 Engagement with Heads of Service 

 Evaluation of the risks highlighted by the Internal Audit Plan 2018-19. 
 
2.3  An extensive risk assessment exercise took place so as to form an overall view on the level of organisational risk each area 

poses. By implementing a truly risk-based methodology, the Plan is intended to ensure that internal audit resource is used to 
concentrate on the most significant identified risks which may jeopardise the achievement of the corporate objectives, as 
detailed in the Corporate Plans.  This increased focus on risk is also intended to assist management in understanding the 
risks within their own service delivery areas, and to assist them in developing robust and resource-effective controls to 
mitigate these risks.  This is intended to support the Corporate Behaviour “action focus” in assisting in the delivery of 
objectives. 

 
  

P
age 32



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 4 
 

 

3.  Organisational Context 
 
3.1 The organisational context for the Internal Audit Plan remains one of significant and fast-paced change. As the activities and 

responsibilities of the Combined Authority grow, so does the inherent risk and opportunity associated with the delivery of the 
Devolution Deal.  Key to ensuring delivery of the organisation’s responsibilities is the need to manage risk effectively, by 
establishing robust systems of internal control.  

 
3.2 In terms of Merseytravel, the drive for financial sustainability will continue to be important in 2019-20, and the way that the 

organisation responds effectively to this challenge will be key.  The ongoing challenges relating to the ageing asset base also 
poses challenges for the organisation, and during 2019-20, key projects on Rolling Stock and the new Mersey Ferry will reach 
important stages. 

 
3.3 The Internal Audit Plan reflects these key challenges, recognising the need to ensure that the organisation is able to deliver 

with confidence.  The Internal Audit Plan allocates time to advice and guidance and developing systems, so that assurance 
can be provided on the extent to which planned systems mitigate risk, coupled with reviews of the key systems and processes 
that will support delivery. 

 
3.4 Feedback from Senior Officers has indicated a wish for Internal Audit to focus on the value it can add at a strategic level.  

Therefore, the Plan reflects a heightened focus on audits of strategic importance, by aligning the plan closely 
with the most significant risks faced by the organisation, reflected in the Corporate Risk Register. 
 

3.5 As the organisation’s activities develop, it is important to recognise that the key risks facing the organisation will also evolve.  
In this context, the Internal Audit Plan must be flexible so as to be able to adapt to and reflect the changing risk 
landscape of the organisation. Therefore, it is likely, and indeed desirable that the Plan presented in this report will evolve and 
change throughout the year so as to keep pace with such changes.   

   
  

P
age 33



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 5 
 

 

4.  Composition 
 
4.1 The Internal Audit Plan has been based upon 1317 available audit days. This is following the deduction of bank holidays, 

annual leave, staff training and development, and management. There is also an additional 60 days provided by Salford 
Internal Audit Services for the provision of technical ICT audit, giving 1377 days in total. 

 
4.2 The Plan also includes the addition of a new post of Principal Auditor, assuming that the vacancy will be filled with effect from 

1 May 2019.  This post is particularly focused on LCRCA work. 
 
4.3 The Plan is composed of the following key areas: 
 

Plan Heading Description Audit Days 

LCRCA MT Total 

Corporate Provides assurance relating to a system that has applicability 
across the organisation – for example corporate governance, 
risk management, procurement, corporate planning and 
performance, ICT. 

92 242 334 

Service - Specific Provides assurance relating to systems that are specific to a 
certain area of the business, for example, Housing First, Rolling 
Stock project, adult education budget, insurance, reviews of 
individual contracts. 

144 553 697 

Key Financial 
Systems 

Provides assurance that systems such as Payroll, Creditors and 
Debtors are effectively controlled. 

0 106 106 

Grant Assurance Discharging the requirement for Internal Audit review prior to 
grants being recommended for payment. 

120 15 135 

Advice and Guidance Providing input to developing systems and emergent risks. 25 20 45 

Counter-Fraud Proactive and reactive work to contribute to managing the 
organisation’s risk of fraud. 

30 30 60 

TOTAL AUDIT DAYS 411 966 1377 

 

P
age 34



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 6 
 

  
There is also an allocation of non-audit days for supporting the organisation, such as facilitating the system of risk 
management and corporate support such as authorised signatories and administration of the Insight 4 Policies system.  This 
also includes audit planning and ensuring continued compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 
 

4.4 The detailed Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 is shown at Appendix A. 
  

P
age 35



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 7 
 

 

5.  Corporate Systems 

 
5.1 There are a number of key systems which are provided by Merseytravel to both Merseytravel and LCRCA.  Reporting of the 

outcomes from the audit work in these areas formally falls within the remit of the Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance 
Board, but as the LCRCA is a “recipient” of these services, the audit findings will also be reported to the Audit and 
Governance Committee so as to provide assurance that the risks associated with these are being managed effectively.  The 
main areas of note within the Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 are: 

 

i. Key Financial Systems 
These are the central systems that record and manage the financial affairs of both organisations, such as debtors, creditors, 
payroll, treasury management, and the main accounting system.  Because of the financial risk associated with fraud, error, 
omission or poor management of these systems, which could lead to financial loss, reputational damage and inaccurate 
financial statements, these systems are reviewed on an annual basis by Internal Audit. 
 
ii. ICT 
The ICT service provides services to both organisations.  Technical ICT audit is provided via a contractual arrangement with 
Salford Internal Audit Services, which provides approximately 60 days of audit work based upon a specific risk assessment.  
Less technical areas such as the audit of application access control are to be carried out by the in-house audit team.   

 
iii. Counter-Fraud 
There are two elements to the audit work in respect of counter-fraud – firstly, there is a provision of audit days for the 
investigation of allegations of fraud referred to internal audit.  Secondly, there is proactive internal audit work to contribute to 
the prevention and detection of fraud, appraising the effectiveness of anti-fraud controls in place.  This work is informed by the 
cross-cutting risks included in the Fraud Risk Register, which are: 

 Misappropriation of funds 

 Misuse of resources 

 Procurement fraud 

 Bribery and corruption of officers/members 

 Recruitment fraud 

 Creditor fraud. 
 

P
age 36



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 8 
 

 
iv. Corporate Systems 
There are a number of corporate systems provided by Merseytravel to both organisations which feature in the Internal Audit 
Plan 2019-20.  These include: 
 

 Absence Management 

 Health and Safety 

 Procurement 

 Risk Management.   
 
The notable exceptions are the Corporate Planning and Performance Management area and the Programme Management 
Office which are administered by the LCRCA but provide services to both organisations.  This makes the Audit and 
Governance Committee the primary body for the reporting of audits of these areas. 
 
The reviews of corporate governance to inform the Annual Governance Statements for each organisation will be closely 
related, drawing heavily on these corporate systems.  

P
age 37



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 9 
 

6.  Liverpool City Region Combined Authority: Specific Systems  

 
6.1 There are a number of systems that are specific to LCRCA.  From a governance perspective, these fall entirely within the 

remit of the Audit and Governance Committee, and would not be routinely reported to the Merseytravel Audit, Risk and 
Governance Board.  

 
6.2 As the activities of the LCRCA are growing, there has been a commensurate increase in the audit time to be spent, rising from 

220 days in 2018-19 to 411 in 2019-20.  The main areas of note within the Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 are: 
 

i. Specific Systems 
The Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 reflects the key risk areas that align to the systems administered by the LCRCA.  These 

include: 

 Adult Education Budget 

 Housing First 

 Single Investment Fund (SIF) 

 Mayoral Projects 

 Households into Work 

 Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP). 

 

ii. Counter-Fraud 
There is a provision of audit days for the investigation of any allegations of fraud relating to LCRCA activities and officers 
referred to internal audit.  There is also proactive internal audit work to contribute to the prevention and detection of fraud, by 
appraising the effectiveness of anti-fraud controls in place.  This work is informed by the specific LCRCA fraud risks on the 
Fraud Risk Register, which are: 

 Inappropriate use of devolved budgets 

 Bribery and corruption in the award of grant funding 
These risks also include the potential for the organisation to be a victim of fraud perpetrated by another individual or 
organisation. 

  

P
age 38



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 10 
 

7.  Merseytravel: Specific Systems 

 

7.1 There are a number of systems that are specific to Merseytravel.  From a governance perspective, these fall entirely within the 
remit of the Audit, Risk and Governance Board, and would not be routinely reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. 
The main areas of note within the Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 are: 

 

 
i. Counter-Fraud 
There is a provision of audit days for the investigation of any allegations of fraud relating to Merseytravel activities and officers 
referred to internal audit.  There is also proactive internal audit work to contribute to the prevention and detection of fraud, by 
appraising the effectiveness of anti-fraud controls in place.  This work is informed by the specific Merseytravel fraud risks on 
the Fraud Risk Register, which are: 

 Ticket fraud 

 Concessionary travel applications 

 Money Laundering. 
 
These risks also include the potential for the organisation to be a victim of fraud perpetrated by another individual or 
organisation. 

 
ii. Specific Systems 
The Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 reflects the key risk areas that align to the systems administered by Merseytravel.  These 

include: 

 Mersey Ferries governance 

 Fast Tag account management 

 Rail: Operator of last resort 

 Beatles Story: Admissions 

 Rolling Stock 

 Ticketing 

 Reviews of specific contracts. 

P
age 39



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 11 
 

8.  Planned Developments  
 
Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) 
 
8.1 Key details of the outcomes of audit work will continue to be presented to every meeting of the Audit and Governance 

Committee and the Audit, Risk and Governance Board. 
 
8.2 In addition, a suite of performance indicators will be used to measure the delivery of the Internal Audit Plan and the 

effectiveness of the work undertaken. This is a key part of ensuring that the service develops its quality and effectiveness as 
part of its Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP), required by the Standards.   
 

8.3 For 2019-20, the performance indicators and associated targets are: 
 

Description and Purpose Target 

Compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the results of internal assessment indicate that the Service retains its 
full compliance with the PSIAS. 

100% 
 

Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 2019-20 completed 
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit Plan agreed by this Committee is being delivered. 
The delivery of the Plan is vital in ensuring that an appropriate level of assurance is being provided 
across the organisation’s key risks. 

100% 

Percentage of Client Survey responses indicating a “very good” or “good” opinion 
This measures the feedback received on the service provided, and seeks to provide assurance that 
Internal Auditors conduct their duties in a professional manner. 

100% 

Percentage of annual senior management survey responses indicating satisfaction with the 
Internal Audit service provided 
This measure the feedback received on the level of satisfaction amongst senior management, 
expressed during the annual satisfaction survey. 

100% 

Percentage of recommendations made in the period which have been agreed to by management 
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the recommendations made are appropriate and 
valuable in strengthening the control environment. 

100% 

 

P
age 40



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 12 
 

Reporting 

8.4 In line with the increased focus on risk, it is also proposed that the Internal Audit Report is revised so as to emphasise risk 

more strongly, and provide managers with more assistance in understanding their key risks and how to implement effective 

systems of internal control to manage these. 

8.5 So as to facilitate this, the Report will change to reflect a single “Organisational Risk Opinion” which will indicate the overall 

level of risk presented to the organisation by the area under audit review, based upon the findings arising from the audit work.  

There will be four levels of opinion commensurate with the level of risk perceived by the audit, which are defined as: 

Major 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, have a major impact on 
the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Moderate 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, have a moderate impact 
on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Minor 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, have a minor impact on 
the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Negligible 
No risks were identified within the review. 
  

 

8.6 This simplifies the existing system of having two audit opinions, (one relating to the robustness of control and one relating to 

the level of risk presented by the system) and will assist management in understanding the outcomes of the audit. 

P
age 41



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 13 
 

8.7 In addition, the audit recommendation priority levels are to be simplified, to give the following categories, based upon the 

management of risk within the area under review: 

High 
The recommendation is essential to the management of risk within the area under 
review.   
 

 

Medium  
The recommendation is important to the management of risk within the area under 
review.   
 

 

Advisory  
The recommendation is a suggestion intended to enhance the existing management 
of risk within the area under review. 
 

 

  

P
age 42



  
 
 

Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20  Page | 14 
 

9.  Internal Audit Charter  
 
9.1  In compliance with the Standards, Internal Audit is required to establish a Charter which sets out its role, purpose and 

authority. 
 
9.2  This provides clarity and legitimacy to the role of Internal Audit in the organisation, and assists the function in operating in line 

within an agreed framework. 
 
9.3  The document acts as a guide for Internal Auditors in their daily work, but also assists officers and members in 

understanding what internal audit is and how it operates.  The document includes a Code of Ethics which details the ethical 
behaviour and standards auditors are required to demonstrate. 

 
9.4  The Charter has been prepared so as to meet the Standards and incorporates all relevant requirements. 
 
9.5  The Charter is shown at Appendix B. This is reviewed and presented to this Committee on an annual basis. 

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2019-20

Entity Audit Title Scope of Audit Audit Days

CA Corporate Planning, Performance and Data Quality Review of processes for ensuring that the corporate performance 

system is robust, and that the data upon which this is based is 

sound. 

21

CA Annual Governance Statement Review 2019-20 Statutory work under the Accounts and Audit Regulations. 23

CA Programme Management Office (PMO) Review of the PMO processes, efficiency and compliance with the 

P3M3 best practice model.

16

CA Project Pipeline Review of the process for identification, evaluation and approval of 

projects and testing to ensure compliance and transparency.  

16

CA Annual Governance Statement Review 2018-19 Statutory work under the Accounts and Audit Regulations. 16

MT Completion of 2018-19 Work in Progress Finalisation of work commenced during 2018-19. 20

MT Risk Management Review of the corporate system of risk management against the 

CIPFA guidance detailed in "It’s a Risky Business".

16

MT Commissioning Review looking at how the organisation seeks to satisfy a need for a 

service considering all options.

16

MT Procurement Review looking at procurement activity handles inside and that 

occurring outside the  procurement team, including how spend is 

monitored with the team so as to highlight non –compliant activity.

16

MT Annual Governance Statement Review 2019-20 Statutory work under the Accounts and Audit Regulations. 15

MT Annual Governance Statement Review 2018-19 Statutory work under the Accounts and Audit Regulations. 16

MT Business Continuity Review of the corporate system for planning and testing plans in 

place.

16

MT Recruitment and Selection Review to ensure effectiveness of controls in respect of recruitment 

of staff.

13

MT ICT Application Control Internal audit to review application controls across a range of 

applications deemed critical by the Business Continuity Plan.  

16

MT Absence Management Review to cover both central system for setting the policy and 

support framework, and effectiveness and compliance in 

Departments.

13

MT Health and Safety Review to cover strategic aspects of the corporate health and safety 

system.

13

Corporate

P
age 45



Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2019-20

Entity Audit Title Scope of Audit Audit Days

CorporateMT Telephone Monitoring Review of system for ICT monitoring of telephone usage. 6

MT Internet Monitoring Review of system for ICT monitoring of internet usage. 6

MT ICT audit provided by Salford Internal Audit Services List of specific jobs to be confirmed. 60

334

CA Investment Models Risks related to different funding and investment models including 

loans or profit share.

16

CA SIF2 Assurance Framework Review of the processes for award of SIF funding, especially 

concentrating on evaluation of bids and approval.  Review of how 

the outcomes and impacts of the grants have been evaluated.  

16

CA Mayoral Programme - Digital Support to developing system - especially around risk management 

and design of appropriate internal controls.

13

CA Households into Work Review of the key controls involved in the management of the 

scheme, particularly involving the handling of a personal budget for 

each family.

13

CA Adult Education Budget Input to the developing system for the devolution of the budget, and 

associated audit work to review system post implementation.

21

CA Housing First Advice on the developing system and follow on review to appraise 

implementation including identification of people for homes, and how 

these are prioritised, payments and financial control, monitoring and 

review, procurement.

13

CA Mayoral Programme - Tidal Support to developing system - especially around risk management 

and design of appropriate internal controls.  Also interface with 

external financial consultants regarding risk management.

13

CA LEP Governance Annual Review Review to support the Director of Corporate Services, as s151 

officer of the accountable body for the LEP, regarding the 

governance and financial control arrangements for the LEP. 

13

CA LEP Risk and Control Review Review of key controls regarding change of LEP status.  Scope to 

be confirmed.

13

CA Lessons Learned ESIF Review to examine management of the programme and how lessons 

can be learned and applied to future programmes.

13

MT Rolling Stock Operational Programme Board Attendance at and contribution to the Programme Board. 12

Service - Specific

P
age 46



Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2019-20

Entity Audit Title Scope of Audit Audit Days

CorporateMT Bus Services - Contracts Review with an emphasis on payments and the process for service 

credits/penalties.

13

MT Service / Maintenance Contracts Undertake review of maintenance contracts on HVAC, alarms, HV 

Switchgear.  

16

MT Frameworks Review of new multi-party consultancy framework being put in place 

by April 2019.

13

MT Tunnels Toll Recording and Reconciliation Review of system for the collection of tunnel tolls income. 13

MT Term Maintenance Contract Review of the contract in place. 11

MT Extensions to Contract Review of processes for ensuring a robust approach to extending 

contracts.

13

MT Variations to Contract Review of processes for ensuring the robustness of variation to an 

existing contract.

13

MT Supported Services - Dynamic Purchasing Service is aiming to have this in place by September 2019, review of 

robustness of approach to follow.

13

MT Bus Provider Failure Review of the contingency plans in place and their robustness in the 

event of a bus provider failing.

13

MT Rail Concession Agreements Annual Assessment Review of the payments made under the concession agreement. 13

MT No Net Loss, No Net Gain (NNLNNG) - Maghull Internal audit review of the review carried out internally. 13

MT Efficient Operator Review Provide support and oversight regarding assurances provided with 

review process.

13

MT Vessel Maintenance Contract Review of the contract in place. 11

MT Concierge and Portering Contract Review of the contract in place. 11

MT Bus Alternative Delivery Models Internal audit input and review of business case for alternative 

delivery models for bus.

13

MT Carbon Reduction Commitment Review to be completed in 2019-20 as the last year of the current 

scheme.

11

MT Insurance Review of tender process (2018-19), conditions of policies and the 

scope of insurance policies in place to reflect the risk profile.

16

MT Tenancies Review of the process for ensuring robust approach to tenants within 

Mann Island.

11

MT Bus Services - Development Review of the processes for the identification of routes and 

contracts.

13

MT Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation Review of cash and stock management at Travel Centres. 6

P
age 47



Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2019-20

Entity Audit Title Scope of Audit Audit Days

CorporateMT Street Furniture Review of the contract in place. 11

MT Electric Vehicle Charging Points Audit looking at the commercial agreement with a private operator of 

electric vehicle charging points and the subsequent monitoring of 

this going forward.

6

MT Fast Tag Account Management Review of controls in respect of the revised Fast Tag charging 

arrangements.

13

MT Democratic Services Review of action logs and follow through of actions agreed at 

Committees.  

13

MT Facilities Services Contract Review of the contract in place. 11

MT Waste Management Contract Review of the contract in place. 13

MT Mersey Ferries - Governance (MF Programme Board) Review of Ferries Strategy and governance regarding commercial 

investment and capital expenditure at Seacombe and Woodside 

Ferries Terminals.

13

MT Rail Operator of Last Resort Review of the arrangements to be invoked in the event of 

concessionaire failure.

13

MT Wallasey Stores Review of stock holding and reconciliation arrangements. 13

MT Building Security Review concentrating on security of buildings, including access 

control.

13

MT Tunnel Strategy The service is developing a 30 year strategy for the tunnels.  Audit 

input into the developing system, looking at effectiveness and 

governance.

13

MT Customer Delivery Contracts Review of a range of contracts in operation in Customer Delivery. 6

MT Special Rail Grant Review of the arrangements for the receipt and defrayment of the 

grant.

13

MT Cashiers Review to cover petty cash claims, reconciliation, foreign currency 

and associated expense claims.

6

MT Rolling Stock: Network Rail Interface Review of the interface with Network Rail, which is critical to the 

successful launch of the new trains.

13

MT Rail Operators - Stock Control Review of the system for control of Merseytravel stock sold at railway 

stations.

13

MT Bus Ancillary Contracts Review of the contracts in place for example distribution of publicity. 11

P
age 48



Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2019-20

Entity Audit Title Scope of Audit Audit Days

CorporateMT Beatles Story - Admissions Review of the effectiveness of control in respect of admission to the 

Beatles Story, ensuring income controls are in place.

13

MT Customer Delivery: Ancillary Income and Debt 

Recovery

Review of controls in respect of invoicing and recovery of bad and 

doubtful debts.

13

MT Concessionary and Prepaid Travel Review of the concessionary travel scheme to ensure consistent and 

robust application of the scheme parameters.

13

MT Rolling Stock: Manufacturing Testing and acceptance of new trains will commence in the next 

financial year and will be mature by March 2020.  Audit will review 

the robustness of the process.

13

MT Ticketing Strategic review of all ticketing, to encompass all aspects including 

SMART and internet sales.

16

MT Asset Register Advice on developing system - implementation of software and 

associated processes.

6

MT Mersey Ferries - New Vessel Advice and guidance on the processes for the procurement and 

delivery of the new Mersey ferry.

13

MT Rolling Stock: Introduction into Service Review of the process for bringing the new trains into service, on 

both the Merseyrail side and the Merseytravel side.  Two separate 

audits covering the key stages to ensuring readiness of both parties.

11

697

MT Debtors Annual review covering key financial controls. 16

MT Main Accounting System Key financial system - to include bank reconciliation, income 

reconciliation, VAT.

16

MT Creditors and Cheque Control Annual review covering key financial controls. 16

MT Treasury Management Annual review covering key financial controls. 13

MT Capital Programme Review of the corporate system for capital expenditure. 16

MT Payroll Annual review covering key financial controls. 13

MT Budget Monitoring Review to examine Finance processes for supporting and advising 

budget holders, with testing in Departments so as to evaluate 

effectiveness of their procedures.

16

106

CA Grant Assurance Work Provision of assurance regarding payments made under LCRCA 

grant regimes.

120

Key Financial Systems

Grant Assurance

P
age 49



Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2019-20

Entity Audit Title Scope of Audit Audit Days

CorporateMT Grant Assurance Work Provision of assurance regarding payments made under 

Merseytravel grant regimes.

15

135

CA General Advice and Consultancy Ad hoc advice provided on request.  May also encompass advice on 

developing systems.

25

MT General Advice and Consultancy Ad hoc advice provided on request.  May also encompass advice on 

developing systems.

20

45

CA/MT Proactive Counter Fraud work Review of key counter-fraud systems and controls, informed by the 

Fraud Risk Register.

25

CA/MT Reactive Counter Fraud work Undertaking investigation into allegations of fraud referred to Internal 

Audit.

15

CA/MT Counter Fraud Policy Development Development of the organisation's counter-fraud policies. 5

CA/MT Fraud Awareness Promoting awareness of fraud issues across the organisation, 

including provision of e-learning.

5

CA/MT National Fraud Initiative Facilitation of the National Fraud Initiative, operated by Cabinet 

Office.

10

60

1377 

123

171

105

319

718
2095

TOTAL AUDIT DAYS

Non-Audit Including Corporate Responsibilities

TOTAL ANNUAL DAYS

Corporate Responsibilities

Management

Training

Annual Leave and Bank Holidays

Advice and Guidance

Counter-Fraud

P
age 50



 
 

 

 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY  

AND MERSEYTRAVEL 

 

 
 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 2019-20 

 

 

P
age 51



 
 

 

Contents 
   

   Page 
 

1. Purpose 
 

2 

2. Definitions 
 

3 

3. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
 

5 

4. Responsibilities of Internal Audit 
 

6 

5. Independence of Internal Audit 
 

7 

6. The Head of Internal Audit 
 

8 

7. The Scope of Internal Audit 
 

9 

8. Appendices 
 

 

 APPENDIX A: Internal Audit Code of Ethics 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 
 
 

P
age 52



 
 

 

1. Purpose 
. Introduction 
The purpose of the Internal Audit Charter is to define internal audit‟s purpose, authority and responsibility. It establishes internal 
audit‟s position within Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) and Merseytravel and defines the scope of internal 
audit activities. 
 
This Charter also covers the arrangements for the appointment of the Head of Internal Audit and internal audit staff, and identifies 
the professionalism, skills and experience required.  
 
This Charter will be appropriately updated following any changes to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (hereafter referred 
to as “the Standards”) issued in June 2017 or internal audit‟s operating environment and, as a minimum, will be reviewed by the 
Chief Internal Auditor and presented to the LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel Audit, Risk and 
Governance Board on an annual basis. 
 
The requirements of an Internal Audit Charter are defined in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards at Standard 1000: 
Purpose, Authority and Responsibility. 
 
The Charter must: 
 
• define the terms „board‟ and „senior management‟ for the purposes of internal audit activity 
• cover the arrangements for appropriate resourcing 
• define the role of internal audit in any fraud-related work; and  
• describe safeguards to limit independence or objectivity if internal audit or the Head of Internal Audit undertakes non-audit 

activities. 
 
  

P
age 53



 
 

 

2. Definitions 
 
The Standards define Internal auditing is as “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value 
and improve an organisation‟s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes”. 
 
The Standards require that the Internal Audit Charter defines the terms „board‟ and „senior management‟ in relation to the work of 
internal audit. For the purposes of internal audit work, the „board‟ refers to the LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee, and the 
Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board which assume responsibility for overseeing the work of internal audit in the 
respective organisations. The senior management team refers to the Directors. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit fulfils the Chief Audit Executive (CAE) role as defined by the Standards. 
 
Mission of Internal Audit  
 
The Standards define the Mission of Internal Audit as follows: 
 
“To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective assurance, advice and insight” 
 
Core Principles of Internal Audit  
 
The Standards also include ten Core Principles of Internal Audit, as follows: 
 

 Demonstrates integrity 

 Demonstrates competence and due professional care 

 Is objective and free from undue influence (independent) 

 Aligns with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the organisation 

 Is appropriately positioned and adequately resourced 

 Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement 

 Communicates effectively 

 Provides risk-based assurance 

 Is insightful, proactive, and future-focused 

P
age 54



 
 

 

 Promotes organisational improvement. 
 
The Standards require that the Charter defines various terms and the identity of these bodies needs to be stated in relation to the 
work of internal audit.   
 
The Board  
 
For the purposes of internal audit work, the „Board‟ refers to the LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel 
Audit, Risk and Governance Board which assume the role of the Board as defined by the Standards and are responsible for 
overseeing the work of internal audit.  
 
The Boards provides an independent and high level review of the audit, assurance and reporting arrangements that underpin 
good governance and financial standards. 
 
They provide independent review of the Authority‟s governance, risk management and control frameworks and oversee the 
financial reporting and annual governance processes.  They help to ensure efficient and effective assurance arrangements are in 
place.   
 
Senior Management  

 
The Authority‟s senior management team is the Directors, including the Head of Paid Service, Treasurer (Section 73 Officer) and 
Monitoring Officer, (collectively defined in the Constitution as the Statutory Officers). 
 
Chief Audit Executive 
 
The Head of Internal Audit fulfils the Chief Audit Executive (CAE) role, as defined by the Standards. 
 
Internal Audit arrangements within the Authority 
 
The Treasurer is responsible for ensuring appropriate internal audit arrangements are established and maintained. 
 
Merseytravel was appointed as the Internal Audit providers of the Authority on 5 April 2016. 
 

P
age 55



 
 

 

3. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
 
Any appointed internal audit function of the Authority is required to comply with the standards. The Relevant Internal Audit 
Standard Setters, which includes the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), adopted the standards with 
effect from 1 April 2013.  These Standards replaced the CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government in the 
United Kingdom 2006 (“The Code”). The standards encompass the mandatory elements of the Chartered Institute of Internal 
Auditors (CIIA) International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF).   

 
The Standards were subject to review and update in April 2017 and can be accessed via the following link: 
 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (April 2017) 
 
  
Compliance with the Standards is mandatory and must be subject to both internal and external assessment. 
 
CIPFA has developed a Local Government Application Note (LGAN) as the sector-specific requirements for compliance with the 
Standards within Local Authorities and other relevant public sector bodies, including Combined Authorities.  This consists of an 
extensive self-assessment, which facilitates consistent interpretation of the Standards within the public sector environment and 
enables compliance with the requirements of the Standards. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit must undertake a self-assessment on a regular basis. An external assessment or validation of the 
self-assessment must also be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, independent assessor or assessment team 
from outside the organisation. The results of these assessments will be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee and 
Audit, Risk and Governance Board. 
 
 
 
 

  

P
age 56

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards


 
 

 

4. Responsibilities 
 
The internal audit function is responsible for establishing procedures and applying the required resources to ensure that the 
service conforms with the Mission Statement and Definition of Internal Auditing, the Core Principles and the Standards.  All 
members of the internal audit team must also demonstrate conformance with a Code of Ethics, which is attached at Appendix A.      
 
The Head of Internal Audit must deliver an annual report and opinion that are used to inform the Authority‟s Annual Governance 
Statement. The annual internal audit opinion must conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation‟s 
framework of governance, risk management and control. This is the „assurance role‟ of internal audit.  
 
Internal audit may also provide an independent and objective consultancy  service, which is advisory in nature and generally 
performed at the specific request of senior management.  The aim of the consultancy service is to help senior management to 
improve the Authority‟s‟ risk management, governance and internal control arrangements.     
 
The Authority‟s Treasurer is required to ensure that appropriate arrangements are made for the provision of an internal audit 
service. This includes the approval of this Charter by the Audit and Governance Committee and Audit, Risk and Governance 
Board. 
 
Senior Management has a responsibility to respond promptly to audit plans, reports and recommendations, where appropriate. 
 
Responsibility for monitoring and ensuring the implementation of agreed recommendations rests with management and is 
monitored by Internal Audit and reported to the Audit and Governance Committee and Audit, Risk and Governance Board. 
 
 
 
 
 
. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 57



 
 

 

5. Independence of Internal Audit 
 
The internal audit activity must be independent and internal auditors must be objective in performing their work. The Head of 
Internal Audit must confirm the organisational independence of the internal audit activity, at least annually. Internal audit has no 
operational responsibilities within the line management structure. 
 
Any operational (non-audit) activities undertaken by the Head of Internal Audit or a member of the Internal Audit team will be 
recorded and any conflict of interest declared to ensure that the independence of future internal audit work in respect of the 
activity is not compromised. 
 
Any real or perceived conflicts are considered and recorded at the commencement of each internal audit engagement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 58



 
 

 

6. The Head of Internal Audit 
 
The Treasurer must be satisfied that the Head of Internal Audit has sufficient skill, experience and professional competence to 
work with Senior Management and the Audit Committee to influence and inform the risk management, governance and internal 
control arrangements of the Authority.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for ensuring that the members of the Internal Audit team possess the appropriate 
knowledge, skills, qualifications and experience to deliver the Internal Audit Plan and to meet the requirements of the Standards.  
The Head of Internal Audit will hold a full, professional qualification, defined as CCAB, CMIIA or equivalent professional 
membership and adhere to professional values and the Code of Ethics. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit reports directly to the Treasurer.  The Head of Internal Audit, or an appropriate representative of the 
internal audit team, attends all meetings of the Audit and Governance Committee and Audit, Risk and Governance Board unless, 
exceptionally, the Audit and Governance Committee or Audit, Risk and Governance Board decides that they should be excluded 
from either the whole meeting or from particular agenda items.   
 
The Head of Internal Audit shall have an independent right of access to the Chairs of the Audit and Governance Committee and 
Audit, Risk and Governance Board, if required.  In exceptional circumstances, where normal reporting channels may be seen to 
impinge on the objectivity of the audit, the Head of Internal Audit may report directly to the Chair of the Audit and Governance 
Committee or the Audit, Risk and Governance Board. 
 
Internal Audit will co-operate with and assist the appointed External Auditors, who are invited to attend all meetings of the Audit 
and Governance Committee and Audit, Risk and Governance Board. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 59



 
 

 

7. Scope of Internal Audit 
 
The Head of Internal Audit should develop and maintain a process for providing the Treasurer with an objective evaluation of, 
and opinions on, the effectiveness of the Authority‟s risk management, governance and internal control arrangements.  Internal 
Audit‟s activities should be undertaken effectively and efficiently. The annual Internal Audit Plan will be risk based, prepared in 
consultation with relevant officers and be presented to the Audit and Governance Committee and Audit, Risk and Governance 
Board for approval.  The opinions of the Head of Internal Audit are drawn from the outcomes of internal audit work and are a key 
element of the framework of assurance needed to inform the completion of the Annual Governance Statement (AGS). 
  
Opinion Work 
 
The internal audit activity must evaluate and contribute to the improvement of governance, risk management and control 
processes using a systematic, disciplined and risk-based approach. 
 
Internal Audit‟s planned work is determined through an annual strategic risk assessment and planning process, from which 
Annual Audit Plans are produced and subject to approval by the Audit and Governance Committee and Audit, Risk and 
Governance Board. 
 
The Internal Audit Plan is sufficiently flexible to reflect the changing risks and priorities of the organisation, and is subject to 
ongoing review and update during the year to ensure that it is fit for purpose and adds value to the Authority.  
 
Internal Audit must be able to clearly demonstrate that its scope of work reflects the Authority‟s corporate objectives and 
assurance needs, therefore strategic internal audit planning activity will consider the Authority‟s priorities, funding streams, risk 
assessment processes and defined assurance and governance requirements. 
 
Governance 
 
Internal audit must assess and make appropriate recommendations for improving the governance process in its accomplishment 
of the following objectives: 
 

 promoting appropriate ethics and values within the City Region;  

 ensuring effective organisational performance management and accountability;  

 communicating risk and control information to appropriate areas of the Authority; and  

P
age 60



 
 

 

 co-ordinating the activities of and communicating information to the Audit and Governance Committee, Audit, Risk and 
Governance Board, external audit, internal auditors and senior management. 

 
Risk Management 
 
Internal audit must evaluate the effectiveness of, and contribute to, the improvement of risk management processes by: 
 

 ensuring significant risks are identified and assessed when scoping audit work; and 

 ensuring that audit recommendations are appropriate to address key risk areas identified. 
 
Internal Control 
 
Internal audit must assist the organisation in maintaining effective controls by evaluating their effectiveness and efficiency and by 
promoting continuous improvement. The internal audit activity must evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of controls in 
responding to risks within the organisation‟s governance, operations and information systems regarding:  
 

 achievement of the organisation‟s strategic objectives 

 reliability and integrity of financial and operational information 

 economical, effective and efficient use of resources 

 effectiveness and efficiency of operations and programmes 

 safeguarding of the Authority‟s assets and interests from losses of all kinds, including those arising from theft, fraud, 
irregularity, corruption or bribery 

 compliance with laws, regulations, policies, procedures and contracts. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit must ensure appropriate internal audit arrangements are in place in respect of partnership or joint 
working arrangements. 
 
 
  

P
age 61



 
 

 

Non-Opinion and Assurance Work 
 
Non-opinion work includes the review of partnership arrangements, where appropriate and the provision of assurance on the 
legitimacy of payment / grant claims. Internal Audit also undertakes assurance work in respect of regulatory compliance and 
facilitates the production of relevant policy documentation. In addition, the service may provide, at the request of management, a 
consultancy service which evaluates policies, procedures, systems and operations put in place by management.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit must consider the effect on the opinion work before accepting consultancy work or management 
requests over and above the contingency allowed for in the Internal Audit Plan.  Approval would be sought from the Audit and 
Governance Committee and/or Audit, Risk and Governance Board for any significant additional consulting services not already 
included in the Internal Audit Plan prior to accepting the engagement, if it is deemed that undertaking this work could compromise 
delivery of the agreed Internal Audit Plan or annual audit opinion.  The Head of Internal Audit must consider if consultancy work 
contributes towards the overall annual opinion.   
 
Fraud 
 
Managing the risk of fraud is the responsibility of line management. The Treasurer has specific responsibilities in relation to the 
detection and investigation of fraud and may request internal audit to assist with the investigation of suspected fraud or 
corruption. Internal audit should be notified of all suspected or detected fraud, corruption or impropriety, to inform their opinion on 
the control environment and their audit plan.  
 
The Treasurer and Head of Internal Audit will ensure that the Authority is seeking to ensure appropriate governance and 
operational arrangements in place to counter fraud and corruption, in accordance with the (non-statutory) requirements of the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (2014). Compliance with the Code and ongoing actions to 
achieve compliance will be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee, and Audit, Risk and Governance Board as 
appropriate. 
 
Reporting 
 
The Head of Internal Audit will present a formal report annually to Senior Management and the Audit and Governance Committee 
and the Audit, Risk and Governance Board giving an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Authority‟s 
framework of governance, risk management, and internal control.  This report will conform to the Standards, and will provide a 
summary of the work to support the opinion.  It will be timed to support the production of the Annual Governance Statement.  

P
age 62



 
 

 

Reports of progress against the planned work will be presented to the Audit and Governance Committee and Audit, Risk and 
Governance Board on a quarterly basis during the year, in accordance with the requirements of Internal Audit‟s Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP). 
  
Internal Audit Access Rights 
 
Where necessary in the conduct of their work, designated auditors are entitled to require and receive: 
 

 access to all records, documents and correspondence relating to any financial or other relevant transactions, including 
documents of a confidential nature 

 access at all reasonable times to any land, premises and officer of the Authority, or officers acting on behalf of the Authority 

 the production of any cash, assets or other property of the Authority under an officer‟s control 

 explanations concerning any matter under investigation. 
 
Internal Audit Resources 
 
If the Head of Internal Audit or the Audit and Governance Committee/Audit, Risk and Governance Board considers that the level 
of audit resources or the terms of reference in any way limit the scope of internal audit, or prejudice the ability of internal audit to 
deliver a service consistent with the Definition of Internal Auditing and the Standards, the Statutory Officers should be advised 
accordingly. 
 
 
 
 

  

P
age 63



 
 

 

 
APPENDIX A 

INTERNAL AUDIT CODE OF ETHICS  
Requirements 
 
In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (“the Standards”), internal auditors in UK public sector 
organisations must conform to a Code of Ethics.  
 
If individual internal auditors have membership of a professional body, then he or she must also comply with the relevant 
requirements of that organisation. 
 
The purpose of the Code of Ethics is to promote an ethical culture in the profession of internal auditing. A Code of Ethics is 
necessary and appropriate for the profession of internal auditing, founded as it is on the trust placed in its objective assurance 
about risk management, control and governance. 
 
The Code of Ethics includes two essential components: 
 
1. Principles that are relevant to the profession and practice of internal auditing;  

 
and 

 
2. Rules of Conduct that describe behaviour norms expected of internal auditors.  
 
These rules are an aid to interpreting the Principles into practical applications and are intended to guide the ethical conduct of 
internal auditors. 
 
The Code of Ethics provides guidance to internal auditors serving others. 
The term „Internal auditors‟ refers to members of recognised Professional Bodies (e.g. CIPFA, CIIA) and those who provide 
internal auditing services within the definition of internal auditing. 
 
The Code of Ethics also takes into consideration the relevant Principles of Internal Audit, as defined by the Standards as follows: 
 

 Demonstrates integrity 

P
age 64



 
 

 

 Demonstrates competence and due professional care 

 Is objective and free from undue influence (independent) 

 Aligns with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the organisation 

 Is appropriately positioned and adequately resourced 

 Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement 

 Communicates effectively 

 Provides risk-based assurance 

 Is insightful, proactive, and future-focused 

 Promotes organisational improvement 
 
Further information on the Nolan Principles and Ethical Standards for providers of public services can be accessed via the 
attached link: 
 
Ethical standards for providers of public services Dec 2015 
 
Applicability and Enforcement 
 
This Code of Ethics applies to both individuals and entities that provide internal auditing services. Disciplinary procedures of 
professional bodies and employing organisations may apply to breaches of this Code of Ethics. 
 
Integrity 
 
Principle 1:  
The integrity of internal auditors establishes trust and thus provides the basis for reliance on their judgement. 
 
Rules of Conduct: 
 
Internal Auditors: 
 

 Shall perform their work with honesty, diligence and responsibility 

 Shall observe the law and make disclosures expected by the law and the profession 

 Shall not knowingly be a party to any illegal activity, or engage in acts that are discreditable to the profession of internal 
auditing or to the organisation 

P
age 65

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/481535/6.1291_CO_LAL_Ethical_standards_of_public_life_report_Interactive__2_.pdf


 
 

 

 Shall respect and contribute to the legitimate and ethical objectives of the organisation. 
 
Competency 
 
Principle 2: 
Internal auditors apply the knowledge, skills and experience needed in the performance of internal auditing services. 
 
Rules of Conduct: 
 
Internal Auditors: 
 

 Shall engage only in those services for which they have the necessary knowledge, skills and experience 

 Shall perform internal auditing services in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing 

 Shall continually improve their proficiency and effectiveness and quality of their services. 
 
Internal auditors who work in the public sector must also have regard to the Committee on Standards of Public Life‟s Seven 
Principles of Public Life (the “Nolan Principles”): 
 

 Selflessness 

 Integrity 

 Objectivity 

 Accountability 

 Openness 

 Honesty 

 Leadership. 
 

Objectivity 
 
Principle 3: 
Internal auditors exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in gathering, evaluating and communicating information about 
the activity or process being examined. 

P
age 66



 
 

 

Internal auditors make a balanced assessment of all the relevant circumstances and are not unduly influenced by their own 
interests or by others in forming judgements. 
 
Rules of Conduct: 
 
Internal Auditors: 
 

 Shall not participate in any activity or relationship that may impair or be presumed to impair their unbiased assessment. This 
participation includes those activities or relationships that may be in conflict with the interests of the organisation 

 Shall not accept anything that may impair or be presumed to impair their professional judgement 

 Shall disclose all material facts known to them that, if not disclosed, may distort the reporting of activities under review. 
 
Confidentiality 
 
Principle 4: 
Internal auditors respect the value and ownership of information they receive and do not disclose information without appropriate 
authority unless there is a legal or professional obligation to do so. 
 
Rules of Conduct: 
 
Internal Auditors: 
 

 Shall be prudent in the use and protection of information acquired in the course of their duties 

 Shall not use information for any personal gain or in any manner that would be contrary to the law or detrimental to the 
legitimate and ethical objectives of the organisation. 

 
Internal Audit seek to promote robust ethical standards throughout the organisation, and recognise the importance of an 
appropriate ethical framework and ethical capability, encompassing principled leadership and governance, clear lines of 
accountability and informed and transparent decision making. This reflects the suggested measures outlined by the Committee 
on Standards in Public Life (Ethical Standards for Providers of Public Services – Guidance (2015)). 
 

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

 

To:      The Chair and Members of the Audit and Governance 

     Committee 

 

Meeting:     20 March 2019 

 

Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 

 

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 

 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 

 

EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2018/19 

 

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit and Governance Committee with 

the external audit plan of work (2018/19) which is proposed by the appointed 

External Auditors, Mazars. 

 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

2.1 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 

 

(a) Approve the external audit plan of work for 201/19 proposed by the appointed 

External Auditors; and 

 

(b) Request that further updates are provided as appropriate. 

 

 

3. BACKGROUND 

 

3.1 The statutory responsibilities and powers of the External Auditors are set out in the 

Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the National Audit Office’s Code of 

Audit Practice. 

 

3.2 The external audit process has two key objectives, as follows: 

 

(a) Providing an opinion on the Financial Statements (including the Annual 

Governance Statement); and 

Page 69

Agenda Item 6



 

(b) Concluding on the arrangements in place for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in the use of resources (the value for money conclusion). 

 

3.3 To demonstrate how these objectives will be met the Liverpool City Region 

Combined Authority’s (LCR CA) External Auditor, Mazars, have prepared the LCR 

CA External Audit Plan in respect of the 2018/19 Financial Statement Audit and 

Value for Money work (Appendix 1). The plan is presented to the Audit and 

Governance Committee for its consideration and approval. 

 

 

4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 

4.1 Financial 

  The external audit fee for 2018/19 is £36,334. 

 

4.2 Human Resources 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 

4.3  Physical Assets 

 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 

4.4  Information Technology 

 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 

 

5.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 

 

 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 

 

6.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 

 

7.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 

 

 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 

  

Page 70



 

8.  CONCLUSION 

 

8.1 The attached External Audit plan is presented to the Committee for information and 

approval. 

 

 

JOHN FOGARTY 

Director of Corporate Services 

 

Contact Officer(s): 

Sarah Johnston, Head of Finance, Merseytravel 0151 330 1015 

Liz Storey, Corporate Communications Manager 0151 330 1151 

 

Appendices: 

Mazars LCR CA External Audit Plan 2018/19 

 

Background Documents:  

None 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit Strategy Memorandum
Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority
Year ending 31 March 2019

Page 73



CONTENTS

1. Engagement and responsibilities summary 4

2. Your audit engagement team 5

3. Audit scope, approach and timeline 6

4. Significant risks and key judgement areas 9

5. Value for Money 13

6. Fees for audit and other services 14

7. Our commitment to independence 15

8. Materiality and misstatements 16

Appendix A – Key communication points

Appendix B - Forthcoming accounting and other issues

This document is to be regarded as confidential to Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. It has been prepared for the sole use of the

Audit and Governance Committee as the appropriate sub-committee charged with governance . No responsibility is accepted to any other

person in respect of the whole or part of its contents. Our written consent must first be obtained before this document, or any part of it, is

disclosed to a third party.

2
Page 74



Mazars LLP

14th Floor, 

The Plaza, 

100 Old Hall Street,

LIVERPOOL,

L3 9QJ

Members of the Audit Risk and Governance Committee

1 Mann Island

Liverpool

L3 1BP

9 January 2019

Dear Sirs / Madams

Audit Strategy Memorandum – Year ending 31 March 2019

We are pleased to present our Audit Strategy Memorandum for Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (the Combined Authority) for

the year ending 31 March 2019

The purpose of this document is to summarise our audit approach, highlight significant audit risks and areas of key judgements and

provide you with the details of our audit team. As it is a fundamental requirement that an auditor is, and is seen to be, independent of its

clients, Section 7 of this document also summarises our considerations and conclusions on our independence as auditors.

We consider two-way communication with you to be key to a successful audit and important in:

• reaching a mutual understanding of the scope of the audit and the responsibilities of each of us;

• sharing information to assist each of us to fulfil our respective responsibilities;

• providing you with constructive observations arising from the audit process; and

• ensuring that we, as external auditors, gain an understanding of your attitude and views in respect of the internal and external

operational, financial, compliance and other risks facing the Combined Authority which may affect the audit, including the

likelihood of those risks materialising and how they are monitored and managed.

This document, which has been prepared following our initial planning discussions with management, is the basis for discussion of our

audit approach, and any questions or input you may have on our approach or role as auditor.

This document also contains specific appendices that outline our key communications with you during the course of the audit, and

forthcoming accounting issues and other issues that may be of interest.

Client service is extremely important to us and we strive to continuously provide technical excellence with the highest level of service

quality, together with continuous improvement to exceed your expectations so, if you have any concerns or comments about this

document or audit approach, please contact me on 0151 237 2238 .

Yours faithfully

{{_es_:signer1:signature }}

Gareth Hitchmough, Partner and Engagement Lead

Mazars LLP

3

Gareth Hitchmough (Jan 14, 2019)

Page 75

https://mazars.eu1.echosign.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAAsF_7VNPE_f-St2BDqD0poTX5uIy1B9UE


1. ENGAGEMENT AND RESPONSIBILITIES SUMMARY

Overview of engagement

We are appointed to perform the external audit of Liverpool City Region Combined Authority for the year to 31 March 2019. The scope of

our engagement is set out in the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies, issued by Public Sector Audit

Appointments Ltd (PSAA) available from the PSAA website: https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities/

Our responsibilities

Our responsibilities are principally derived from the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 2014 Act) and the Code of Audit Practice

issued by the National Audit Office (NAO), as outlined below:

Our audit does not relieve management or those charged with governance, of their responsibilities. The responsibility for safeguarding
assets and for the prevention and detection of fraud, error and non-compliance with law or regulations rests with both those charged with
governance and management. In accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK), we plan and perform our audit so as to obtain
reasonable assurance that the financial statements taken as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error. However our audit should not be relied upon to identify all such misstatements.

As part of our audit procedures in relation to fraud we are required to enquire of those charged with governance as to their knowledge of

instances of fraud, the risk of fraud and their views on management controls that mitigate the fraud risks.

The Combined Authority is required to prepare its financial statements on a going concern basis by the Code of Practice on Local

Authority Accounting. As auditors, we are required to consider the appropriateness of the use of the going concern assumption in the

preparation of the financial statements and the adequacy of disclosures made.

For the purpose of our audit, we have identified the Audit and Governance Committee as those charged with governance.

We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements.

Our audit is planned and performed so to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free

from material error and give a true and fair view of the financial performance and position of the Combined

Authority for the year.

Going 

concern

Fraud

We are required to conclude whether the Combined Authority has proper arrangements in place to secure 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in it its use of resources. We discuss our approach to Value for Money 

work further in section 5 of this report.

The 2014 Act requires us to give an elector, or any representative of the elector, the opportunity to question us 

about the accounting records of the Combined Authority and consider any objection made to the accounts.  We 

also have a broad range of reporting responsibilities and powers that are unique to the audit of local authorities 

in the United Kingdom.

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

We report to the NAO on the consistency of the Combined Authority’s financial statements with its Whole of 

Government Accounts (WGA) submission.  

Audit 

opinion

Reporting 

to the 

NAO

Value for 

Money

Electors’ 

rights

4
Page 76

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities/


2. YOUR AUDIT ENGAGEMENT TEAM

Partner & 

Engagement 

Lead

Senior 

Manager

Audit 

Senior

Gareth Hitchmough

Gareth.Hitchmough@mazars.co.uk

T:0151 237 2238  

M:07891 739208

Chris Whittingham

Chris.Whittingham@mazars.co.uk

T: 0151 2372255 

M: 07909 982497

Patrick McCloskey

Patrick.Mccloskey@mazars.co.uk

T: 0151 237 2254 

M: 07833 059203

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

5
Page 77

mailto:Gareth.Hitchmough@mazars.co.uk
mailto:Chris.Whittingham@mazars.co.uk
mailto:Patrick.Mccloskey@mazars.co.uk


3. AUDIT SCOPE, APPROACH AND TIMELINE

Audit scope

Our audit approach is designed to provide an audit that complies with all professional requirements.

Our audit of the financial statements will be conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK), relevant ethical and

professional standards, our own audit approach and in accordance with the terms of our engagement. Our work is focused on those

aspects of your business which we consider to have a higher risk of material misstatement, such as those affected by management

judgement and estimation, application of new accounting standards, changes of accounting policy, changes to operations or areas which

have been found to contain material errors in the past.

Audit approach

Our audit approach is a risk-based approach primarily driven by the risks we consider to result in a higher risk of material misstatement of

the financial statements. Once we have completed our risk assessment, we develop our audit strategy and design audit procedures in

response to this assessment.

If we conclude that appropriately-designed controls are in place then we may plan to test and rely upon these controls. If we decide

controls are not appropriately designed, or we decide it would be more efficient to do so, we may take a wholly substantive approach to

our audit testing. Substantive procedures are audit procedures designed to detect material misstatements at the assertion level and

comprise tests of details (of classes of transactions, account balances, and disclosures) and substantive analytical procedures.

Irrespective of the assessed risks of material misstatement, which take into account our evaluation of the operating effectiveness of

controls, we are required to design and perform substantive procedures for each material class of transactions, account balance, and

disclosure.

Our audit will be planned and performed so as to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material

misstatement and give a true and fair view. The concept of materiality and how we define a misstatement is explained in more detail in

section 8.

The diagram below outlines the procedures we perform at the different stages of the audit.

• Final review and disclosure checklist of financial 

statements

• Final partner review

• Agreeing content of letter of representation

• Reporting to Audit and Governance Committee 

• Reviewing post balance sheet events

• Signing our opinion 

• Updating our understanding of the Combined 

Authority

• Initial opinion and value for money risk 

assessments

• Development of our audit strategy

• Agreement of timetables

• Preliminary analytical procedures

• Documenting systems and controls

• Walkthrough procedures

• Controls testing, including general 

and application IT controls

• Early substantive testing of transactions

• Review of draft financial statements

• Reassessment of audit strategy,              

revising as necessary

• Delivering our planned audit testing

• Continuous communication on emerging 

issues

• Clearance meeting

Planning

Nov 2018 – Feb 
2019

Interim

March-April 
2019

Fieldwork

June-July 2019

Completion

July 2019

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

6
Page 78



3. AUDIT SCOPE, APPROACH AND TIMELINE (CONTINUED)

Reliance on internal audit

Where possible we will seek to utilise the work performed by internal audit to modify the nature, extent and timing of our audit procedures.

We will meet with internal audit to discuss the progress and findings of their work prior to the commencement of our controls evaluation

procedures.

Where we intend to rely on the work of internal audit, we will evaluate the work performed by your internal audit team and perform our own

audit procedures to determine its adequacy for our audit.

Management’s and our experts

Management makes use of experts in specific areas when preparing the Combined Authority financial statements. We also use experts to

assist us to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on specific items of account.

Service organisations

International Auditing Standards (UK) define service organisations as third party organisations that provide services to the Combined

Authority that are part of its information systems relevant to financial reporting. We are required to obtain an understanding of the

services provided by service organisations as well as evaluating the design and implementation of controls over those services. The table

below summarises the service organisations used by the Combined Authority and our planned audit approach.

Items of account Management's expert Our expert

Defined benefit pension assets and liability
Mercer - Actuary for the Merseyside 

Pension Fund

PWC - Consulting actuary appointed 

on behalf of the National Audit Office

Property, plant and equipment valuation

The Combined Authority are yet to appoint

external valuers to undertake a full

programme of valuations in 2018/19.

We will use available third party

information to challenge the key

valuation assumptions.

Items of account Service organisation Audit approach

Payroll expenditure
CGI

We plan to obtain assurance by

understanding the processes and

controls that the Combined Authority

has in place to assure itself that

transactions are processed correctly.

Our testing will include sample testing

of transactions based on evidence

available from the Combined Authority

rather than the shared service

provider.

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

7
Page 79



3. AUDIT SCOPE, APPROACH AND TIMELINE (CONTINUED)

Group audit approach

The Combined Authority prepares Group accounts and consolidates the following significant component.

• Merseytravel

In auditing the accounts of the Combined Authority Group financial statements we need to obtain assurance over the transactions in the 

Group relating to the subsidiary. To plan to obtain the necessary assurance over the Authority’s group accounts by placing reliance on the 

work we will complete in our capacity as component auditors on the financial statements of Merseytravel.

We have not identified any significant risks for Group accounts purposes in relation to the components. The significant risks and areas of 

audit focus for the Combined Authority as a single-entity are set out in section 5. Based on our initial planning discussions we do not 

consider these significant risks to be risks for the component subsidiary companies.

Timeline

The Timeline of the Audit is set out on page 6 of this document and is planned to meet the statutory audit deadline of 31 July 2019.

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

8
Page 80



4. SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND KEY JUDGEMENT AREAS

Following the risk assessment approach discussed in section 3 of this document, we have identified relevant risks to the audit of financial

statements. The risks that we identify are categorised as significant, enhanced or standard, as defined below:

The summary risk assessment, illustrated in the table below, highlights those risks which we deem to be significant. We have

summarised our audit response to these risks on the next page.

Significant risk A significant risk is an identified and assessed risk of material misstatement that, in the auditor’s judgment, requires

special audit consideration. For any significant risk, the auditor shall obtain an understanding of the entity’s controls,

including control activities relevant to that risk.

Enhanced risk An enhanced risk is an area of higher assessed risk of material misstatement at audit assertion level other than a

significant risk. Enhanced risks incorporate but may not be limited to:

• key areas of management judgement, including accounting estimates which are material but are not

considered to give rise to a significant risk of material misstatement; and

• other audit assertion risks arising from significant events or transactions that occurred during the period.

Standard risk This is related to relatively routine, non-complex transactions that tend to be subject to systematic processing and

require little management judgement. Although it is considered that there is a risk of material misstatement, there are

no elevated or special factors related to the nature, the likely magnitude of the potential misstatements or the

likelihood of the risk occurring.

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

H
igh

HighLow

Low

Likelihood

F
inancial

im
pact

1

2

Risk

1 Management override of control

2 Revenue recognition

3 Property, plant and equipment valuation

4 Defined benefit liability valuation

3

4

9
Page 81



4. SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND KEY JUDGEMENT AREAS 
(CONTINUED)

We provide more detail on the identified risks and our testing approach with respect to significant risks in the table below. An audit is a

dynamic process, should we change our view of risk or approach to address the identified risks during the course of our audit, we will

report this to the Audit Committee and Governance Committee.

Significant risks

Description of risk Planned response

1 Management override of controls

Management at various levels within an organisation 

are in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of 

their ability to manipulate accounting records and 

prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding 

controls that otherwise appear to be operating 

effectively. Due to the unpredictable way in which 

such override could occur there is a risk of material 

misstatement due to fraud on all audits. 

We plan to address the risk through performing audit procedures 

that cover a range of areas, including:

• Material accounting estimates;

• Journal entries, focussing on those that we determine to contain 

certain risk characteristics; and

• Any significant transactions outside the normal course of 

business or otherwise unusual.

2 Revenue recognition

Our audit methodology incorporates this risk as a 

significant risk at all audits, although based on  

circumstances it is rebuttable. Based on our initial 

planning discussions we have concluded that we can 

rebut the presumption for the majority of the 

Combined Authority’s revenue income and 

expenditure. However, for the tunnels income stream 

we will carry out further detailed work.

For the tunnels income stream we will assess the controls operating 

over this income, carry out analytical procedures and consider any 

more specific testing as required. Our audit approach will also 

incorporate testing of payments and receipts around the year-end to 

provide assurance that there are no material unrecorded items of 

income and expenditure in the 2018/19 accounts.

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

10
Page 82



4. SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND KEY JUDGEMENT AREAS 
(CONTINUED)

Significant risks

Description of risk Planned response

3 Property, plant and equipment valuation

The CIPFA Code requires that where assets are 

subject to revaluation, their year end carrying value 

should reflect the fair value at that date. The Combined 

Authority  adopts a revaluation model which sees all 

land and buildings revalued every five years.

The valuation of Property, Plant & Equipment involves 

the use of a management expert (the valuer), and 

incorporates material assumptions and estimates.

As a result of the rolling programme of revaluations 

there is a risk that individual assets not revalued for up 

to four years are not valued at their materially correct 

fair value. In addition as the valuations are undertaken 

through the year there is a risk that the fair value as 

the assets is materially different at the year end.

In relation to the valuation of land and buildings we will: 

• Assess the skill, competence and experience of the 

Combined Authority’s external valuers, when appointed

• Consider whether the overall revaluation methodology 

used by the appointed valuer is in line with industry 

practice, the CIPFA Code of Practice and the Combined 

Authority’s accounting policies;

• Critically assess the appropriateness of the underlaying 

data and the assumptions used in the valuer’s calculations, 

based on our expectations by reference to sector and local 

knowledge;

• Assess the movement in market indices between the 

revaluation dates and the year end to determine whether 

there have been material movements over that time; and

• Test a sample of items of capital expenditure in 2018/19 to 

confirm that the additions are appropriately valued in the 

financial statements.

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

11
Page 83



4. SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND KEY JUDGEMENT AREAS 
(CONTINUED)

Significant risks

Description of risk Planned response

4 Defined benefit liability valuation

The net pension liability represents a material 

element of 's balance sheet. The Combined 

Authority is an admitted body of the Merseyside 

Pension Fund (MPF), which had its last triennial 

valuation completed as at 31 March 2016.

The valuation of the Local Government Pension 

Scheme relies on a number of assumptions, most 

notably around the actuarial assumptions, and 

actuarial methodology which results in the 

Combined Authority’s overall valuation.

There are financial assumptions and demographic 

assumptions used in the calculation, such as the 

discount rate, inflation rates and mortality rates. 

The assumptions should also reflect the profile of 

the Combined Authority’s employees, and should 

be based on appropriate data. The basis of the 

assumptions is derived on a consistent basis year 

to year, or updated to reflect any changes.

There is a risk that the assumptions and 

methodology used in valuing the Combined 

Authority’s pension obligation are not reasonable or 

appropriate to the Combined Authority’s 

circumstances. This could have a material impact 

to the net pension liability

In relation to the valuation of the Combined Authority’s defined 

benefit pension liability we will:

• Critically assess the competency, objectivity and independence 

of the MPF’s Actuary, Mercers;

• Liaise with the auditors of the Merseyside Pension Fund to gain 

assurance that the controls in place at the Pension Fund are 

operating effectively. This will include the processes and 

controls in place to ensure data provided to the Actuary by the 

Pension Fund for the purposes of the IAS19 valuation is 

complete and accurate;

• Test payroll transactions at the Combined Authority to provide 

assurance over the pension contributions which are deducted 

and paid to the Pension Fund by the Combined Authority;

• Review the appropriateness of the Pension Asset and Liability 

valuation methodologies applied by the Pension Fund Actuary, 

and the key assumptions included within the valuation. This will 

include comparing them to expected ranges, utilising 

information provided by PWC, consulting actuary engaged by 

the National Audit Office;

• Agree the data in the IAS 19 valuation report provided by the 

Fund Actuary for accounting purposes to the pension 

accounting entries and disclosures in the Combined Authority’s 

financial statements.

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

12
Page 84



5. VALUE FOR MONEY 

Our approach to Value for Money

We are required to form a conclusion as to whether the Combined Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The NAO issues guidance to auditors that underpins the work we are required to carry 

out, and sets out the overall criterion and sub-criteria that we are required to consider. 

The overall criterion is that, ‘in all significant respects, the Combined Authority had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly 

informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.’  

To assist auditors in reaching a conclusion on this overall criterion, the following sub-criteria are set out by the NAO:

• informed decision making;

• sustainable resource deployment; and

• working with partners and other third parties. 

A summary of the work we undertake to reach our conclusion is provided below:

Significant Value for Money risks

The NAO’s guidance requires us to carry out work at the planning stage to identify whether or not a Value for Money (VFM) exists.  Risk, 

in the context of our VFM work, is the risk that we come to an incorrect conclusion rather than the risk of the arrangements in place at the 

Combined Authority being inadequate. As outlined above, we draw on our deep understanding of the Combined Authority and its partners, 

the local and national economy and wider knowledge of the public sector.

For the 2018/19 financial year, we have identified the following significant risk to our VFM work :

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

Description of  significant risk Planned response

Governance Arrangements – Our initial risk assessment noted the lack of risk 

management arrangements in place during 2017/18 and the quoracy issues of 

the Combined Authority key committees that resulted in an “except for” opinion 

being issued in 2017/18.  We are aware that the Combined Authority was working 

to develop effective risk management arrangements and approved a risk 

management strategy and risk register in May 2018.

We will review the continued development of risk 

management arrangements during 2018/19 and 

assess the plans in place to help ensure 

appropriate attendance at key Combined 

Authority committees so that there is adequate 

challenge and scrutiny of decisions. 

13

Risk assessment

NAO Guidance

Sector-wide issues

Risk mitigation work Other procedures

Consider the work of regulators

Planned procedures to mitigate 

the risk of forming an incorrect 

conclusion on arrangements

Consider the Annual 

Governance StatementYour operational and business 

risks

Consistency review and reality 

checkKnowledge from other audit work

Page 85



6. FEES FOR AUDIT AND OTHER SERVICES

Fees for work as the Combined Authority’s appointed auditor

At this stage of the audit we are not planning any divergence from the scale fees set by PSAA as communicated in our fee letter of 25

April 2018.

Fees for non-PSAA work

We have not been engaged by the Combined Authority to carry out any additional work over and above the audit of the Combined

Authority’s statutory audit. Should we be engaged to undertake any additional work we will consider whether there are any actual,

potential or perceived threats to our independence. Further information about our responsibilities in relation to independence is provided in

section 8.

Services provided to other entities within the Combined Authority Group

We were also appointed by PSAAA to perform the external audit of Merseytravel for the year to 31 March 2019 where the fee for Code

audit work is £29,121.

Service
2017/18 fee

KPMG
2018/19 fee

Code audit work £47,187 £36,334

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

14
Page 86



7. OUR COMMITMENT TO INDEPENDENCE

We are committed to independence and are required by the Financial Reporting Council to confirm to you at least annually, in writing, that

we comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard. In addition, we communicate any matters or relationship which we

believe may have a bearing on our independence or the objectivity of the audit team.

Based on the information provided by you and our own internal procedures to safeguard our independence as auditors, we confirm that in

our professional judgement there are no relationships between us and any of our related or subsidiary entities, and you and your related

entities creating any unacceptable threats to our independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your

auditors.

We have policies and procedures in place which are designed to ensure that we carry out our work with integrity, objectivity and

independence. These policies include:

• all partners and staff are required to complete an annual independence declaration;

• all new partners and staff are required to complete an independence confirmation and also complete computer-based ethics training;

• rotation policies covering audit engagement partners and other key members of the audit team;

• use by managers and partners of our client and engagement acceptance system which requires all non-audit services to be approved

in advance by the audit engagement partner.

We confirm, as at the date of this document, that the engagement team and others in the firm as appropriate, and Mazars LLP are

independent and comply with relevant ethical requirements. However, if at any time you have concerns or questions about our integrity,

objectivity or independence please discuss these with Gareth Hitchmough in the first instance.

Prior to the provision of any non-audit services Gareth Hitchmough will undertake appropriate procedures to consider and fully assess the

impact that providing the service may have on our auditor independence.

Any emerging independence threats and associated identified safeguards will be communicated in our Audit Completion Report.

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

15
Page 87



8. MATERIALITY AND MISSTATEMENTS

Summary of initial materiality thresholds

Materiality

Materiality is an expression of the relative significance or importance of a particular matter in the context of financial statements as a

whole. Misstatements in financial statements are considered to be material if they, individually or in aggregate, could reasonably be

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Judgements on materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances and are affected by the size and nature of a misstatement, or a

combination of both. Judgements about materiality are based on consideration of the common financial information needs of users as a

group and not on specific individual users.

The assessment of what is material is a matter of professional judgement and is affected by our perception of the financial information

needs of the users of the financial statements. In making our assessment we assume that users:

• have a reasonable knowledge of business, economic activities and accounts;

• have a willingness to study the information in the financial statements with reasonable diligence;

• understand that financial statements are prepared, presented and audited to levels of materiality;

• recognise the uncertainties inherent in the measurement of amounts based on the use of estimates, judgement and the consideration

of future events; and

• will make reasonable economic decisions on the basis of the information in the financial statements.

We consider materiality whilst planning and performing our audit based on quantitative and qualitative factors.

Whilst planning, we make judgements about the size of misstatements which we consider to be material and which provides a basis for

determining the nature, timing and extent of risk assessment procedures, identifying and assessing the risk of material misstatement and

determining the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures.

The materiality determined at the planning stage does not necessarily establish an amount below which uncorrected misstatements, either

individually or in aggregate, will be considered as immaterial.

We revise materiality for the financial statements as our audit progresses should we become aware of information that would have caused

us to determine a different amount had we been aware of that information at the planning stage.

Our provisional materiality is set based on a benchmark of gross expenditure on the provision of services. We have calculated a headline

figure for materiality and have identified separate levels for procedures designed to detect individual errors, and also a level above which

all identified errors will be reported to the Audit Risk and Governance Committee.

We consider that gross expenditure at the provision of services remains the key focus of users of the financial statements and, as such,

we base our materiality levels around this benchmark.

We expect to set a materiality threshold at [x%] of [insert benchmark].

Threshold Group 

Combined Authority–

Single entity 

materiality

Overall materiality £6,754,000 £4,953,000

Performance materiality £4,755,000 £3,467,000

Trivial threshold for errors to be reported to the Audit Committee £204,000 £149,000

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

16
Page 88



8. MATERIALITY AND MISSTATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We have set our materiality threshold at 1.8% of the benchmark based on the 2017/18 audited financial statements and we anticipate the

overall materiality for the 2018/19 to be £6.754 million for the audit of the Group financial statements and £4.953 million for the audit of

the Combined Authority’s single entity financial statements.

After setting initial materiality, we continue to monitor materiality throughout the audit to ensure that it is set at an appropriate level.

Performance Materiality

Performance materiality is the amount or amounts set by the auditor at less than materiality for the financial statements as a whole to 

reduce, to an appropriately low level, the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality 

for the financial statements as a whole. Our initial assessment of performance materiality is based on low inherent risk, meaning that we 

have applied 70% of overall materiality as performance materiality. This also takes account of the fact that 2018/19 is the first year that the 

Combined Authority is audited by Mazars.

Specific items of lower materiality

We have also calculated materiality for specific classes of transactions, balances or disclosures where we determine that misstatements 

of a lesser amount than materiality for the financial statements as a whole, could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of 

users taken on the basis of the financial statements.  We have set specific materiality for the following items of account:

- Officer remuneration Bandings - £5,000 ((reflecting the published salary bandings)

- Related Party transactions – To be confirmed on receipt of draft financial statements

Misstatements

We aggregate misstatements identified during the audit that are other than clearly trivial. We set a level of triviality for individual errors

identified (a reporting threshold) for reporting to the Audit Risk and Governance Committee that is consistent with the level of triviality that

we consider would not need to be accumulated because we expect that the accumulation of such amounts would not have a material

effect on the financial statements. Based on our preliminary assessment of overall materiality, our proposed triviality threshold is

£204,000 for the Group and £149,000 for the Combined Authority single-entity financial statements based on 3% of overall materiality.

Reporting to the Audit Risk and Governance Committee

To comply with International Standards on Auditing (UK), the following three types of audit differences will be presented to the Audit

Committee:

• summary of adjusted audit differences;

• summary of unadjusted audit differences; and

• summary of disclosure differences (adjusted and unadjusted).

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

17
Page 89



APPENDIX A – KEY COMMUNICATION POINTS

ISA (UK) 260 ‘Communication with Those Charged with Governance’, ISA (UK) 265 ‘Communicating Deficiencies In Internal Control To

Those Charged With Governance And Management’ and other ISAs (UK) specifically require us to communicate the following:

Required communication Audit Strategy 

Memorandum

Audit Completion 

Report

Our responsibilities in relation to the audit of the financial statements and our wider 

responsibilities 

Planned scope and timing of the audit 

Significant audit risks and areas of management judgement 

Our commitment to independence  

Responsibilities for preventing and detecting errors 

Materiality and misstatements  

Fees for audit and other services 

Significant deficiencies in internal control 

Significant findings from the audit 

Significant matters discussed with management 

Our conclusions on the significant audit risks and areas of management judgement 

Summary of misstatements 

Management representation letter 

Our proposed draft audit report 

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

18
Page 90



APPENDIX B – FORTHCOMING ACCOUNTING AND OTHER 
ISSUES

1. Engagement and 
responsibilities

2. Your audit 
team

3. Audit scope
4. Significant 
risks and key 
judgements

5. Value for 
Money

6. Fees
7.  

Independence

8. Materiality 
and 

misstatements
Appendices

Changes relevant to 2018/19

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - the standard replaces IAS 39 and introduces significant changes to the recognition and measurement of

the Combined Authority’s financial instruments, particularly its financial assets.

Although the accounting changes may be complex and may require the reclassification of some instruments, it is likely that Merseytravel

will continue to measure the majority of its financial assets at amortised costs.

For organisations that hold instruments that will be required to be measured at fair value under the new standard, there may be instances

where changes in these fair values are recognised immediately and impact on the general fund. At this stage it is unclear whether

statutory provisions, over and above those already in place, will be put in place to mitigate the impact of these fair value movements on

the general fund balance held by the Combined Authority.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers - the 2018/19 Code also applies the requirements of IFRS 15, but it is unlikely that this

will have significant implications for most local authorities.

There are no other significant changes to the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting (the Code) for 2018/19.

19
Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee 
  
Meeting:  20 March 2019 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  Combined Authority/All Districts 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
COUNTER-FRAUD POLICIES 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit and Governance Committee with 

the Counter-Fraud policies for the organisation. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee is 

recommended to: 
 

(a) Approve the following Counter-Fraud Policies: 

 The Confidential Reporting (“Whistleblowing” Policy 

 The Anti-Bribery Policy 

 The Anti-Money Laundering Policy 

 The Surveillance Policy 

 The Investigation Protocol. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the Counter-Fraud Policies owned by Internal Audit. 
 
3.2 It is important that the organisation has a suite of policies relating to the prevention 

of fraud and corruption.  This is key in demonstrating that the organisation treats 
such matters seriously and will take appropriate action against those who 
perpetrate fraud. 
 

3.3 It is also important that the organisation demonstrates how it will support and listen 
to those who make a confidential report as a “whistleblower” and that there is clarity 
regarding how such reports will be investigated.   
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 7



3.4 The suite of policies has been reviewed and updated to reflect organisational 
changes, and in the case of the Confidential Reporting (“Whistleblowing”) Policy, a 
reporting from has been added.  There have not been any relevant updates to the 
legal requirements.  These policies will be represented every five years, or 
whenever their annual review generates a significant change.  

 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4 Information Technology 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
5.1 It is the responsibility of the LCRCA to establish effective arrangements for the 

management of the risk of fraud.  The policies contained within this report identify 
the organisation’s approaches to key aspects of fraud and corruption, and as such 
are a key facilitator for the management of this risk.  

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 

 
7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
8.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 

Page 94



9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 The maintenance of an effective Counter-Fraud policy framework is an important 

step in managing the risk of fraud and corruption in the organisation. 
 
9.2 The maintenance of an effective and supportive Confidential Reporting 

(“Whistleblowing”) Policy is a key method of demonstrating that whistleblowers will 
be supported by the organisation and appropriate action will be taken in respect of 
confidential reports made. 

 
 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit   tel: 0151 330 1764 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A - The Confidential Reporting (“Whistleblowing”) Policy 
Appendix B - The Anti-Bribery Policy 
Appendix C - The Anti-Money Laundering Policy 
Appendix D - The Surveillance Policy 
Appendix E - The Investigation Protocol 

 
 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Policy 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version v4.0 

Approved By LCRCA: 
Merseytravel: 11 April 2018 

Created Date May 2016 

Reviewed Date March 2019 

Date of Next Review March 2020 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 
 

Page 97



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Purpose 2 
 

2. Definitions 2 
 

3. Policy Statement 3 
 
4. Scope 3 
 
5. Policy Evaluation 4 
 
6. Responsibilities 4 

 

7. Guidance 5
  
 How to Raise a Concern 5 
 
 Anonymous Allegations 5 
 
 Untrue Allegations 5 

 
 How a Concern will be responded to      6 
 
 How the Matter can be taken further      7 

 
8. Appendices 

 
APPENDIX A: Public Interest Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998 8 
 
APPENDIX B: Contact List 9 
 
APPENDIX C: Confidential Reporting Form 10 

  
 
 
  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 2 
 

 
 

Page 99



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 3 
 

1. Purpose 
 
This Policy establishes the arrangements for the reporting of concerns 
(“whistleblowing”) by an employee and others, including agency / temporary workers, 
contractors and trainees of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority or 
Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the organisations”). It outlines how a concern 
can be raised internally, rather than overlooking the matter or “blowing the whistle” 
externally. 
 
The organisations have adopted this Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy 
and associated guidance to advise those to whom the Policy applies how to raise 
concerns confidentially and without fear of victimisation, subsequent discrimination or 
disadvantage. 
 
This Policy and guidance aims to:  
 

 Encourage you to feel confident in raising serious concerns; 

 Reassure you that the organisations take Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) 
seriously; 

 Provide avenues for you to raise those concerns and receive feedback on any 
action taken; 

 Ensure that you receive a response to your concerns and that you are aware of how 
to pursue them if you are not satisfied; and  

 Reassure you that you will be protected from possible reprisals or victimisation if 
you have a reasonable belief that you have made any disclosure in the public 
interest and in accordance with the Protected Disclosure Provisions. 

 
This Policy does not replace the corporate complaints procedure, Disciplinary Policy 
or the Grievance Policy or the Health and Safety Incident Reporting Procedure. 
 

2. Definitions 
 
Confidential Reporting or “Whistleblowing” is the term used when an employee raises 
a concern about wrongdoing or malpractice in the workplace that has a public interest 
aspect to it. Officially this is called “„making a disclosure in the public interest”. 
Whistleblowing is important to protect and reassure the workforce, and to maintain a 
healthy working culture and an efficient organisation1. 
 
A grievance or private complaint is a dispute about an employee‟s own employment 
position and has no public interest dimension. The Grievance Policy exists to enable 
an employee or group of employees to raise a grievance or complaint relating to their 
own employment. 
 
 
 

                                            
1
 National Audit Office: Making a Whistleblowing Policy at Work (March 2014) 

Page 100



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 4 
 

 

3. Policy Statement 
 
The organisations will: 
 

 Investigate all concerns which fall within the scope of this Policy; 

 Respond quickly when concerns are raised; 

 Inform persons bringing concerns forward of the outcome of any investigation 
subject to legal constraints; 

 Treat all concerns in confidence and every effort will be made not to reveal the 
identity of the Whistleblower without consent, unless required by law. 

 Not tolerate harassment of employees or any other person who brings forward 
a concern;  

 Endeavour to ensure that employees are not discriminated against or suffer 
detriment as a result of raising a concern; and 

 Will take appropriate action in the event of an individual suffering detriment as 
a result of raising a concern. 

 
 

4. Scope 

 
This Policy covers employees and others, including agency / temporary workers, 
contractors and trainees. There is no minimum period of service and no upper age 
limit. 

 
The organisations‟ Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy is intended to cover 
any concerns that fall outside the scope of other procedures. Examples of disclosures 
that may be made under this Policy include (but are not limited to): 
 

 Conduct which is an offence or a breach of law; 

 Disclosures related to miscarriages of justice; 

 Health and safety risks, including risks to the public as well as other employees; 

 Damage to the environment; 

 Breach of the organisations policies and procedures; 

 The unauthorised use of public funds; 

 Possible fraud, bribery and corruption; and 

 Other unethical conduct. This may include falsification or concealment of 
information, breach of confidentiality and making potentially libellous, untrue or 
slanderous comments. 

 
The above list is not exhaustive. 
 
Protection for employees who “whistleblow” is documented in the Public Interest 
Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998.  A summary of the main provisions of the PIDA is 
attached at Appendix A of this Policy and Guidance.  
 
 

Page 101



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 5 
 

5. Policy Evaluation 
 
Evaluation of the Policy will be undertaken as appropriate by the LCRCA Audit and 
Governance Committee and the Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board. 
Revisions to this Policy will be subject to formal approval by the organisations. 
 
 

6. Responsibilities 
 
The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for the maintenance and operation of 
the procedures detailed in this Policy within the LCRCA. 
 
The Chief Executive and Director General has overall responsibility for the 
maintenance and operation of the procedures detailed in this Policy within 
Merseytravel.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for the implementation and day to day 
monitoring of this Policy and making staff aware of this Policy. 
 
The organisations are committed to the highest legal, ethical and moral standards in 
the conduct of their business.  In line with that commitment it is expected that 
employees who are either aware of malpractice, or suspect it, to report it in 
accordance with this Policy. 
 
When bringing forward a concern it is the responsibility of individual employees to 
have a reasonable belief that the concern raised is substantially true and is made in 
the public interest. An employee doing so will be protected against recriminations, 
victimisation or harassment. This applies even if, after investigation, the disclosure is 
found to be incorrect or unfounded. 
 
All concerns will be treated in confidence and every effort will be made not to reveal 
the identity of the Whistleblower without consent, unless required by law. However, a 
Whistleblower may be asked to make a statement or come forward as a witness, for 
example, during disciplinary proceedings. 
 
If an allegation is found to have been made when known to be false, this will not be 
protected as the disclosure cannot be in the public interest. Such allegations will be 
treated as serious misconduct and may result in disciplinary action against the 
employee who made the disclosure. 
 
The organisations will uphold the principles of employment and criminal law and 
protect as far as it is reasonable to do so, the rights of the accused.   
 
Any investigation into allegations of potential malpractice will be conducted with 
confidentiality and will not influence or be influenced by any disciplinary or redundancy 
procedures that already affect you. 
 

Page 102



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 6 
 

All employees should familiarise themselves with this Policy and if necessary, seek 
clarification from their Line Manager, or any of the officers detailed in the contact list at 
Appendix B. 
 
 

7. Guidance 
 
How to Raise a Concern 
 
Where you have a concern which falls under the scope of the Policy, the organisations 
encourage you to raise your concerns internally, rather than overlooking the matter or 
“blowing the whistle” externally. You should normally raise your concerns initially with 
your immediate supervisor or manager. However, dependent on the seriousness and 
sensitivity of matter you may choose to raise your concerns outside of your direct line 
management. A list of contact officers with whom concerns can be confidentially raised 
or further advice and guidance can be sought is attached as Appendix B. 
 
Concerns may be raised verbally or in writing.  The earlier you express the concern 
the easier it is for the organisations to take appropriate action.  THERE IS A FORM AT 
APPENDIX C WHICH IS A SUGGESTED METHOD FOR RECORDING THE 
WHISTLEBLOW 
 
Although you are not expected to prove beyond doubt the truth of an allegation, you 
will need to demonstrate to the person contacted that there are reasonable grounds for 
your concern. 
 
You may wish to consider discussing your concern with a colleague first and you may 
find it easier to raise the matter if there are two (or more) of you who have the same 
concerns.  
 
You may invite your trade union, professional association representative, a friend or 
legal advisor to be present during any meetings or interviews in connection with the 
concerns you have raised.  
 
Anonymous Allegations 
  
You are encouraged to put your name to your allegation whenever possible. Concerns 
expressed anonymously can be more difficult to investigate / substantiate but will be 
considered at the organisation‟s discretion. 
 
In exercising this discretion, the factors to be taken into account would include: 
 

 The seriousness of the issues raised; 

 The credibility of the concern; and 

 Available evidence / sources from which to substantiate the concern. 
 

Untrue Allegations 
 

Page 103



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 7 
 

In accordance with the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013, there is no 
requirement for disclosures to be true in order for Whistleblowers to receive statutory 
protection. Therefore, if you report a suspicion of malpractice that is found not to be 
substantiated following an investigation, you will be protected under the Confidential 
Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy. 
 
However, any allegation that you make which you know to be false is not protected, as 
the disclosure would not be in the public interest. This could result in formal 
disciplinary action being taken against you. 
 
How a Concern will be responded to 
 
The organisations will respond to your concerns. However, investigating your concerns 
is not the same as either accepting or rejecting them. 
 
There may be a range of issues raised under this Policy and, depending upon the 
nature of the complaint, the most appropriate officer to investigate will be determined.  
 
Concerns or allegations which fall within the scope of specific Policies and procedures 
(for example, discrimination issues) will normally be referred for consideration under 
those procedures. 
 
In order to protect individuals and those that are the subject of a concern, initial 
enquiries will be made to decide whether an investigation is appropriate and, if so, 
what form it should take, in accordance with the Investigation Protocol.  If appropriate, 
an issue may be referred to the Police or to the organisations appointed External 
Auditor. 
 
Some concerns may be resolved by agreed action without the need for investigation.  
If urgent action is required, this will be taken before any investigation is conducted. 
 
Within ten working days of a concern being raised, the person to whom you made the 
complaint in the first instance will write to you: 
 

 Acknowledging that the concern has been received; 

 Indicating how the organisations propose to deal with the matter; 

 Estimating of how long it will take to provide a final response; 

 Telling you whether any initial enquiries have been made; 

 Supplying you with information on staff support mechanisms and; 

 Telling you if no further investigations will take place and the reason/s for this. 
 
Officers investigating your concerns may need to contact you to obtain further 
information or clarify points raised. Where any meeting is arranged, you can be 
accompanied by a union or professional association representative or a workplace 
colleague. 
 
The organisations will take steps to minimise any difficulties which you may 
experience as a result of raising a concern.  For instance, if you are required to give 

Page 104



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 8 
 

evidence in criminal or disciplinary proceedings, arrangements will be made for you to 
receive advice about the procedure, if you require it. 
 
In the event that a colleague makes a protected disclosure and suffers any detriment, 
the organisations can be vicariously liable for the actions of the perpetrator, unless 
they can demonstrate they took all reasonable steps to prevent this happening.  
Workers can also be personally liable if they subject a colleague to a detriment in such 
regard. 
 
The organisations accept that you need to be assured that the matter has been 
properly addressed. Thus, subject to legal constraints, you will be informed of the 
outcome of any investigation. 
 
How the Matter can be taken further 
 
The Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy documents how concerns can be 
raised internally and how the organisations will deal with these.  If you are not satisfied 
with the organisations response you may wish to contact the following: 
 

 The External Auditor 

 Your Trade Union 

 Your local Citizens Advice Bureau or Solicitor 

 Relevant professional bodies or regulatory organisations 

 The Police 

 Your Member of Parliament 
 
If you do report the matter externally, you should ensure that you do not disclose 
confidential information acquired during your employment unless it falls within the 
qualifying criteria for protected disclosures. Premature or inaccurate media exposure 
or adverse publicity may cause needless reputational damage, impede a proper 
investigation or cause unnecessary distress to individuals. 

  

Page 105



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 9 
 

APPENDIX A 
 
Public Interest Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998 
 
PIDA builds on existing employment protection legislation in the Employment Rights 
Act 1996. It makes it unlawful to subject a worker to any detriment for making what is 
known as a “Protected Disclosure”. Further provisions on whistleblowing are also 
included in the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013. 
 
The “Protected Disclosure” provisions have two aims: 
 
1. To ensure concerns about malpractice is brought to the attention of the appropriate 

person who can deal with the issue quickly and effectively - and who can be held 
accountable if the concerns are not dealt with properly; 
 

2. To encourage whistle-blowers to behave responsibly (for example to avoid leaking a 
story to the media). 

 
There are three legal definitions of what constitutes a „protected disclosure‟: 
 
1. Nature of the Disclosure 
 

To be a protected disclosure, the disclosure must be about the commission of a 
criminal offence, a breach of any legal obligation, a miscarriage of justice, a risk to 
health and safety or damage to the environment. 

 
2. Disclosure to Whom? 
 
 A protected disclosure may be made: 
 

(a) To the worker‟s employer; 
(b) To the person having legal responsibility for the matter that is subject to the 

disclosure; 
(c)  In accordance with the employer‟s whistle-blowing procedure; 
(d) To the worker‟s legal advisor. 

 
3. Worker‟s State of Mind 
 

The person making the disclosure must reasonably believe that the information 
disclosed tends to show one of the matters outlined above so the disclosure can 
constitute the subject matter of a protected disclosure. 
 
The Act places responsibilities on the actions of whistle-blowers.  To be protected 
by the Act, the disclosure must not be made for personal gain and must be made in 
the reasonable belief that the allegation is substantially true and is made in the 
public interest. Furthermore, the disclosure will only be protected if a number of 
additional pre-conditions are satisfied.  These include raising the matter internally or 
with a prescribed person, or if this has not been done it is because the person must 
reasonably believe that they will be subject to detriment by their employee. 

Page 106



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 10 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy 
 

Contact List – March 2019 
 

Financial Probity and Malpractice Issues: 
Internal Audit (7th Floor, Mann Island) 
Director of Resources       330 1959 
Head of Internal Audit   330 1764 
Audit Manager   330 1122 
Audit Manager   330 1116 
Senior Auditor   330 1284 
  
Human Resource/Staffing Issues: 
People and Customer Development (9th Floor, Mann Island) 

      Head of People and Customer Development  330 1800 
HRD Operations Manager   330 1213 
HRD Strategy and Systems Manager    330 1204 
Health and Safety Officer   330 1210 
  
Legal Issues and Advice: 
Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement (7th Floor, Mann Island) 
Chief Legal Officer   330 1855 
Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement  330 1700 
Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement Manager  330 1703 
 
External Auditors: 
Gareth Hitchmough, Mazars  237 2238  

 
Independent Advice: 
 
Public Concern at Work (PCAW) is a whistleblowing charity that provides 
independent support and advice:  
 
Website: http://www.pcaw.org.uk/ 
PCAW Whistleblowing Advice Line: 020 7404 6609 
 

  

Page 107

http://www.pcaw.org.uk/


 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 11 
 

APPENDIX C 
Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy 

Confidential Reporting Form 
  
1. Please describe the nature of your concern  

 
 
 

2. Please give all background information relevant to your concern including key dates, people and 
organisations involved. 

 
 
 

3. Have you reported the concern to any other person or organisation? 
If you have, please provide the details of this 

 
 
 

4. What are the reasons for the concern?  

 
 
 

5. How do you think the matter should be resolved?  

 
 
 

6. Do you have any personal interest in the matter? 

 
 
 

 

Person raising the concern: Form completed by (if not the person raising 
the concern): 

Name: Name: 

Employee Number: Employee Number: 

Post Title: Post Title: 

Signed: Signed: 

Date: Date: 

  

Form received by:  

Name:  

Employee Number:  

Post Title:  

Signed:  

Date:  

 

Page 108



 

 

 
Anti-Bribery Policy 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version v3.0 

Approved By LCRCA:  
Merseytravel: 15 June 2016 

Created Date May 2016  

Reviewed Date March 2019 

Date of Next Review March 2020 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 
 
 

Page 109



   
 

Anti-Bribery Policy Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Purpose 2 
 

2. Definition 2 
 
3. Policy Statement 2 
 
4. Scope 3 

 
5. Policy Evaluation 3 
 
6. Responsibilities 3 

 
 
  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



   
 

Anti-Bribery Policy Page | 2 
 

1. Purpose 
 
The purpose of this policy is to demonstrate how the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority (LCRCA) and Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the organisations”) are 
committed to taking a proactive approach to managing the risks associated with 
bribery. 
 
 

2. Definition 
 
Bribery is the provision of a financial or other advantage to someone to encourage that 
person to perform their functions or activities improperly or to reward that person for 
having already done so. 
 
 

3. Policy Statement 
 
We are committed to combating bribery and determined to identify employees who 
abuse their positions of trust or agents, consultants, contractors or suppliers who 
abuse their relationship with us. 
 
In order to limit its exposure to bribery the organisations will: 
  

 Inform employees how to recognise and prevent the use of bribery by themselves 
and others. 

 

 Encourage the reporting of any suspicion of bribery and treat such reports 
appropriately in accordance with the organisations Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Policy. 

 

 Investigate allegations of bribery and assist the Police or other external agencies in 
any prosecution. 

 

 Take disciplinary action against any employee(s) involved in bribery.  
 
The organisations have a zero tolerance attitude to acts of bribery by anyone 
associated with it or acting on its behalf. 
 
In accordance with the Bribery Act 2010, the organisations prohibit: 
 

 the offering, giving, solicitation or acceptance of any bribe, whether cash or other 
inducement; 

 

 to or from any person or company, wherever they are situated and whether they are 
a public official or body or private person or company; 

 

Page 111



   
 

Anti-Bribery Policy Page | 3 
 

 by any individual employee, agent or other person or body acting on the 
organisations behalf; 

 in order to gain any commercial, contractual or regulatory advantage for the 
organisations; or 

 

 in order to gain any personal advantage, pecuniary or otherwise, for the individual 
or anyone connected with the individual. 

 
 

4. Scope 

 
This Policy applies to all Employees. It is expected that agents, consultants, 
contractors, suppliers and any other people or bodies associated with the 
organisations will act in a manner consistent with this policy. 
 
This policy is not meant to prohibit the following providing they are proportionate and 
properly recorded in the Register: 
  

 the giving or receiving of appropriate gifts; 
 

 the provision or acceptance of appropriate hospitality; and 
 

 the use of any recognised fast-track process which is available to all on payment of 
a fee.  

 
Inevitably, decisions as to what is acceptable may not always be easy.  If anyone is in 
doubt as to whether a potential act constitutes bribery, the matter should be referred to 
their Head of Service or if necessary the Head of Internal Audit 
 
 

5. Policy Evaluations 
 
Evaluation of the policy will be undertaken as appropriate by the LCRCA Audit and 
Governance Committee and the Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board. 
Revisions to this Policy will be subject to formal approval by the organisations. 
 
 

6. Responsibilities 
 
The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for deploying this policy across the 
organisations. 
  
Heads of Service are responsible for maintaining effective systems of internal control 
that will ensure the Anti-Bribery Policy is followed. 
 
 
 

Page 112



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version v4.0 

Approved By LCRCA:  
Merseytravel: 25 April 2018 

Created Date August 2015 

Reviewed Date March 2019 

Date of Next Review March 2020 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 
 

Page 113



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Purpose 2 
 
2. Policy Statement 2 
 
3. Scope 2 
 
4. Policy Evaluation 2 
 
5. Responsibilities 3 

 
6. Anti-Money Laundering Procedures 3 

 
 Introduction         3 
 
 What is Money Laundering?       3 
 
 What laws exist to control Money Laundering?    4 
 
 What are the obligations on the Organisations?    4 
 
 What are the implications for the Organisations or the individual?  5 
 
 How can money laundering be spotted?     6 
 
 What is the Client Identification procedure?     6 
 
 What should I do or not do if I suspect a case of Money Laundering? 7 

 
What will the Money Laundering Reporting Officer do with a  
disclosure?         8 
 

7. Appendices 10 
 

 APPENDIX A: Money Laundering Report Form 10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 2 
 

1. Purpose 
 
This policy aims to ensure the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) and 
Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the organisations”) have a planned approach 
should concerns in respect of money laundering arise. 
 
 

2. Policy Statement 
 
We will embrace the underlying principles behind the Terrorism Act 2000, Proceeds of 
Crime Act 2002, the Criminal Finances Act 2017 (CFA 2017) and the Money 
Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payer) 
Regulations 2017 (MLR 2017) in order to mitigate risk. 
 
We will ensure that arrangements are in place to prevent the organisations, their 
Directors and employees from being exposed to money laundering in those services 
where there is a potential risk. 
 
We will also ensure that where Directors and employees may become exposed to 
money laundering they are made fully aware of this guidance and are suitably trained. 
 
We will encourage our Directors and employees to tell us if they have any concerns 
about money laundering in the organisations. 
 
We will fully support the Police and other external agencies in any investigations 
regarding money laundering. 
 
 

3. Scope 

 
This Policy will be implemented through our Anti-Money Laundering Procedures 
(attached).  This Policy applies to all employees. 
 
 

4. Policy Evaluation 
 
Evaluation of the Policy will be undertaken as appropriate by the Head of Internal Audit 
and subject to review by the LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee or the Audit, 
Risk and Governance Board. Revisions to this Policy will be subject to formal approval 
by the organisations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 3 
 

5. Responsibilities 
 
The Head of Internal Audit will act as the organisations Money Laundering Reporting 
Officer (MLRO) and is responsible for deploying this policy across the organisation,   
monitoring its implementation and dealing with any suspicions of money laundering. 
 
Heads of Service are responsible for maintaining effective systems of internal control 
that will ensure the Anti-Money Laundering Procedures are followed. 
 
 

6. Anti-Money Laundering Procedures 
 
Introduction  
 
The organisations are committed to the highest legal, ethical and moral standards in 
the conduct of its business. The consequences of the organisations or any of their 
Directors or employees facing prosecution under the money laundering legislation 
would be very serious and reflect poorly not only on the individual(s) involved, but on 
the organisations as a whole. 
 
As public bodies, the organisations are unlikely to be a prime target for money 
laundering, however, the size and scope of services provided is such that it is not 
possible to be wholly immune from the risks surrounding money laundering. 
 
In order to mitigate this risk, the organisations have embraced the underlying 
principles behind the money laundering legislation and regulations.  
 
This Anti-Money Laundering Policy and the Procedures are part of the organisations 
commitment to creating an anti-fraud and corruption culture. The procedures are 
designed to help Directors and employees familiarise themselves with the legal and 
regulatory requirements relating to money laundering and detail the reporting 
arrangements that have been put in place.  
 
It should be noted that the professional bodies of some employees (e.g. Accountants 
and Solicitors, who are more likely to be exposed to money laundering practices) have 
issued guidance on personal obligations and responsibilities relating to money 
laundering, and those employees who are members of such bodies should familiarise 
themselves with that guidance. 
 
What is Money Laundering? 
 
Money laundering is the term used for several offences involving the proceeds of 
crime or terrorism. These include: possessing, or in any way dealing with, or 
concealing, or converting the proceeds of any crime, as well as funds likely to be used 
for terrorism, or the proceeds of terrorism.  
 
Money laundering is generally used to describe the activities of organised criminals 
converting the proceeds of crime into legitimate activities, thus hiding their true 

Page 116



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 4 
 

sources. The original legislation and regulations were designed to combat the scale of 
this criminal activity. However, current legislation covers all proceeds of crime, both 
money and property, regardless of how small the value.  
 
To most people who are likely to come across it, money laundering involves a 
suspicion that someone they are dealing with is benefiting financially from dishonest 
activities. Hence, for employees this could be the attempt to transact legitimate 
business with the organisations using assets and monies derived from the proceeds of 
crime or terrorism. 
 
What laws exist to control Money Laundering? 
 
The principal legislation and regulations relating to money laundering are the 
Terrorism Act 2000, Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, the Criminal Finances Act 2017 
(CFA 2017) and the Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds 
(Information on the Payer) Regulations 2017. A notable aspect of this legislation is that 
the burden for identifying acts of money laundering was significantly shifted from 
Police and Government agencies to organisations and their employees. 
 
There are three primary offences of: concealing, arranging and acquisition, use or 
possession: 
 

 „concealing‟ is where someone knows or suspects a case of money laundering, but 
conceals or disguises its existence; 

 „arranging‟ is where someone involves himself or herself in an arrangement to assist 
money laundering;  

 „acquisition‟, „use‟, or „possession‟ is where someone seeks to benefit from money 
laundering by acquiring, using, or possessing the property concerned; and 

 making a disclosure which is likely to prejudice the investigation 

 
There are also two third party offences of failing to disclose a primary offence, and 
tipping off: 
 

 „failing to disclose a primary offence‟ is where someone becomes aware or suspects 
money laundering, but fails to take action in reporting it; and 

 „tipping off‟ is where someone informs a person who is, or is suspected of being, 
involved in money laundering, in such a way as to reduce the likelihood of being 
investigated, or prejudicing an investigation. 

 
Money laundering offences may be committed by an organisation itself, as well as by 
the Directors and employees working within it. 
 
What are the obligations on the Organisations? 
 

The Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the 
Payer) Regulations 2017 require the identification and monitoring of clients on a risk-
sensitive basis. Where “relevant business” is undertaken clients need to be subject to 
some form of risk based due diligence.  

Page 117



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 5 
 

Organisations conducting “relevant business” must: 
  

 Appoint a Money Laundering Reporting Officer (“MLRO”) to receive disclosures 
from employees of money laundering activity; 

 Maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances; 

 Maintain record keeping procedures; and 

 Implement a disclosure procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money 
laundering. 

 
Most of the organisations business is not defined in the regulations as being relevant, 
however some activities are undertaken that may be considered to be regulated for 
example, treasury services, financial and accounting services, audit services, estate 
functions, assisting the formation, operation or arrangement of a company. 
 
Although these activities are not undertaken by way of business in providing a service 
to external clients and therefore there would not normally be an expectation to 
undertake due diligence, it is good practice that wherever the organisations do enter 
into such activities with a third party then due diligence checks should be actioned 
before the establishment of a relationship/transaction with the third party and 
enhanced customer due diligence should apply to any cases with a high risk of money 
laundering (e.g. transaction is unusually large or transaction has no apparent 
economic reason) 
 

In those cases where the client is another public or statutory body the risk assessment 
indicates that no further due diligence about the status of the client is needed. 
However, for other third party clients or politically exposed persons (1) there needs to 
be formal and recorded due diligence checks. 
 
(1)  A politically exposed person is defined in the regulations as a person “who is or has, 

at any time in the preceding year been entrusted with a prominent public function by 
a state other than the United Kingdom, a European Community institution or an 
international body”, in addition you should include family members or known close 
associates of such a person.  

 
What are the implications for the Organisations or the individual? 
 
While the risk of the organisations contravening legislation is low, nonetheless it is the 
responsibility of every Director and employee to be vigilant, and to be aware of the 
requirement to report actual or suspected cases of money laundering. 
 
A failure to disclose a suspicion of money laundering is a serious offence in itself, and 
could result in serious criminal charges and/or sanctions being imposed on the 
organisation and/or the individual concerned.  
 
There is no financial threshold below which the obligation to recognise and report 
suspicion does not apply and there are only very limited grounds in law for not 
reporting a suspicion.  
 

Page 118



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 6 
 

Depending on the severity of such an offence, the Magistrates‟ Court can issue fines 
of up to £5,000 or sentences of up to 6 months in prison (or both). Where such an 
offence is tried in the Crown Court fines are unlimited and sentences of up to 14 years 
may be handed out. 
 
Civil penalties for non-compliance with MLR 2017 also apply, including fines, 
prohibition on individual to hold a certain office. Such penalties are imposed by 
regulatory body HMRC. 
 
How can money laundering be spotted? 
 
It is not possible to provide an exhaustive list of the ways to spot money laundering or 
state every scenario in which you should be suspicious. 
  
However, the following are examples of possible „indicators of suspicion‟ for money 
laundering activity: 
 

 transactions which have no apparent purpose and which make no obvious 
economic sense; 

 where the transaction being requested by the client, without reasonable 
explanation, is out of the ordinary range of services normally requested or is outside 
the experience of the firm in relation to the particular client; 

 where, without reasonable explanation, the size or pattern of transactions is out of 
line with any pattern that has previously emerged; 

 where the client refuses to provide the information requested without reasonable 
explanation; 

 where cash been tendered which significantly exceeds the amount of the debt; 

 where a debt has been paid twice or more and a refund of the balance been 
requested; 

 where a client who has entered into a business relationship uses the relationship for 
a single transaction or for a very short period of time; 

 the extensive use of offshore accounts, companies or structures in circumstances 
where the client‟s needs do not support such economic requirements; 

 unnecessary routing of funds through third-party accounts; and 

 unusual investment transactions without an apparently discernible profitable motive. 
 
What is the Client Identification procedure? 

 
Where activities are undertaken that may be considered to be regulated then Client 
Identification should be carried out before any business is undertaken for that client.  
 
In the case of non-regulated activities, there may be situations where funds are 
received from an unfamiliar source. For instance, if a new business relationship is 
formed or consideration is given to undertaking a significant one-off transaction. In 
such cases it would be prudent to identify fully the parties involved.  

 
Cashiers may be asked in the normal course of their work to accept payment in large 
amounts of cash for the settlement of debts. Amounts exceeding £2,500 cannot be 

Page 119



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 7 
 

accepted without establishing the identity of the individual/company involved to seek to 
ensure that the risk of receiving the proceeds of crime can be minimised. 

 
If more than £2,500 is offered, the person offering it should be advised that it is not the 
organisation‟s policy to accept large amounts of cash of more than £2,500 and that the 
transaction will have to be referred to a senior member of staff. 

 
To establish the identities of individuals, their passport or photo driving licence should 
be provided, together with one of the following: 

 

 Utility bills i.e. electricity, water etc. however mobile phone bills are not acceptable; 

 Mortgage/building society/bank statements; 

 Credit card statements; and 

 Pension or benefit books 
 

If passport or photo driving licence is not available, then two of the other items listed 
above will need to be produced. 
 
For Companies, a Companies House Search should be undertaken to confirm the 
existence of the company and identify who the directors are. Personal identification 
should then be obtained for the representatives of the company together with proof of 
their authority to act on behalf of the company. Care should be taken if it becomes 
clear that the individual has only recently become a director of the company or if there 
has been a recent change in the registered office. 
 
For any other type of organisation, for example a sole trader or partnership, personal 
identification should be obtained for the individuals together with documents indicating 
their relationship to the organisation. 

 

Should client identification be necessary guidance on performing the due diligence 
checks can be obtained from the MLRO. 

 
Legislation requires that records of any evidence obtained in support of the 
identification of a client along with details of all relevant business transactions with the 
client must be kept on file for five years after the end of the business relationship. This 
is so that they can be referred to later if a money laundering investigation was ever to 
be conducted. 

 
In practice client identification evidence must be sent to the MLRO while the 
organisations departments will be routinely making records of work carried out for 
clients in the course of normal business and these should suffice. 
 
What should I do or not do if I suspect a case of Money Laundering? 

 

You should report any suspicious transactions or concerns as soon as practicable to 
the MLRO using the Money Laundering Report Form (attached). This should be done 
within “hours” of the concern arising and not weeks or months later. 

 

Page 120



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 8 
 

A report can be made to the MLRO in the form of a request for consent to undertake a 
transaction if the Director or employee making the disclosure is concerned that he/she 
may commit a prohibited act in processing a transaction.  
 
You should also report any complaints you receive from a member of the public in 
relation to possible criminal activity being carried out by someone who may be a 
customer of the organisation. 
 
Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions given 
to you by the MLRO. You must NOT make any further enquiries into the matter 
yourself. The MLRO will consider the report and any necessary investigation will be 
undertaken by the National Crime Agency (NCA). All members of staff will be required 
to co-operate during any subsequent money laundering investigation. 
 
Similarly, at no time and under no circumstances should you voice any suspicions to 
the person(s) whom you suspect of money laundering, even if the NCA has given 
consent to a particular transaction proceeding. If you do you may commit a criminal 
offence of “tipping off” which may render you liable to prosecution. 
 
Do not, therefore, make any reference on a client file to an anti-money laundering 
report having been made to the NCA. Should the client exercise their right to see the 
file, then such a note will obviously tip them off to the report having been made and 
may render you liable to prosecution. The MLRO will keep the appropriate records in a 
confidential manner.  
 
What will the Money Laundering Reporting Officer do with a disclosure? 
  
Upon receipt of a disclosure report the MLRO must note the date of receipt on the 
relevant section and acknowledge receipt of it. The MLRO will advise the Director or 
employee making the disclosure of the timescale for receiving a response. 
 
The MLRO will consider the report and any other relevant information in order to 
ensure that all available information is taken into account in deciding whether a report 
to the NCA is required (such enquiries being made in such a way as to avoid any 
appearance of tipping off those involved). Other relevant internal information may 
include: 
 

 Reviewing other transaction patterns and volumes;  

 The length of any business relationship involved;  

 The number of any one-off transactions and linked one-off transactions; and  

 Any identification evidence held;  
 
The MLRO may also need to discuss the report with the Director or employee making 
the disclosure. 
 
Once the MLRO has evaluated the disclosure report and any other relevant 
information a decision will be made as to whether:  
 

 There is actual or suspected money laundering taking place; or  

Page 121



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 9 
 

 There are reasonable grounds to know or suspect that is the case; and  

 Whether he needs to seek consent from the NCA for a particular transaction to 
proceed. 

Where the MLRO does so conclude, then the matter must be disclosed as soon as 
practicable to the NCA unless there is reasonable excuse for non-disclosure to the 
NCA (for example, a lawyer wishing to claim legal professional privilege for not 
disclosing the information). Disclosure is by means of a Suspicious Activity Report 
(SAR). NCA‟s preferred method of reporting is electronic using “SAR Online”.  
 
Where the MLRO suspects money laundering but has a reasonable excuse for non-
disclosure, then this must be noted on the report accordingly; consent can then be 
given for any on-going or imminent transactions to proceed.  
 
In cases where legal professional privilege may apply, the MLRO must liaise with the 
Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement to decide whether there is a 
reasonable excuse for not reporting the matter to the NCA.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 10 
 

7. Appendices 
 

APPENDIX A 

CONFIDENTIAL 
MONEY LAUNDERING REPORT FORM 

 
DATE OF REPORT  

 
EMPLOYEE DETAILS 
 

Name  
Directorate / Department  
Tel No  

 
DETAILS OF SUSPECTED OFFENCE 

 

Name and address of person(s) involved:  
[if a company/public body please include details of nature of business]  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Nature, value and timing of activity involved:  
[Please include full details e.g. what, when, where, how. Continue on a separate sheet if necessary]  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Nature of suspicions regarding such activity:  
[Please continue on a separate sheet if necessary]  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 11 
 

Has any investigation been undertaken (as far as you are aware)?  
[Please tick the relevant box below]  

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Have you discussed your suspicions with anyone else?  
[Please tick the relevant box below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details explaining why such discussion was necessary: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Have you consulted any supervisory body guidance re money laundering? (e.g. the Law 
Society) [Please tick the relevant box below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 124



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 12 
 

Do you feel you have a reasonable excuse for not disclosing the matter to the NCA? (e.g. are 
you a lawyer and wish to claim legal professional privilege) [Please tick the relevant box below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Are you involved in a transaction which might be a prohibited act under sections 327- 329 of 
the Act and which requires appropriate consent from the NCA? [Please tick the relevant box 
below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Please set out any other information you feel is relevant: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Signed: ....................................................................  Dated: .....................................................................   

 
Please do not discuss the content of this report with anyone you believe to be involved in the 
suspected money laundering activity described. To do so may constitute a tipping off offence, 
which carries a maximum penalty of 5 years‟ imprisonment. 
 

 
THE FOLLOWING PART OF THIS FORM IS FOR COMPLETION BY THE MLRO 

Page 125



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 13 
 

 

Date Report Received  
Date Receipt of Report Acknowledged  
 

Consideration of disclosure 
 

Action Plan:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Outcome of consideration of disclosure 
 

Are there reasonable grounds for suspecting money laundering activity? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

If there are reasonable grounds for suspicion, will a report be made to the NCA? [Please tick the 
relevant box below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please confirm date of report to NCA: 
 
 
 
Details of liaison with the NCA regarding the report: 
 
Notice Period: …………………….. to ……………………….. 
  
Moratorium Period: …………………….. to …………………… 
 
   

 
 
 

Is consent required from the NCA to any ongoing or imminent transactions which would 
otherwise be prohibited acts?  [Please tick the relevant box below] 

 

Page 126



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  Page | 14 
 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please confirm full details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date consent received from NCA: 
 
 
Date consent given by you to employee: 
 
 
 

 
 

If there are reasonable grounds to suspect money laundering, but you do not intend to report 
the matter to the NCA, please set out below the reason(s) for non-disclosure: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date consent given by you to employee: 
 
  

 
 

Please set out any other information you feel is relevant: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Signed: ....................................................................  Dated: .....................................................................   
 
 
 

THIS REPORT TO BE RETAINED FOR AT LEAST FIVE YEARS 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Surveillance Policy 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version v2.0 

Approved By LCRCA: 
Merseytravel: 10 August 2016 

Created Date February  2016 

Reviewed Date March 2019 

Date of Next Review March 2020 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 
 
 

Page 129



 
 

Surveillance Policy Page | 1 
  

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Purpose 2 
 
2. Definitions 2 

 

3. Policy Statement 2 
 
4. Scope 3 
 
5. Policy Evaluation 3 
 
6. Responsibilities 3 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
   
  

 
  

 

Page 130



 
 

Surveillance Policy Page | 2 
  

1. Purpose 
 
To provide a framework for the carrying out of covert surveillance by the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) and Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the 
organisations”) in a manner that will ensure all legal obligations are met. 
 
The legal basis for processing any data gathered via surveillance arises from the 
employee‟s contract of employment and surveillance will only be undertaken when the 
organisations believe that it is necessary in the public interest to protect funds and 
assets or in the investigation of possible criminal activity.  
 
 

2. Definitions 
 
Surveillance is defined as including: 
  

 The targeted observation or listening to individual persons, their movements, their 
conversations or their other activities; or  

 The recording of anything observed or listened to in the course of surveillance; and  

 Surveillance by or with the assistance of a surveillance device.  
 
Surveillance should not be confused with routine employee monitoring in the day to day 
course of business which the organisations undertake having due regard to the 
Employee Practices Code.  
 
Monitoring is a routine and non-targeted management function that can be used for 
reasons such as establishing that quality of work produced meets required standards; 
safe working practices are being followed; and / or policies are being complied with. It 
generally involves the reviewing of pre-existing recorded, captured or reported material. 
 
Surveillance will only be undertaken in response to a specific allegation or concern, 
which would typically relate to a suspicion of fraud, irregularity or non-compliance with 
policy or procedure. Any enquiries of this nature will be undertaken in accordance with 
the Investigation Protocol and in compliance with the Guidance for Officers Undertaking 
Surveillance. 
 
 

3. Policy Statement 
 
The organisations support the objectives of the Human Rights Act (HRA) 1998, the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulations, the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000, the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 and the 
Employee Practices Code. 
 
The following guiding principles shall form the basis of any covert surveillance activity 
undertaken by the organisations: 
 

Page 131



 
 

Surveillance Policy Page | 3 
  

 Covert surveillance shall only be undertaken where it is deemed absolutely 
necessary to achieve the desired aims. 

 

 Covert surveillance shall only be undertaken where it is considered proportionate to 
do so.  

 

 Covert surveillance shall only be undertaken in a manner that it is proportionate. 
 

 Adequate regard shall be had to individuals‟ rights and freedoms, including those 
who are not the target of the covert surveillance. 

 

 All authorisations to carry out covert surveillance shall be granted by designated 
Authorising Officers specified in 6. Responsibilities below („AOs‟).  

 

 Any member of staff who is subject to disciplinary action as a result of covert 
surveillance has the right to view the original copies of authorisation forms and 
appropriate related documentation. 

 
 

4. Scope 

 
The policy applies to all employees. 
 
 

5. Policy Evaluation 
 
Evaluation of the Policy will be undertaken as appropriate by the Head of Internal Audit, 
Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement and the Head of People and 
Customer Development. 
  
Revisions to the Policy will be subject to formal approval by the organisations‟ managing 
bodies. 
 
 

6. Responsibilities 
 
The Chief Executive and Director General, Director of Integrated Transport Services, 
Director of Resources and Director of Corporate Development will fulfil the role of 
Authorising Officers 
 
The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for deploying this Policy across the 
organisation. 
  
The Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement is responsible for oversight; 
ensuring that the use of surveillance by the organisation is consistent with the 
Surveillance Policy. 

Page 132



 
 

Surveillance Policy Page | 4 
  

 
The Head of Human Resources and Development is responsible for ensuring that 
surveillance undertaken to facilitate disciplinary investigations is carried out in 
accordance with internal people policies and procedures. 
 
Officers involved in any part of the Surveillance process are responsible for ensuring 
that this Policy and Guidance for Officers Undertaking Surveillance is complied with. 

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Investigation Protocol 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version v2.0 

Approved By Head of Internal Audit 

Created Date March 2016 

Reviewed Date March 2019 

Date of Next Review March 2020 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 
 
 

Page 135



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Purpose 2 
 
2. Scope 2 
 
3. Types of Investigation 3 
 

 Financial Irregularity, Fraud, Dishonesty and Corruption 3 
 
 Employee Conduct 4 
 
 IT Equipment, Systems and Data 5 
 
 Allegations made against third parties 6 

 
4. Conduct of an Investigation 6 

 
5. Reporting 7 
   
6. Actions Following a Completed Investigation 7 

 
7. Deviations 8 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 136



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 2 
 

1. Purpose 
 
This Protocol has been written to ensure that, wherever possible, a consistent process 
is followed whenever Internal Audit undertakes any investigation into any allegations 
or suspicions of fraud or irregularity. It seeks to outline the roles, responsibilities, 
principles and approach that will be adopted by Internal Audit during any investigation 
into allegations or suspicions of fraud or the inappropriate conduct of an employee. It 
outlines the expectations and principles that should be adopted, not only by Internal 
Audit, but also by other parties involved, including, but not limited to, Human 
Resources and Development, IT and relevant Management. 
 
If any allegation or suspicion is found to be substantiated, the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority (LCRCA) and Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the 
organisations”) have a responsibility and commitment to: 
 

 Take necessary action to stop any continuing losses to the public purse or adverse 
impact to the provision of corporate objectives and activities; 

 Act to minimise the impact to the organisations, both financial and reputational; 

 Recover any lost assets (financial, physical, data or otherwise); 

 Identify those responsible and ensure that appropriate sanctions are applied 

 Inform relevant external parties or professional bodies where appropriate (e.g. 
Police, Information Commissioners Office) and seek to pursue prosecution or civil 
remedy where appropriate; 

 Establish any control issues arising from the investigation and action that should be 
taken to address these; and 

 Provide feedback, if appropriate, to individual(s), in accordance with the Confidential 
Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy. 

 
Where allegations or suspicions are not substantiated, the organisations are 
committed to: 
 

 Identifying any lessons that can be learnt as a result of the investigation; 

 Demonstrating, where necessary, that a thorough and fair investigation has been 
undertaken; and 

 Providing feedback, if appropriate, to individual(s) who made the allegation, in 
accordance with the Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy. 

 
 

2. Scope 
 
This protocol does not affect the authority granted to Internal Auditors under the 
organisations’ respective Constitutions to: 

 

 have right of access to any of the organisations premises, if requested; 

 have right of access to all assets, records, documents, correspondence and control 
systems, if requested; 

Page 137



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 3 
 

 receive any information and explanation considered necessary concerning any 
matter under consideration; 

 require any employee of the authority to account for cash, stores or any other 
authority assets under his/her control; 

 access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors, when appropriate 
and required; and 

 directly access the LCRCA  Chief Executive, Merseytravel Chief Executive and 
Director General, Chair of the LCRCA Audit Committee and Chair of the Audit, Risk 
and Governance Board when appropriate. 

 

3. Types of Investigation 
 
Financial Irregularity, Fraud, Dishonesty and Corruption 
 
Fraud and corruption are illicit and unauthorised activities, undertaken, often covertly, 
by an individual or group for personal gain.  
 
Typically, fraud is an offence resulting from dishonest behaviour that intentionally 
allows the fraudster, or a third party, to personally gain, or to cause loss to another. 
Formal definitions are stated in the Fraud Act 2006. 
 
Corruption can take many forms but its defining characteristic is the collusion of parties 
to manipulate a specific outcome. This may be fraud, or could be offering, soliciting or 
acceptance of an inducement or reward in order to influence improperly the actions of 
another or the failure to disclose an interest in order to benefit financially or otherwise. 
 
Fraud and corruption are deliberate acts (or deliberate omissions to act), relating to an 
individual, or a third party and include (but are not limited to): 
 

 Theft and misuse of assets, including cash, physical assets, intellectual assets, data 
and property; 

 Manipulation or misreporting of financial information or data; 

 Deception and misrepresentation; 

 Offering or accepting bribes or inducements from third parties, or offering bribes or 
inducements to third parties; 

 Conspiracy to breach laws or regulations; and 

 Fraudulent completion of official documents. 
 
Whilst national statistics indicate that around 14% of suspicions of financial irregularity 
arise from routine monitoring arrangements, or through the undertaking of planned 
audit work, nearly half are identified through allegations or “whistleblows”1.   
 
If an officer receives an allegation of fraud or corruption it must be reported 
immediately to the Head of Internal Audit.  

                                            
1
 Association of Certified Fraud Examiners 2012 “Report to the Nations on Occupational Fraud and 

Abuse” 

Page 138

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/35/contents


 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 4 
 

 
If this is not possible, it may be reported to the LCRCA Chief Executive or Director of 
Corporate Services, or the Merseytravel Chief Executive and Director General.  
 
Immediate steps will be taken to protect and preserve evidence, where appropriate. To 
facilitate this, the Head of Internal Audit (or appointed Officer) will liaise with relevant 
officers, as required, including (but not limited to) Human Resources, IT, relevant 
Directors and Managers. All action taken will be in accordance with relevant Policies, 
Procedures and protocols.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit, or a Senior Officer appointed by the LCRCA Chief 
Executive or Director of Corporate Services, or the Merseytravel Chief Executive and 
Director General for this purpose, will, as a matter of urgency, undertake an initial 
review of the allegation or suspicion to establish whether a detailed investigation is 
required.  
 
Staff may be informally interviewed at this stage, but will be informed that any 
discussions are for fact-finding purposes only. Staff may be accompanied by a Trade 
Union representative or workplace colleague at this interview. Whilst these preliminary 
discussions are not disciplinary hearings, staff should be made aware that any 
statement made or notes retained could be used as evidence in a disciplinary hearing, 
should one be necessary.   
 
Following preliminary enquiries, if a full investigation is considered necessary, then the 
Head of Internal Audit (or appointed Officer) will notify the LCRCA Chief Executive or 
Director of Corporate Services, or the Merseytravel Chief Executive and Director 
General who will appoint a Lead Investigating Officer, as appropriate. 
 
If further Internal Audit work will be required, the Head of Internal Audit will appoint 
suitably trained and experienced Officers to undertake this. 
 
Anonymous complaints/allegations/incidences will only be investigated if there is 
sufficient information on which to commence initial enquiries. No further action will be 
taken against employees if allegations made against them are found to be malicious, 
vexatious or false. However, if an employee is found to have made an allegation 
against another which is found to be frivolous, malicious or for personal gain, their 
actions may be regarded as serious or gross misconduct, and subject to disciplinary 
procedures. 
 
Employee Conduct 
 
Not all investigations will relate to matters of financial irregularity, fraud or corruption. 
Investigations may arise which relate to employee conduct issues such as: 

 

 General conduct; 

 Performance; 

 Health and safety; 

 Bullying and harassment; and 

 Alcohol and substance misuse. 

Page 139



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 5 
 

 
If suspicions of general misconduct are identified by Internal Audit during the course of 
routine Internal Audit work, the Head of Human Resources will be immediately 
informed, in order that the matter can be addressed by Human Resources in 
accordance with disciplinary procedures. Internal Audit will provide any relevant 
evidence that has been obtained during the course of their work, to facilitate and 
inform this process. 

 
Investigations may arise which are borne from concerns regarding both conduct and 
fraud. These may be identified from a number of sources and may include (but are not 
limited to): 

 

 Falsification of Time and Attendance; 

 Misuse of equipment; and 

 Manipulation of expenses. 
 

In cases such as these, if concerns have not been identified or reported directly to 
Internal Audit, Management should ensure that the Head of Internal Audit is promptly 
informed in order that an assessment of the general control environment can be 
undertaken, and any control issues arising can be identified and resolved. Internal 
Audit can assist in the collation of evidence and statistical analysis to support such 
investigations. 

 
In these circumstances, the matter should be referred to the relevant Director who will 
take into consideration the cross-cutting nature of the investigation and determine how 
the investigation is to be conducted, and by whom. 

 
IT Equipment, Systems and Data 

 
Investigations may arise as the result of the misuse of the organisations IT equipment 
or manipulation of systems or data. Such action is likely to be in breach of the IT 
Acceptable Use Policy or Mobile Devices Acceptable Use Policy, and may be 
identified through a number of sources, including routine internal audit work, general 
monitoring of systems, tip-offs, CCTV footage or management concerns. 

 
Examples of investigations which may arise through misuse of corporate IT equipment 
include (but are not limited to): 

 

 Internet, telephone, mobile device or email misuse; 

 Manipulation or falsification of data held in business systems; 

 Theft or corruption of data; 

 Use of unlicensed and / or unauthorised software; 

 Unauthorised copying of copyrighted material; 

 Virus contamination; 

 Reconfiguration or manipulation of IT security systems / password misuse; and 

 Unauthorised use of removable media. 
 

Page 140



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 6 
 

As part of the investigation process, IT network records along with internet, telephone 
and e-mail usage will be examined as appropriate. 
In rare and exceptional circumstances, the Head of Internal Audit and LCRCA Chief 
Executive or Director of Corporate Services, or the Merseytravel Chief Executive and 
Director General may use their statutory powers to obtain access to records, outside of 
the above Policy. 

 
Access to CCTV images is controlled by the CCTV Code of Practice and requires a 
written record of access request and approval. 

 
Allegations made against third parties 
 
An allegation may be received by the organisations, which relates to a third party, such 
as a Contractor or Partner organisation. 
 
In this event, the Head of Internal Audit and LCRCA Chief Executive or Director of 
Corporate Services, or the Merseytravel Chief Executive and Director General should 
be informed and in discussion with the relevant Head(s) of Service, the matter will be 
considered on a case-by-case basis and a decision will be made on the necessary 
course of action. 
 
 

4. Conduct of an Investigation 
 
Immediate steps will be taken to protect and preserve all evidence. This may include: 
 

 Suspension of staff; guidance on suspension is available in the Discipline and 
Grievance Toolkit; 

 Securing of computer records on systems, desktop PC’s, laptops, mobile devices, 
telephone records, e-mail accounts and records of internet usage; 

 Suspension of IT network access rights; 

 Securing of written records (original documents where possible); 

 Securing of physical assets; and 

 Photographic evidence (including CCTV images). 
 
All records and assets relating to the investigation will be retained in a secure location 
with controlled access. 
 
Every investigation is unique and the approach will depend upon the specific details of 
the case. However, the following principles will be observed when undertaking an 
investigation: 
  

 The investigation will be undertaken with due urgency, consistent with completing a 
thorough and proportionate review; 

 Full records of the investigation will be maintained; 

 Comprehensive notes will be made of all interviews, observations, monitoring and 
surveillance; 

Page 141



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 7 
 

 The Human Resources Department will lead on all matters where formal disciplinary 
procedures are required, providing support and advice to the Investigating Officers; 

 Confidentiality will be respected and maintained; 

 Effective two-way communication channels will be maintained between all relevant 
parties; 

 Compliance with relevant legislation, including Data Protection, Employment 
legislation (including ACAS Guidelines) and Human Rights legislation will be 
observed; and 

 The Head of Internal Audit and/or Lead Investigating Officer, in consultation with the 
Director of Resources will consider whether disclosure to external organisations 
should be made, such as the Police, Information Commissioner, HMRC or 
Professional bodies etc. 

 
There may be times when it will be necessary for the organisations to carry out 
surveillance as part of the investigation. In such cases this will be undertaken in 
accordance with the Surveillance Policy and in compliance with the Guidance for 
Officers Undertaking Surveillance. 
  
 

6. Reporting 

 
At the conclusion of an investigation, the Lead Investigating Officer will produce a 
report detailing the findings and conclusions. The Investigation Report may include 
Reports provided by other Investigating Officers, including Internal Audit and IT, 
dependent on the nature of the case. Prior to the distribution of report, advice may be 
sought from the Legal department, if appropriate. 
 
Contributing Investigating Officers, including Internal Audit and IT may be required to 
attend a disciplinary hearing and present evidence, if appropriate and required. 
 
Human Resources should inform Internal Audit of the result of any hearing for which 
there has been Internal Audit involvement. 
 
 

7. Actions Following a Completed Investigation 
 
Following the outcome of an investigation, the Head of Human Resources and / or the 
Head of Internal Audit, in conjunction with the relevant Directors should determine any 
further action necessary to protect the organisations and their reputation. These 
actions may include: 
 

 Attempt to recover assets or losses; 

 Notification to other Agencies or Partner Organisations; 

 Referral to the Police, Action Fraud or other regulatory body; 

 Referral to Professional body 

 Changes to internal control systems or procedures; 

Page 142



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 8 
 

 Internal Audit follow-up to actions agreed from any recommendations made in the 
report; 

 Feedback to the “Whistleblower”/ Complainant, where possible / appropriate; and 

 Publicity or Press Release, in consultation with the Corporate Communications 
team. 

8. Deviations 

 
Any deviations from this protocol must be documented and authorised by the LCRCA 
Chief Executive or the Merseytravel Chief Executive and Director General as 
appropriate. 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee 
  
Meeting:  20 March 2019 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  Combined Authority/All Districts 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in respect of the system of 

corporate risk management and the activity that has been undertaken in embedding 
an effective system in the organisation.  This encompasses presenting the 
refreshed Corporate Risk Register for noting and the revised Risk Management 
Policy for approval. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee: 
  

(a) Notes the progress made in embedding the system of corporate risk 
management into the organisation; 

 
(b) Notes the refreshed Combined Authority Corporate Risk Register; and 

 
(c) Approves the revised Risk Management Policy. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the key activities undertaken so as to embed the 
system of corporate risk management.  The report highlights the following key 
points: 
 

 the developments in respect of the Combined Authority Corporate Risk 

Register, presenting the fully refreshed Corporate Risk Register for noting by 

the Committee 

 development of Service Risks 

 Risk Management Policy, and presents the revised Policy for Board approval 

Page 145

Agenda Item 8



 the plans to embed risk management further into the organisation.  

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1. Financial 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2. Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3. Physical Assets 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4. Information Technology 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
  

The implementation of an effective system of corporate and service risk 
management will support the Combined Authority in the delivery of its objectives, by 
identifying threats which may jeopardise their achievement.  The contents of this 
report give a narrative on the progress being made to establish and maintain such a 
system. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
 
 

Page 146



9. CONCLUSION 
 
 The organisation has made positive progress in embedding a robust and effective 

system for the management of risk.  Chief among the developments in the period is 
the full refresh of the Corporate Risk Register by Directors, and the development of 
a revised and more detailed Risk Management Policy. 

 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

Contact Officer(s): 

Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit   tel: 0151 330 1764 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 - Risk Management Update  
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 
 
 

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 

20 March 2019 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 
 

P
age 149



 
 

Contents 
 

    
 

 Page 
  

 1. Introduction       2    
 

 2. Corporate Risk      3   
    
3. Service Risk       4 

                
4. Risk Management Policy     5       
 
5. Embedding Effective Risk Management   6 
 
 
Appendices 
 
APPENDIX A: Risk Management Policy   8   
 

 
 
   

 
 
           
  

P
age 150



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 2 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of the progress made in establishing an effective and robust system of 
risk management within the Combined Authority (LCRCA). 

 
1.2 It is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee and its purpose is to facilitate the Committee in discharging its 

obligations as defined in its Terms of Reference: “to review the Combined Authority’s financial affairs, internal control, 

corporate governance arrangements and risk management”. 

 

1.3  The report covers: 

 

 the developments in respect of the LCRCA Corporate Risk Register 

 development of Service Risks 

 Risk Management Policy 

 the plans to embed risk management further into the organisation.  

  

P
age 151



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 3 
 

2. Corporate Risk  
 

2.1 It was recognised that although a Corporate Risk Register had been in place for the LCRCA, there was a need for the 

Register to be fully reviewed so as to increase its relevance and strategic focus.  This is particularly pertinent as the 

organisation develops and grows.   

2.2 A risk management workshop was held with Directors so as to provide an opportunity for them to consider the risks to the 

objectives identified in the Corporate Plan 2018-19. The outcome of the session was the production of a set of draft risks for 

the LCRCA.  

2.3 Since this initial session, further work has been completed so as to compile the risk register: a second risk workshop was 

held with Directors in December 2018, and Directors were then asked to complete scoring, control measures and actions in 

respect of those risks for which they were designated as risk owner.  The Risk Register was considered by Directors on 11 

January 2019. 

2.4 The LCRCA Corporate Risk Register is shown at Appendix B.  It is worthy of note that the Merseytravel Corporate Risks are 

a subset of the LCRCA Corporate Risk Register, concentrating on risks that are specific to the achievement of the 

Merseytravel transport priorities.  Therefore, overarching risks that apply to both organisations are shown on the LCRCA 

Corporate Risk Register.   

  

P
age 152



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 4 
 

3. Service Risk 
  

3.1 Work is ongoing to establish risk registers at Head of Service level identifying risks to the achievement of the corporate 
 objectives (identified in the LCRCA Corporate Plan 2018-19).    
 
3.2 Now that the refreshed Corporate Risk Register has been compiled, the Service Risks are in the process of being reviewed 
 and updated in full.  This will ensure that there is clarity regarding the level and ownership of risks, and ensures that 
 there is no duplication of risks held at service level and those at corporate level. 
  

P
age 153



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 5 
 

4. Risk Management Policy 
 

4.1 The Risk Management Policy was last approved by the LCRCA (in lieu of a meeting of this Committee) in May 2018.  The 

Head of Internal Audit has reviewed the Policy since arriving in post, and has concluded that there is scope for strengthening 

the system laid out in the Policy so as to encourage engagement by Senior Management, reflect more appropriate risks on 

the Corporate Risk Register and to ensure that the system applies coherently and equally to both LCRCA and Merseytravel.   

4.2 Following internal use and feedback, the revised Risk Management Policy has been finalised and is presented to this 

Committee for approval at Appendix A.  The key changes include: 

 Inclusion of clear and detailed guidance on how to identify, score and treat risk 

 Revision of the scoring matrix, to provide clearer delineation between Corporate and Service risks 

 The introduction of a new officer group, the Corporate Performance and Assurance Group, which will encapsulate the 

functions of the existing group, Primary Assurance and Risk Group (to be disbanded).  This will strengthen linkages 

between risk, performance and governance and also reflect membership for the LCRCA 

 Development of a clear risk management review cycle, involving preliminary review by the Corporate Performance 

and Assurance Group, resulting in a report to Directors which they will use as the basis for updating the Corporate 

Risk Register prior to presentation of the relevant corporate risks at this Committee (for LCRCA risks) and to the 

Audit, Risk and Governance Board (for risks pertaining to Merseytravel) 

 Revised Risk Register template, which encourages action planning for the treatment of risk, and relates each risk to 

the corporate or service objective it may jeopardise 

 Sets out key roles and responsibilities of all key players in the system of risk management. 

  

P
age 154



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 6 
 

5. Embedding Effective Risk Management 
 
5.1 In embedding a system of effective risk management into the organisation, it is important that the progress made to date 
 continues. 
 
5.2 The revised Risk Management Policy provides a clear steer in how the system should develop and become embedded by 
 outlining the roles and responsibilities of the key players in the system.  It is important that such roles are understood and 
 followed.  It is also important that the role of this Committee as a monitoring and review mechanism is exercised 
 effectively.   
 
5.3 A key element of this is that the Senior Leadership Team drives and owns the process of risk management and most 

importantly, uses this to inform decision-making.  This will ensure that management of risk contributes positively to the 
improvement of the control framework and keeps risk under control as far as possible, so facilitating the achievement of the 
organisation’s objectives. 

 
5.4 In facilitating this system, Internal Audit will continue to play a vital role.  Key strands of activity for embedding this over the 
 forthcoming year will be: 
  

 Facilitating the regular review and update of the Corporate Risk Register via the Corporate Performance and 
Assurance Group and the Directors meeting 

 Update service risks and establish a regime of regular review and update by Heads of Service 

 Providing corporate support in respect of risk management across the organisation 

 Providing risk management training and awareness sessions for officers 

 Facilitate the developing of the risk appetite for the organisation 

 Internal audit work will employ a risk-based methodology from 2019-20, meaning that its findings can contribute fully 
to the corporate risk management picture, by appraising existing controls and their effectiveness, highlighting new or 
emerging risks for consideration by Heads of Service, and by appraising the extent to which the system of risk 

P
age 155



  
 

 

Risk Management Update Page | 7 
 

management is embedded across the organisation.  Appropriate safeguards are in place to ensure that internal audit 
independence is not compromised. 
 

5.5 The quarterly reports to this Board will give a full overview of the progress being made in delivering the activities above, 
 implementing the recommendations arising from the peer review report, and the effectiveness of these actions in increasing 
 the level to which effective risk management arrangements are embedded into the organisation.

P
age 156



 
 

 
APPENDIX A 

Risk Management Policy 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Owner Internal Audit 

Document Version 0.1 

Approved By LCRCA Audit and Governance 
Committee – March 2019 

Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance 
Board – February 2019 

 

Review Date March 2020 

 
This document is the property of Merseytravel/LCRCA. It may not be reproduced 

or used for any other purpose than that for which it is supplied without the 
written permission of Merseytravel/LCRCA. 

 
Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place

Page 157



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Introduction          2 
 
2. Objectives 2 
 
3. Responsibilities 2 

 
4. Risk Management Process – Practical Guidance 6 

  
Stage 1: Identification of Risks  6 
Stage 2: Evaluation of Risks  7 
Stage 3: Addressing Risks  8 
Stage 4: Risk Review and Reporting  9
  

5. Appendices 
  
A: Corporate Performance and Assurance Group:  Terms of Reference 12 
B: Scoring Risk Impact 13 
C: Scoring Risk Likelihood 14 
D: Risk Register Template 15 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 158



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 2 
 

1. Introduction 
 
Risk is defined as “the effect of uncertainty on the achievement of objectives, where 
effect is any deviation from the expected – positive or negative”. (ISO 31000) 
 
Any large and complex organisation faces a range of risks which may affect the 
achievement of its defined objectives. These risks have varying levels of likelihood of 
materialising and of impact to the organisation and its stakeholders if these did 
materialise.  Therefore, the effective management of risk is a key component of an 
organisation that is effective in meeting its defined objectives. 
 
Risk Management is the process by which risks and potential opportunities are 
identified, evaluated and controlled. 
 
Merseytravel/LCRCA recognises the importance of effective risk management as a 
key element of its performance and governance framework.  It is the responsibility of 
Merseytravel/LCRCA to ensure that it establishes and maintains a system that 
provides the organisation with assurance that there is accountability and ownership of 
the key risks that the organisation faces, maximises the achievement of its objectives, 
and ensures that good governance can be demonstrated.  
 

2. Objectives 
 
The objectives of this Policy are to: 
 

 Embed risk management into the culture and operations of the organisation 

 Promote risk management as an integral part of business planning and decision 
making and performance management 

 Maintain an effective process of key risks identification, analysis and control 

 Anticipate and respond to changing requirements whether political, economic, 
social, technological, legislative or environmental (PESTLE) 

 Ensure that there is clear accountability for both the ownership and cost of risk and 
the tools used to effectively reduce risk 

 Improve governance and raise awareness of the need for risk management by all 
those connected with the organisation’s delivery  

 Demonstrate how effective risk management can improve delivery of 
organisational objectives and increase resilience. 

 

3. Responsibilities 
 
Head of Paid Service  
Has overall responsibility for Merseytravel/LCRCA’s risk management arrangements.  
This involves being the corporate sponsor for risk management, and ensuring that the 
system of corporate risk management is effective, consistently applied and embedded 
into the organisation. 
 
 
 

Page 159



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 3 
 

Directors 
Directors have responsibility for identifying and managing the most significant risks to 
corporate objectives.  They will ensure that these are reflected in the Corporate Risk 
Register, which will be considered and reviewed on a regular basis.   They will ensure 
that appropriate controls and actions are in place so as to control and manage the 
corporate risks for which they have responsibility, and for those service risks which sit 
within their area of responsibility. 
 
Heads of Service  
Heads of Service have responsibility for identifying and managing the risks to service 
objectives.  They will ensure that these are reflected in the relevant Service Risk 
Register, which will be considered and reviewed on a regular basis.   They will ensure 
that appropriate mitigations and actions are in place so as to control and manage the 
risks which sit within their area of responsibility.  They are responsible for establishing 
sound systems of internal control within their service areas. 
 
Heads of Service must notify the Head of Legal, Procurement and Democratic 
Services of any significant changes in business activity that may impact on insurance 
provision, so as to ensure that appropriate and adequate insurance is in place.  
 
Any decision submitted through the Delegated Decisions system or a Committee 
report (via the Modern.gov system) must include appropriate consideration of risk and 
implications associated with the proposed decision, so as to demonstrate the 
consideration of risk in decision-making. 
 
Corporate Performance and Assurance Group 
The Corporate Performance and Assurance Group is the key forum for the 
consideration of risks facing the achievement of the Corporate Plan. It sets the tone for 
corporate risk management and uses this to drive improvement in delivery of corporate 
objectives.  This Group holds officer responsibility for the Corporate Risk Register, and 
will review and update this document on a quarterly basis. This group’s Terms of 
Reference are detailed at Appendix A.  (These subsume the Terms of Reference of 
the disbanded Primary Assurance and Risk Group.)  
 
Project/Programme Managers 
When an officer is managing a project/programme, it is their responsibility to ensure 
that adequate consideration is given to the management of the risks that threaten the 
delivery of the project/programme, and that effective controls are in place so that these 
are managed.  Such risks should be captured within a Project Risk Register, and 
which should be reviewed with appropriate regularity throughout the project lifecycle.  
 
Programme Management Office (PMO) 
The Programme Management Office supports Project/Programme Managers in the 
delivery of projects/programmes, and assists them in identifying and assessing the 
risks that could jeopardise the delivery of the projects/programmes, and in facilitating 
the planning of controls and actions to minimise the likelihood of such risks 
materialising, and/or their impact if they did materialise. The risk management 
methodology used by the PMO is being developed, but will follow the principles 
outlined in this document. 
 

Page 160



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 4 
 

 
Managers 
Managers should understand their role in the risk management process, and the 
benefits of effective risk management.  It is their responsibility to assist their Head of 
Service in the management of relevant service risks through maintaining an effective 
system of internal control and through undertaking any actions assigned to them in the 
management of specific service risks. 
 
All Employees  
All employees have responsibility for complying with the defined internal controls 
designed to minimise risk and for being aware of the risks that they encounter in their 
day to day roles. 
                                                                                                        
Merseytravel Meeting 
This group has overall oversight of the governance and risk management 
arrangements for Merseytravel, and has responsibility for approving its Risk 
Management Policy. 
 
Combined Authority Meeting 
This group has overall oversight of the governance and risk management 
arrangements for the Combined Authority, and has responsibility for approving its Risk 
Management Policy. 
 
Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board 
LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee  
Both fora have responsibility for the monitoring and review of the effectiveness of risk 
management arrangements and overseeing the continued development of these 
arrangements. This will be chiefly implemented as reviewing the relevant aspects of 
the Corporate Risk Register, so as to obtain assurance that the risks identified as most 
significant threats to the achievement of objectives are being managed and controlled 
effectively.   
 
Both fora will monitor progress in addressing any risk related issues reported to it, 
including those identified through Internal Audit reports. 
 
Internal Audit  
Internal Audit has responsibility for facilitating the system of risk management, and 
ensuring the continued development of the system so as to maximise its effectiveness.  
This comprises: 

 Compilation of the Risk Management Policy  

 Facilitating the process of risk review and reporting 

 Promoting the embedding of effective risk management processes into the normal 
business processes of the organisation. 

 Advising on how to treat and manage risks 

 Providing training on risk 

 Helping to improve risk management through advising and supporting the 
identification of current and emerging risks. 

 
Internal Audit is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of risk management 
arrangements, through delivery of the Internal Audit Plan. The work of internal audit in 

Page 161



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 5 
 

assessing the effectiveness of Merseytravel/LCRCA’s management and control of risk 
will inform the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Report and the Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS).  
 
So as to preserve the independence of Internal Audit, it is important to note that its role 
will not comprise: 

 Dictate or influence risk identification, scoring or risk appetite 

 Acting to mitigate or control risks. 
 
  

Page 162



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 6 
 

4. Risk Management Process: Practical 
Guidance 
 
The following diagram highlights the three key stages of the risk management process: 
 

 Identification of risks 

 Assessment of risks 

 Addressing risks 
 

Overview of the Risk Management / Assurance Process: 
 
DIAGRAM 1 

 
 
Source: It’s a Risky Business (CIPFA, 2014) 
 
STAGE 1: Identification of Risks 
 
The first stage in the process is to identify the risks that threaten the identification of 
the organisation’s objectives.  Risks can be identified in various ways, including 
through formal risk workshops, planning sessions or often, these emerge “naturally” 
through business as usual. The identification of risks should not be seen as a one off 
exercise, and once an initial identification exercise has been undertaken, this should 
be updated on an ongoing basis so as to ensure that the risks identified are still 
reflective of those facing the organisation. 
 

Page 163



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 7 
 

The identification and accurate framing of risks is crucial to the success of the process 
that follows, and so this stage should receive sufficient attention to ensure it is 
comprehensive.   
 
The following Risk Wheel identifies the main risk categories which can be used as 
prompts during the identification process: 
 
 

 
Key factors to consider when identifying a risk: 
 

 Be specific in framing what the risk is 

 Be clear on how the risk may impact the achievement of objectives – which 
objective is under threat 

 Think about the different facets of the risk and how the risk may affect a number of 
objectives or impact across a wider area of the business 

 Where risks have a wider applicability, consult colleagues so that the risk can be 
framed to take account of cross-cutting issues. 

 
STAGE 2: Evaluation of Risks 
 
The first part of evaluating a risk is to be clear on the consequences if the risk was to 
materialise.  This should include clear reference to the objective which would be 
compromised by the materialisation of the risk. This should also include other 
consequences such as “negative media attention” or “legal challenge”, which may be 
knock-on effects of the objective not being met. 
 
The risk should then be allocated an owner.  Ownership should sit with the officer in 
the organisation who has the appropriate level of control over the management of the 
risk. Risks should sit at Director level (for corporate risks), Head of Service level (for 
service risks) or Project/Programme Manager level (for project/programme risks).  So 
as to promote accountability, a single post should be named as the owner, rather than 
a group of people. 
 

Service 
Disruption/ 
Reliability 

Financial 
Loss/Cost 

Reputation 
Legislative and 

Regulatory 

Performance 

Health and 
Safety 

Page 164



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 8 
 

The third stage is to score the “inherent risk” for its likelihood and impact.  This relates 
to the likelihood of the risk materialising, and its impact if it was to materialise, without 
any controls or mitigating actions having being applied.  This helps to give a view of 
the “raw” risk prior to the organisation having taken any action to minimise it.  Both 
aspects are allocated a score between 1 and 5, and one is multiplied by the other to 
give a total inherent risk score out of 25.  Guidance on scoring impact and likelihood is 
provided at Appendix B and C respectively. 
 
Whilst the inherent risk score identifies the likelihood and impact of the risk if it was to 
materialise without the implementation of controls, it is highly unlikely that this reflects 
the actual position.  With the potential exception of very new or emerging risks, it is 
likely that the organisation will have implemented one or a number of control measures 
to reduce the likelihood of the risk materialising and/or the impact if it was to 
materialise.  Controls are defined as “any action taken by management, the board or 
other parties to manage the risk and increase the likelihood that established objectives 
and goals will be achieved.” 
 
The next stage of the evaluation process is to identify what control measures the 
organisation has already put in place.  It is important that the controls listed genuinely 
relate to the risk under consideration, and that the control is actually in place and is 
effective – i.e. controls that are planned to be implemented should not feature at this 
stage.  Again, it is important to be specific in detailing the controls.  Assurances that 
have been received that indicate the effective operation of a control should be 
available to demonstrate that it is fulfilling its intended purpose – inspection reports, 
customer feedback or internal audit reports are examples of such assurances. 
 
The implementation of effective controls should serve to reduce the risk score 
associated with the risk.  This is the residual risk score – the likelihood and impact if 
the risk should materialise.  The implementation of controls which do not reduce these 
scores should lead to questions of the reason for resources having been expended on 
it – controls consume resources and should be proportionate to the risk they are 
intended to mitigate.  The risk is now rescored, using the same criteria (as detailed in 
Appendix C and D) to evaluate its likelihood and impact now that controls have been 
applied.  Again, one score is multiplied by the other so as to give a total residual risk 
score out of 25. 
 
STAGE 3: Addressing Risks 
 
Once the risk has been given a residual risk score, thought can be given to the 
treatment of the risk, and where actions that can be taken to reduce the impact and/or 
likelihood further. The residual risk score assists management in prioritising resources 
to mitigate risks.  There are four main options for treatment of a risk: 
 

 Terminate – can an activity be discontinued so that the risk is eliminated?  This 
usually applies to risks with very high residual scores.  

 Treat – can the risk be mitigated by the application of controls? 

 Tolerate – can the risk be accepted?  This usually applied to risks with very low 
residual scores. 

Page 165



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 9 
 

 Transfer – can the risk be transferred to another party?  It is rare that a risk can be 
fully transferred, but a significant element could be transferred by via insurance, 
for example. 

 
An organisation’s risk appetite is the level of risk that it is prepared to tolerate without 
putting in place further risk mitigation or controls.  Merseytravel/LCRCA may accept 
that a risk exists and that to put in place further measures to reduce that risk is not 
possible, practical or cost effective. 
 
It may be that it is felt that the risk has been reduced as much as possible or that any 
remaining actions to be taken are unpalatable or unfeasible – for example they may 
consume more resource than is worthwhile, considering the impact if the risk 
materialised. 
 
In most cases, however, a set of actions can be agreed that would have a beneficial 
effect on the risk’s impact and/or likelihood, and do not exceed the cost of the risk 
being realised.  The actions should be defined in a SMART way – specific, 
measurable, achievable, relevant and timely.  A responsible officer should be assigned 
to each of the actions, and this should be a person who has the autonomy to 
implement the action.  A due date, by which the action will be implemented, should 
also be added.  A red/amber/green rating should also be assigned to the action, so 
that there is a view on whether the completion of the action is progressing in line with 
the planned timescale. 
 
STAGE 4: Risk Review and Reporting 

There is a clear relationship between the residual risk score and where the risk is 
owned and how it is reported.  This ensures that risks are managed at the most 
appropriate level of the organisation. Therefore, the Risk Evaluation Scoring Matrix 
should be used to determine the review and reporting arrangements for each identified 
risk.  Flexibility can be applied to this model, as for example emerging risks which 
score less than 16 may be included in the Corporate Risk Register so as to encourage 
early consideration and action prior to their expected escalation.   

  

Page 166



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 10 
 

 
Risk Evaluation Scoring Matrix 
 

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D
 

Highly 
Probable 

5 5 10 15 20 25 

 

Probable 

4 4 8 12 16 20 

 

Possible 

3 3 6 9 12 15 

 

Unlikely 

2 2 4 6 8 10 

 

Highly 
Unlikely 

1 1 2 3 4 5 

 

   

1 2 3 4 5 

 

   
Negligible Minor Moderate Major Critical 

  
 
 

   
IMPACT 

    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Colour Coding Red Risks Amber Risks Green Risks 

Residual Risk Score 
Range 

16 - 25 8 - 15 1 - 6 

Risk Register  Corporate Risk Register Service or Project/Programme Risk 
Register 

Risk Owner Director Head of Service 

Officer Reporting 
Forum 

Corporate Performance and 
Assurance Group 

 Service Management Team  

Project/Programme Board 

Member Reporting 
Forum 

Audit and Governance 
Committee (risks pertaining to 

the Combined Authority) 

Audit, Risk and Governance 
Board (risks pertaining to 

Merseytravel) 

None (risks scoring 15 could be noted for 
members where it is felt that the risk is 
escalating and is likely to reach a score 

of 16 or above) 

Page 167



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 11 
 

Corporate Risks 
The Corporate Risk Register is the subject of a full quarterly review, facilitated by the 
Corporate Performance and Assurance Group. This review is informed by updated 
Service and Project Programme Risk Registers. 
 
The updated Corporate Risk Register will then be presented on a quarterly basis to the 
Audit and Governance Committee (for risks pertaining to the Combined Authority) and 
the Audit, Risk and Governance Board (for risks pertaining to Merseytravel).  
 
Service Risks 
Service Risk Registers are maintained at Head of Service level and are the subject of 
a full quarterly review within Service Management Team meetings. New or escalating 
risks that score 16 or above, (or are expected to escalate towards a high score in the 
future if left untreated), should be put forward for review and potential inclusion in the 
Corporate Risk Register. 
 
Project/Programme Risks 
Project/Programme Risks are maintained at Project/Programme Manager level, and 
are the subject of full review within the governance structure relevant to the 
project/programme. 
 
In reviewing a risk register, the following key items should be considered: 
 

 Are all existing risks relevant to the delivery of corporate/service/programme 
objectives included? 

 Have any of the risks changed, and does the risk description, controls, actions and 
scoring need to be updated to reflect the change? 

 Have any new risks emerged? 

 Are controls still in place and working effectively? 

 Do any new controls need to be put in place? 

 Is the scoring of the identified risks correct – are risks increasing or decreasing 
and if so, does the risk need to the escalated to the Corporate Risk Register or 
can it be de-escalated or closed? 

 Are agreed actions being implemented according to the timescale? 

 Have any actions been completed, meaning that there is a new control in place, 
and so does the residual score need to reduce as a result? 

 
 
 
 
   

  

Page 168



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 12 
 

5. Appendices 

 
APPENDIX A 

Corporate Performance and Assurance Group: Terms of Reference 

 
Purpose of the Group  
 
To oversee and critically reflect on the delivery 
of commitments in the Corporate Plan for the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (CA).  

 
To consider and advise on appropriate 
responses to corporate performance indicators 
in liaison with lead officers. 
 
To provide corporate leadership in respect of the 
management of risk, by providing assurance in 
respect of corporate risks and planned corporate 
risk mitigation activity.  
 
To provide corporate leadership in respect of the 
improvement and development of governance 
and internal control. 
 
Group Membership  
  
 John Fogarty, Director of Corporate Services 

(Chair) 
 Liz Chandler, Director of Organisational 

Development  
 Aileen Jones, Head of Research and 

Intelligence 
 Stephen Littler, Performance Manager  
 Gary Evans, Head of Customer Delivery  
 Wayne Menzies, Head of Rail  
 Matt Goggins, Head of Bus 
 Alastair Ramsay, Head of People & 

Customer Development 
 Eleanor Dodd, Head of Policy Coordination 
 John McGee, Head of Government 

Relationship Management 
 Ian Hawkins, Head of ICT  
 Jill Coule, Chief Monitoring Officer  
 Louise Outram, Head of Legal, Procurement 

and Democratic Services 
 Sarah Johnson, Head of Finance  
 Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit  
 Dan McCafferty, Head of Corporate PMO  
 Lorna Rogers, Head of Mayoral CA 

Programme Delivery 
 
Quorum  
 
This group shall be quorate when 5 members of 
the group, plus the Director of Organisational 
Development and the Chair are present.  

 Frequency of meetings 
 
Quarterly. 
 
Decision making 
 
Approvals 
The Corporate Performance & Assurance Group 
is authorised to approve the Corporate 
Performance Framework, system and associated 
reporting processes. 
 
Approvals out of cycle: 
 
Any urgent changes to activities, data or process 
agreed as part of the performance system shall be 
considered approved once the Director of 
Organisational Development and the Chair 
confirm in writing (email) that they are content for 
it to be agreed. The Research and Intelligence 
Team shall coordinate responses as required.  
 
Secretariat  
 
The Research and Intelligence Team will provide 
the secretariat to the Group.  Papers will be 
circulated at least 3 working days in advance of 
meetings.  A note of the actions and decisions will 
be circulated to all Group Members by the 
Secretary within 10 working days of a meeting 
taking place. 
 
Governance  
 
This group reports to CA/MT Directors.  
 
  
 
 

Page 169



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 13 
 

  APPENDIX B 

Scoring Risk Impact 
 

1 
Negligible 

2 
Minor 

3 
Moderate 

4 
Major 

5 
Critical 

Brief disruption to 
important service 

areas 

Complete loss of 
non-crucial service 

Complete loss of a non-
crucial service area for a 
protracted period or an 
important service area 

for a short period 

Major loss of service 
for less than one 

month 

Major loss of service 
for over one month 

 
Up to £10,000 

 
£10,001  to £250,000 £250,001 to £3m £3m  to £10m Over £10m 

Contained within 
directorate 

Contained within 
Merseytravel/LCRCA / 

reported 
to Executive 

Adverse local public or 
press interest; 

complaints 

Adverse national 
public or press interest 

Adverse central 
government response 

Minor injury or 
discomfort to an 

individual 

Minor injury or 
discomfort to more than 

one individual 

Major injury to an 
individual 

Major injury to more 
than one individual 

 
Death 

One-off minor breach 
resulting in minor 
adverse publicity / 
regulatory attention 

Some minor 
infringements of 

regulations / legislation 
resulting in minor fines 

or adverse publicity 

One-off moderate 
breach resulting in 
moderate fines or 
adverse publicity 

Systematic non-
compliance resulting in 
significant Litigation / 

Fines or Court 
appearance 

Forced closure of 
Merseytravel/LCRCA 

One-off minor 
reduction in 

performance in one 
service area 

Sustained reduction in 
performance in one area 

or reduction in 
performance across 

more than one service 
area 

Sustained reduction in 
performance in more 
than one service area 

Sustained systematic 
non-performance 

resulting against most 
performance targets 

Complete 
performance failure 

 
 

  

P
age 170



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 14 
 

APPENDIX C 

Scoring Risk Likelihood 

5 
Highly Probable 

 Extremely likely 

 The event is expected to occur in almost all circumstances 

 There has been a history of regular occurrences, i.e. on multiple occasions in the last twelve 
months 

 If new event, likelihood of occurrence regarded as almost inevitable 

4 
Probable 

 There is a strong possibility the event or risk will occur 

 The event is expected to occur in a majority of circumstances 

 There is a history of several occurrences, i.e. on more than one occasion in the last twelve months 

 If new event, likelihood of occurrence regarded as very likely 

3 
Possible 

 There is a reasonable probability the event or risk will occur 

 There may be a history of frequent occurrences  

 Everyone with knowledge of issues in this area knows this could happen 

 No or few effective measures have been implemented to reduce the likelihood of the risk 
materialising 

 If new event, likelihood of occurrence will probably occur in most circumstances 

2 
Unlikely 

 The event might occur at some time 

 There could be a history of ad hoc occurrences  

 Most of the team knows that the whilst unlikely, the risk might occur 

 Measures that reduce likelihood have been taken but are not fully effective 

 If new event, likelihood of occurrence regarded as unlikely but possible 

 
1 

Highly Unlikely 

 Not expected, but there is a slight possibility it could occur at some time 

 Some of the team considers that this is a risk that might occur 

 Team considers there is an appropriate control framework in place 

 Conditions exist for this to occur, but is highly unlikely 

 Probably requires more than two coincident events 

 

                  

P
age 171



  
   

 

Risk Management Policy   | 15 
 

              
APPENDIX D 

 

                Risk Register Template 

Corporate/Service Risk Register: Name of Service Area 

Date of Review: Date 

 

 
 

  

Corporate

/Service 

Objective 

Jeopardised Risk Description

Consequences 

of Risk 

Materialising

Risk 

Owner 

(post title)

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score Action

Action 

Owner 

(post title)

Timescale for 

Completion

Progress on 

completion 

of actions 

within 

timescale 

(Red/ Amber/ 

Green)

1 0 0

2 0 0

3 0 0

4 0 0

5 0 0

6 0 0

7 0 0

8 0 0

9 0 0

10 0 0

11 0 0

12 0 0

13 0 0

14 0 0

15 0 0

Inherent Risk Scoring Residual Risk Scoring Action Plan

Ref.

Control Measures 

in Operation

Risk Details

P
age 172



Corporate Risk Register: Liverpool City Region Combined Authority

Date of Review: March 2019

Corporate

/Service Objective 

Jeopardised

Risk Description Consequences of Risk Materialising Risk Owner (post 

title)

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

1 All Failure to achieve the required 

outputs associated with prioritising 

and managing the resources and 

responsibilities associated with the 

City Region’s devolution deal.

Weak financial standing

Inability to deliver Devolution Deal

Loss of devolved powers

Opportunities for growth compromised

Withdrawal of Constituent member

Director of 

Investment and 

Strategic 

Development

5 5 25 Corporate Plan

Performance Management

PMO Capacity

Commercial & Investment expertise

Budget recognises delivery as a priority

5 4 20

2 All Lack of sustainable funding 

mechanism to support the 

achievement of Mayoral priorities, 

maintain capacity and resilience 

and manage the external funding 

portfolio associated with the City 

Region’s devolution deal.

Weak financial standing

Inability to deliver Devolution Deal

Loss of devolved powers

Opportunities for growth compromised

Director of 

Corporate Services

5 5 25 Transitional funding package 2018/19

Mayoral Capacity grant

CIPFA study on sustainable funding

Budget process 2019/20 and beyond

Role of Scrutiny

5 3 15

3 All Inability to collaborate effectively 

with constituent Local Authorities, 

and with other key partners – 

including residents and businesses 

– to identify City Region priorities 

and determine the most effective 

mechanisms for delivering these 

priorities.

Inability to deliver targets, outputs and outcomes

Reputational damage

Inability to deliver Devolution Deal

Loss of devolved powers

Withdrawal of Constituent member

Director of 

Corporate 

Development

5 4 20 Strategic involvement of constituent Local Authorities

Role of portfolio holders and deputy portfolio holders

Collaboration on key strategies

FASJAB

Formal consultation mechanism for TUs

5 3 15

4 All Failure to maintain a strong and 

effective governance framework 

that promotes a delivery-focused  

culture that puts the requirements 

of the City Region first.

Failure to engage effectively with member organisations

Ineffective allocation of resources

Inability to deliver Devolution Deal

Loss of devolved powers

Corruption and illegality

Ill informed decision making

Reputational damage

Increased complaints

Inability to work with partners and stakeholders if lack of confidence in 

governance arrangements

Inability to demonstrate effective governance

Failure to deliver targets, outputs and outcomes

Implications for employee wellbeing, morale, turnover and absence levels

Legal action and associated costs, penalties and fines

Insurance claims

Director of 

Corporate Services

5 4 20 Revised Constitution

Code of Corporate Governance

Assurance Framework

Financial Regulations

Internal Audit Plan

Increased capacity in Internal Audit

Risk Management arrangements

Performance management arrangements

Corporate Plan

5 3 15

Inherent Risk Scoring Residual Risk ScoringRef. Control Measures in OperationRisk Details

P
age 173



Corporate

/Service Objective 

Jeopardised

Risk Description Consequences of Risk Materialising Risk Owner (post 

title)

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

Impact 

Score

Likelihood 

Score

Total 

Score

Inherent Risk Scoring Residual Risk ScoringRef. Control Measures in OperationRisk Details

5 All Failure to effectively identify and 

address the impact of political, 

social and economic uncertainties, 

in particular those associated with 

future arrangements for exiting the 

EU.

Loss of structural funds

Skills shortages

Relocation of key businesses and employers

Disruption and damage to LCRCA initiatives

Failure to achieve outcomes in business growth

Director of 

Investment and 

Strategic 

Development

5 4 20 Investment Strategy

Assurance Framework

Strategic Investment Fund

5 3 15

6 Economy

Housing

Environment

Culture & Tourism

Failure to establish an appropriate 

Spatial Framework to support and 

enable LCRCA's growth ambitions

Misalignment of Local Plans

Inability to deliver housing targets and growth in homelessness

Inability to promote economic growth

Reputational damage

Director of Policy 

and Strategic 

Commissioning

5 5 25 Dedicated capacity for Spatial Plan in place 5 4 20

7 Environment Failure to maximise LCRCA's 

opportunities to have a positive 

impact on air quality and to 

improve air quality across the City 

Region.

Impacts on health, wellbeing and environmental outcomes

Loss of future funding streams

Director of Policy 

and Strategic 

Commissioning

5 5 25 Consideration as part of policy and strategy

Monitoring of air quality on transport network

5 3 15

8 All Failure to prevent, plan and 

respond to major incidents 

impacting on transport networks, 

and in particular failure to maintain 

robust systems and procedures in 

respect of our own transport 

assets.

Deaths and serious injuries

Loss of connectivity

Implications for reputation and confidence

Legal issues – e.g. .corporate manslaughter

Disruptions to network

Unavailability of key systems and operational disruption

Lost revenue

Injury and claims arising.

Temporary (and maybe permanent) removal of service to address risk

HSE investigation and fines

Staff absence

Increased complaints.

Criticism/negative media coverage

Recovery costs

Increased insurance premiums

Director of 

Integrated 

Transport

5 5 25 Asset Management Plan

Mersey Tunnels capital programme

Resilience arrangements in place and tested

Control Centre co-ordination

Renewal of Rolling Stock Fleet

Investment in Mersey Ferries vessels

5 3 15

9 All Information Governance breach or 

cyber attack

Data loss

Remediation costs

Regulator fines

Implications for reputation and confidence

Unavailability of key systems and operational disruption

Ill informed decision making.

Systems compromised, resulting in internal and external threats: Viral, Denial 

Of Service attack, Data Integrity (different levels of data: Financial, personal, 

commercial, operational) [Theft of data, Deletion of data and Data corruption], 

Disruptive attack and Privilege escalation.

Litigation and cost of claims.

Increased complaints.

Inability to work with partners and stakeholders if lack of confidence in integrity 

of systems.

Director of 

Corporate 

Development

5 5 25  Information Management Group 

Senior Information Management Officer 

 Information Sharing Protocol 

 Information Management Policy Framework 

Information System Security Arrangements 

Staff Identified and Trained

Senior Information Risk Owner  

ICT Strategy 

Policy - Data Protection Policy 

 Resilience and Recovery Arrangements  

ICT Security Protocol 

Monitoring of Performance  

 External Assessment 

 Internal Policies and Procedures 

 Code of Conduct for Employees 

 PCI Compliance Arrangements 

Acceptable Use Policy 

Business Continuity Arrangements  

5 3 15

P
age 174



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Audit & Governance  
     Committee  
 
Meeting:     20 March 2019 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY MONITORING OFFICER  
 

GOVERNANCE UPDATE 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The report is to: 

 Inform members of the work being undertaken to update the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) Constitution. 

 Consider terms of reference for the Audit and Governance Committee 

 To ask Members to consider a range of information management policies and 
recommend these to the next LCRCA meeting. 

 To appoint an officer to the position of Senior Information Risk Owner for the 
LCRCA. 

 To ask members to consider the draft Confidential Reporting/Whistleblowing 
policy and to recommend this to the next Combined Authority meeting. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance 

Committee: 
 

(a) Note the work being undertaken to update the LCRCA Constitution 
(b) Consider the Terms of Reference for the Audit and Governance Committee to 

determine if updating is required. 
(c) Consider the information management policies and arrangement and 

recommend their adoption to the LCRCA (Appendices 1, 2 and 3). 
(d) Recommend to the LCRCA the appointment of John Fogarty, as the Senior 

Information Risk Owner for the LCRCA. 
(e) Consider the draft Confidential Reporting/Whistleblowing Policy and to 

recommend its adoption to the LCRCA (Appendix 4). 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 175

Agenda Item 10



 
3. BACKGROUND 
 

Constitution 
 
3.1 Members will be aware that a revised LCRCA Constitution was presented to and 

agreed by the LCRCA in May 2018 (the May 2018 version).  This May 2018 version 
of the Constitution represented a significant change to its predecessor.   Officers 
and the LCRCA as an entity have now had the opportunity to work with the May 
2018 version of the Constitution. 

 
3.2  An important role for a Monitoring Officer is to ensure that the Constitution is up to 

date, relevant and represents the reality of the entity of the LCRCA.   To that end, 
work has been undertaken to liaise with the senior management team of the 
LCRCA to ascertain which parts of the Constitution are supportive or otherwise of 
their functions, responsibilities and operational requirements.  

 
3.3 Members attention is drawn to the suggestions made in paragraphs 3.10 and 3.11 

to consider whether such changes to the Terms of Reference for the Audit and 
Governance committee should be proposed to the LCRCA.  

 
3.4 In future it is also suggested that constitutional amendments be formally considered 

by the Audit and Governance Committee in advance of their submission to the 
LCRCA for approval. 

 
 

Information Management 
 

3.5  Further as the LCRCA evolves as an entity it is important that it has in place a 
range of information management policies and considerations.  To that end the 
LCRCA’s Publication Scheme (Appendix 1) is attached for consideration prepared 
in accordance with freedom of information legislation requirements. An internal audit 
carried out has recommended that this is formally adopted by the CA. Consideration 
by this Committee will be the first step on this journey to adoption by the CA. 

 
3.6  In addition the Committee is asked to note that the LCRCA is supported by a range 

of arrangements in place for information management within Merseytravel.  These 
include a Merseytravel’s Information Management Group (IMG) and it is considered 
appropriate for this group to take on responsibility for LCRCA information matters.  
As you would expect Merseytravel already has in place policies that will be suitable 
with limited adaption to the LCRCA needs and requirements.   A copy the IMG 
Annual Report for 2017/18 (Appendix 2) is attached to demonstrate the work that is 
undertaken for Merseytravel. 
 

3.7 There are a range of policies that currently exist for Merseytravel and it is proposed 
with a little adaption that these be applied to the LCRCA.  The list of those policies 
is contained in the Information Management Policy Framework (Appendix 3).  
Copies of the policies have been circulated to members of the Committee 
electronically, published as part of this agenda and can be made available to all 
members manually if requested. 
 
 

Page 176



 CCTV Code of Practice 

 Data Protection policy 

 FOI and EIR policy 

 IMG Terms of Reference 

 Information Asset Register 

 Information Security Incident Management Protocol 

 IT Acceptable Use Policy 

 IT Security Policy 

 Media Policy for Staff 

 Mobile Device Acceptable Use Policy 

 PCIDSS policy 

 Publication Scheme 

 Records Management Policy and Procedures 

 Records Retention Schedule and Guidance 

 Social Media Policy 

 Data Protection Impact Assessment Guidance and Template 

 Guest W-Fi Procedure 

 Third Party Access Agreements and Data Sharing Template 
 

3.8  Members will recall that at a meeting of the LCRCA on 29 June 2018 LCRCA 
meeting approved the appointment of Andy Henderson (Senior Information 
Management Officer (SIMO) in Merseytravel’s Legal department) as Statutory Data 
Protection Officer for the LCRCA. The SIMO also has responsibility for ensuring 
Merseytravel and the CA’s records management procedures and compliance with 
the Freedom of Information Act 2000, the Environmental Information Regulations 
2004, the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 and requests under the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 
The Committee may also be interested to know that, in accordance with the recently 
revised Freedom of Information Code of Practice, statistics for how the CA has 
handled FOI requests are now published. These are on the revamped LCRCA 
website at this link https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/governance/policy-
documents/#freedom-of-information 
 
The CA received more requests (21) in the first three reporting quarters of 2018/19 
than in the entirety of 2017/18 (17), reflecting the increased public awareness of the 
LCRCA work. All requests have been responded to on time. 

 
3.9 In addition and to benefit from the information management arrangements that 

Merseytravel has in place, it is proposed that John Fogarty be formerly appointed to 
the role of Senior Information Owner (SIRO). 

 
3.10  In recognition of the current constitution, there are no arrangements in place for the 

Audit and Governance Committee to agree such corporate policies as the 
information management policy or to appoint individuals to the key positions 
required to manage information processes and procedures within the LCRCA.  To 
that end the considerations by this Audit and Governance Committee will be duly 
referred to a meeting of the LCRCA for final sign off.  

 
 

Page 177

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/governance/policy-documents/#freedom-of-information
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/governance/policy-documents/#freedom-of-information


3.11 It is anticipated that the future revised constitution will also consider the terms of 
reference for the Audit and Governance Committee.  It will determine, through the 
process outlined above, whether it will be appropriate for the Audit and Governance 
Committee to have delegated authority to agree such items in the future on behalf 
of the LCRCA. 

 
Confidential Reporting/Whistleblowing 

 
3.12 It is also important for the LCRCA to have in place its own Confidential 

Reporting/Whistleblowing policy.  The need for this has become greater since an 
increased number of staff have been appointed to work directly for the LCRCA.   
Similarly to the information management arrangements it is proposed that the 
Confidential Reporting/Whistleblowing policy adopted mirror as far as possible the 
one adopted by Merseytravel.  The proposed Confidential Reporting/Whistleblowing 
policy is attached for consideration (Appendix 4) and if agreeable recommendation 
on to the LCRCA meeting. 

 
3.13 The Confidential Reporting/Whistleblowing Policy is one of a suite of counter-fraud 

policies. Further counter-fraud policies will be submitted for approval in due course. 
 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
  None arising from the contents of this report. 
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
  None arising from the contents of this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
  None arising from the contents of this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
  
  None arising from the contents of this report. 
 
 
5.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
5.1 Updating the LCRCA constitution in the way proposed ensures that it is up to date, 

reflects the reality in terms of governance of the LCRCA and allows both the Audit 
and Governance Committee and LCRCA members to consider it in advance of 
adoption.   Similarly consideration and onward recommendation of both the 
information management policies and arrangements and the Confidential 
Reporting/Whistleblowing policy will ensure that appropriate governance is in place. 

 
 
 

Page 178



6.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 None arising from the contents of this report. 
 
 
7.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
7.1 Once agreed a revised and updated constitution will be included on the website for 

the LCRCA.  Where appropriate and necessary, information governance information 
and Confidential Reporting/Whistleblowing policy will also be included on the 
website. 

 

8.  CONCLUSION 

8.1 The report: 
 

 commends an approach to revising the LCRCA constitution  

 seeks consideration of the terms of reference of the Audit and Governance 
Committee 

 requests that certain policies and information management arrangements be 
adopted ultimately by the LCRCA. 

 requests that an individual officer be appointed to the position of SIRO for the 
LCRCA. 

 Requests that a Confidential Reporting/Whistleblowing report be adopted for 
the LCRCA. 

 
 

JILL COULE 
Chief Legal Officer & Monitoring Officer 

 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
Jill Coule, Chief Legal Officer & Monitoring Officer, 0151 330 1855 
Andrew Henderson, Senior Information Management Officer, Merseytravel, 0151 330 1679 
Dave Knott, Audit Manager, Merseytravel, 0151 330 1122 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One –  LCRCA Publication Scheme 
Appendix Two –  LCRCA IMG Annual Report 2017/18 
Appendix Three -  Information Management Policy Framework 
Appendix Four -  Draft Confidential Reporting/Whistleblowing Policy 
 
Background Documents:  
Nil 

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



G:\FOI\Publication Scheme\CA Publication Scheme 

APPENDIX 1 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Publication Scheme 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Title Publication Scheme  

Document Owner Information Management Group  

Author Andy Henderson  

Created Date October 2018  

Review Date October 2020  

 
 
 
 

This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority.  It may not be reproduced or used for any other purpose than that 

for which it is supplied without the written permission of the Combined 
Authority. 

 
Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version please check OnePlace or the 

Combined Authority website 
  

Page 181



G:\FOI\Publication Scheme\CA Publication Scheme 

What is a Publication Scheme?  

 

The Freedom of Information Act 2000 (commonly referred to as ‘FOI’) is designed to 

increase transparency and accountability in the public sector by granting access to 

recorded information held by public bodies, such as the Liverpool City Region 

Combined Authority (‘the Combined Authority’).   

 

One of the requirements of FOI is that public authorities should provide a guide for 

the information they publish. This is called a ‘Publication Scheme’, and sets out  

 

 the classes of information which they publish or intend to publish;  

 the manner in which the information will be published; and  

 whether the information is available free of charge or on payment.   

 

The Combined Authority’s Publication Scheme consists of information already 

published and held by us. That means that all information in our Publication Scheme 

is either available for you on our website, from our offices or by contacting us.   

 

1. Who We Are and What We Do 

 

The Combined Authority was established on 1st April 2014 under the Local 

Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009, bringing devolved 

powers and functions to the region. 

 

The Combined Authority’s area is that covered by the local government areas of the 

principal councils of Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton, St. Helens and Wirral. 

 

The Combined Authority is a local authority in its own right. It has eight members, 

being 

 

 a directly elected Mayor; 

 a councillor (elected member) appointed by each of the ‘Constituent Councils’, 

being the principal councils for Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton, St. 

Helens and Wirral; and 

 a member, who is non-voting, appointed by the Local Enterprise Partnership. 

 

Documents such as the Combined Authority constitution, the Liverpool City Region 

Devolution Agreement and Key Decisions can be found at this link. 

 

Details of Lead Officers, Portfolio Holders, Councillors & Mayoral Advisors can be 

found at this link. 

 

Page 182

http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/documents
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/governance/elected-members/


G:\FOI\Publication Scheme\CA Publication Scheme 

The Combined Authority’s Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service is Frank 

Rogers. 

 

The Directors of the Combined Authority are 

 

 Mark Bousfield (Director of Commercial Development & Investment) 

 Liz Chandler (Director of Corporate Development) 

 John Fogarty 9Director of Corporate Services) 

 Mick Noone (Director of Integrated Transport) 

 Kirsty Pearce (Director of Policy & Strategic Commissioning) 

 

Constituent bodies 

 

The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority is made up of the City Region’s 6 

local authorities: 

 Halton Borough Council 

 Knowsley Council 

 Liverpool City Council 

 St. Helens Council 

 Sefton Council 

 Wirral Borough Council 

 

These bodies, along with the Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership, 

have a long history of working together to further develop the economic prosperity of 

the Liverpool City Region.  

 

In addition, West Lancashire Council and Warrington Council are Associate 

Members of the Combined Authority by virtue of decision of the Combined Authority 

on 19th September 2014, which can be viewed at this link. 

 

Further information can be found on the What We Do section of this website at this 

link. 

 

Contact us 

 

You can contact us in a number of ways:- 

 

Email: info@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 

Freedom of Information: FOI@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk  

Data Protection: DPO@merseytravel.gov.uk  

Via out website: http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/contact-us  

In writing: Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, Mann Island, PO Box 1976, 

Liverpool, L69 3HN 

Page 183

http://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/Home.aspx
http://www.knowsley.gov.uk/
http://liverpool.gov.uk/
http://www.sthelens.gov.uk/
http://www.sefton.gov.uk/
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/
http://www.liverpoollep.org/
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/
http://www.warrington.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.merseytravel.uk.net/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=364&MId=1794
http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do
http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do
mailto:info@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:FOI@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:DPO@merseytravel.gov.uk
http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/contact-us


G:\FOI\Publication Scheme\CA Publication Scheme 

Telephone: 0151 330 1467 

Twitter: @LpoolCityRegion 

 

2. What We Spend and How We Spend It 

 

The Combined Authority publishes its Statement of Accounts and Revenue Budget, 

both current and historic, on our website at the links below. 

  

Budget for the Combined Authority  

 

Budget information for the forthcoming year can be found in reports of the Combined 

Authority at this link.  

 

Such reports are routinely discussed at the February meeting. 

  

Annual Accounts for 2017/18 for the Combined Authority 

Annual Accounts 

Annual Audit 

LCRCA Annual Audit Letter 2017-18 

 

Financial monitoring reports 

Quarter 3 2017/18 

 

Annual Accounts for 2016/17 for the Combined Authority 

Annual Accounts 

External Audit Report  

  

Annual Accounts for 2015/16 for the Combined Authority 

Annual Accounts 

 

Annual Accounts for 2014/15 for the Combined Authority 

Annual Accounts 

 

Expenditure 

 

Due to the way in which the Combined Authority’s finances are administered, details 

of expenditure over £500 are currently published with Merseytravel data at this link. 

 

Combined Authority expenditure can be identified in the data by the ‘CA’ prefix in the 

Subjective Code and Cost Centre Code columns. 

 

Procurement of services is managed on behalf of the Combined Authority by 

Merseytravel. Public tender opportunities are advertised and managed through The 

Chest.  

Page 184

https://twitter.com/lpoolcityregion?lang=en
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_ACC_FINAL_1718.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_ACC_FINAL_1718.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_Ann_Audit_201718.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_Ann_Audit_201718-1.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_MONITOR_RPT_1718_Q3.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_ACC_FINAL_1617.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_EXTAUDIT_1617.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_ANN_ACC_201516.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_ANN_ACC_201415.pdf
https://www.merseytravel.gov.uk/about-us/doing-business-with/Pages/Monthly-Expenditures.aspx
https://www.the-chest.org.uk/?openForm
https://www.the-chest.org.uk/?openForm


G:\FOI\Publication Scheme\CA Publication Scheme 

 

Details of contracts that have already been awarded can be found on the Contract 

Register under Merseytravel. 

 

3. What Our Priorities Are and How We Are Doing 

 

Details of our strategies and business plans for the services we provide to our 

communities can be found by this link. 

 

Reports indicating service provision and performance assessments, as well as 

reports by external inspectors and statistical information are regularly considered by 

the Combined Authority’s various committees, which can be found at this link.  

 

Details of the Combined Authority’s compliance with requests under the Freedom of 

Information Act can be found at this link. 

 

4. How We Make Decisions 

 

The Combined Authority holds regular meetings to review our progress and to shape 

our future work.  

 

Dates, times, minutes and agenda packs of Combined Authority meetings, including 

the Appointments & Disciplinary Committee the Audit & Governance Committee, the 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee and the Transport Committee, can be found at this 

link . 

 

These meetings are all open to the public1 and are held in the Authority Chamber at 

No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP.  

 

Details of any public consultation exercises will be published on the Combined 

Authority’s website and those of relevant partners, and will be promoted by the 

Combined Authority through the media. 

 

  

                                                           
1 Please note that some items of business are exempt under the Local Government 

Act 1972 due to their sensitivity. During these discussions the public will be asked to 

leave the Authority Chamber and the details of these matters will not be available in 

the public version of the meeting’s minutes and agenda packs. 

 

Page 185

https://procontract.due-north.com/ContractsRegister/portal/thechest
https://procontract.due-north.com/ContractsRegister/portal/thechest
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/governance/policy-documents/
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/uuCoverpage.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/governance/policy-documents/#freedom-of-information
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/uuCoverpage.aspx?bcr=1
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/uuCoverpage.aspx?bcr=1


G:\FOI\Publication Scheme\CA Publication Scheme 

5. Our Policies & Procedures 

 

The policies and procedures we use to deliver our services and carry out our 

responsibilities can be found on the Policy Documents page of this website at this 

link. 

 

Details of how we process your personal information can be found on the 

corresponding pages throughout our websites, such as here and here. 

 

6. Lists & Registers 

 

This class contains information about lists and registers available to the public. 

 

The assets of the Combined Authority can be found here. 

 

A register of each councillor’s financial and other interests is outlined on 

each councillors’ information page. 

 

A register of gifts and hospitality for councillors is available on request by contacting 

our Committee Services Manager, Trudy Bedford 

(trudy.bedford@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk). 

 

7. The Services We Offer 

 

The Combined Authority provides transparent and accountable strategic decision 

making for  

 

 economic development, 

 transport,  

 strategic housing and  

 employment and skills functions.  

 

We are focused entirely on strategic governance to facilitate economic growth. 

 

More information on our services can be found throughout this website, including 

What We Do and Policy Documents pages, while updates on our work are published 

on our News page. 

 

Fees & Charges 

 

Information will be provided free where possible, however, in some cases a charge 

will be made to cover administration and disbursement costs. If the information can 

be and is supplied electronically no charges will be levied. Those items which are 

Page 186

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/governance/policy-documents/
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/governance/policy-documents/
https://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/privacy-policy
http://www.lcrskillsforgrowth.org.uk/privacy-policy
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_ASSETREG_JUN18.pdf
http://moderngov.merseytravel.uk.net/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=366&Year=0
mailto:trudy.bedford@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do
http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/documents
http://liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/news-194


G:\FOI\Publication Scheme\CA Publication Scheme 

commercially available will attract the relevant charge, but there may also be 

occasions where the following charges will apply: 

 

 Photocopying charges of 10p per page plus an administration fee plus 

postage.   

 The fees of external printers where the Combined Authority does not have the 

equipment to copy large items.   

 Staff time in locating or retrieving information at an hourly rate as determined 

by the Secretary of State under FOI (£25 per hour).   

 

Requests for Other Information 

 

There may be times when you require information that is not covered by this 

Publication Scheme.   

 

The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and Data Protection Act 2018 

(DPA) grant certain rights to any information held by the Combined Authority that 

relates to you. You will be required to provide proof of your identity and state the 

information you are interested in receiving. The Combined Authority has one 

calendar month to provide you with a response. 

 

Similarly, the Combined Authority must also consider any requests from third parties 

for the disclosure of personal data in line with the GDPR and DPA, such as when it is 

required for criminal investigations or legal proceedings. Disclosure will only take 

place if we are satisfied that it is strictly necessary for those purposes. 

 

For further details, or to make a request, please contact DPO@merseytravel.gov.uk 

or write to: 

 

 Senior Information Management Officer 

 Merseytravel 

 PO Box 1976 

 Liverpool 

 L69 3HN 

 

Under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 you have the right to ask for recorded 

information held by the Combined Authority. There are certain reasons why some 

information may not be able to be provided, such as commercial sensitivity, or if it 

contains someone else’s personal information, but the Combined Authority will 

provide the information it is able to within 20 working days. Reasons will be provided 

if information cannot be supplied for any reason. 

 

In order for a request to be valid under FOI, it must meet the following conditions: 

Page 187

mailto:DPO@merseytravel.gov.uk


G:\FOI\Publication Scheme\CA Publication Scheme 

 

 be in writing;  

 state your name and address so we can respond to your request; and  

 describe the information being requested  

 

In some circumstances a fee may be payable, such as for postage, but in the 

majority of cases you will receive the information free of charge.   

 

FOI limits the cost that a public body can spend responding to an enquiry to £600 for 

central government and £450 for all other authorities (such as the Combined 

Authority).  This is calculated at a rate of £25 per hour of officer work, meaning that 

for the Combined Authority the limit for responding to a request is 18 total hours.  

The following activities can be taken into account when calculating this total: 

 

 determining whether the requested information is held 

 locating the information within the organisation 

 retrieving the document(s) that hold the information 

 extracting the requested information from the original document 

 

Any time spent redacting sensitive information or considering the application of any 

exemptions does not count towards this total. 

 

While there is no obligation for a public body to respond if it is estimated that this 

limit will be exceeded, they may choose to issue a fees notice for the required extra 

work at this same rate (e.g. if a request would take 20 hours of work, the first 18 

hours would be free, but the extra two hours would cost £50).  If this is offered, it 

would be up to you to decide if you would like this work carried out. 

 

If your request is for information relating to the environment it will be dealt with in 

accordance with the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (EIR). These 

are broadly similar to FOI, but differ slightly when it comes to thinks like reasons why 

certain information cannot be released. When appropriate, this will be explained to 

you in our response. 

 

For further details, or to make a request under FOI or EIR, please contact 

FOI@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk or write to: 

 

 Senior Information Management Officer 

 Merseytravel 

 PO Box 1976 

 Liverpool 

 L69 3HN 

 

Page 188

mailto:FOI@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


G:\FOI\Publication Scheme\CA Publication Scheme 

The information available under the Publication Scheme will be provided in other 

forms and formats upon request, where it is reasonable to do so. 

 

 

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

 
 

MERSEYTRAVEL  
 

 
 

 
 

Information Management Group 
 

Annual Report 
2017/18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contents: 
 

1. The Role of the Information Management Group 
2. IMG Membership 2017/18 
3. Summary of work undertaken in 2017/18 
4. Key Achievements of IMG in 2017/18 
5. Looking Forwards    

Page 139Page 191



 

2 

 

 
 
1. The Role of the Information Management Group 
 
The Information Management Group (IMG) was established in July 2015 as a 
sub-group of the Primary Assurance & Risk Group  (PARG) to ensure that 
Merseytravel’s legal obligations in respect of Data Protection and Freedom of 
Information are met and that risks associated with information governance are 
appropriately managed. 
 
IMG’s Terms of Reference were last reviewed and approved by Merseytravel 
(the Executive) in January 2017 and define the responsibilities of the group 
follows :- 

 The implementation or the monitoring of the implementation of any 
recommendations made in Internal or External Audit Reports relating to 
matters of  Information Governance; 

 Development and maintenance of an Information Management Policy 
Framework which is underpinned by a cohesive suite of policies and 
procedures in relation to information management, security and 
governance across Merseytravel; 

 Development and maintenance of an Information Risk Register; 

 Providing a forum for the sharing of best practice and discussing and 
resolving operational issues brought by group members / officers; 

 Development and maintenance of an Information Management 
information page on the corporate intranet (OnePlace); 

 Development and delivery of Information Management training and 
raising awareness through, for example, e-bulletins, e-learning, 
induction and refresher training; 

 Updating and reporting activity / concerns and emerging risks to the 
Primary Assurance & Risk Group / SIRO / Merseytravel (the Executive) 
and the Audit, Risk & Governance Board when required / appropriate; 

 Establishment and maintenance of the Merseytravel Publication 
Scheme; 

 Development and maintenance of a Merseytravel Retention Schedule 
for the retention and destruction of data, in accordance with Local 
Government Classification Scheme (LGCS) guidance; 

 Maintaining up-to-date knowledge of legislative requirements in respect 
of information security, cyber-security, etc  and responding to the 
effects of new Government initiatives and new legislation/regulations 
as appropriate; 

 Liaison with the SIRO / DPO and the Information Commissioner in 
respect of correspondence, complaints and / or data breaches; 

 Monitor FOI / EIR / subject access / CCTV requests and compliance 
with legislative requirements in response to such requests; and 

 Develop and implement a formal process in respect of third party 
access and information sharing to ensure that all partners, contractors 
and suppliers comply with the Merseytravel security policies. 

 
 

Page 140Page 192



 

3 

 

IMG aligns its meetings to precede the bi-monthly meetings of PARG and 
meets every eight weeks. Meetings are chaired by the Senior Information Risk 
Owner (SIRO) and in the absence of the SIRO, the Deputy SIRO chairs the 
meeting. 
 
IMG provide an update report on activity to PARG as a standard agenda item 
and additional reporting on specific issues as / if requested by PARG, the 
SIRO, the Audit, Risk & Governance Board, individual Directors or the 
Executive (Merseytravel). PARG will provide regular updates to the Executive 
(Merseytravel).  
 

This Annual Report  will be presented to both Merseytravel and the 

Merseytravel Audit, Risk & Governance Board. 

 
2. IMG Membership 2017/18 
 
• The Director of Resources (SIRO) 
• The Head of Internal Audit  (Deputy SIRO) 
• The Head of IT 
• The Head of Legal, Democratic Services & Procurement 
• The Senior Information Management Officer 
• The Head of People & Customer Development  
• The Head of Policy & LTP Development 
• Corporate Communications Manager 
• Police Operations Manager 
• IT Governance Officer 
• The Head of Customer Delivery 
 
3. Summary of work undertaken in 2017/18 
 
A summary of the activities of IMG during the year are detailed in Table 1 
below: 
 
          TABLE 1 

MEETING DATE DETAILS OF BUSINESS ATTENDEES 

 
24 May 2017 

 

- Information Management 
Policy Framework   

- FOI Disclosure Log  
   

- Data Intelligence Project 
Update Report 

- GDPR Sub-Group  
   

- Information Breach – 
Concessionary Travel 
Application   

- Information Risk Register 
- Internal Audit Reports – 

Summary Report 
-  Quarter 4 FOI Report 

(2016/17)   

Stephanie Donaldson 
Gary Evans 
Louise Outram 
Alastair Ramsay 
Ian Hawkins 
Andrew Henderson 
Sue Twidale 
Colin Moneypenny 
Katriona Lloyd  

Page 141Page 193



 

4 

 

- Issues Bulletin  

 
17 July 2017 

 

- Information Management 
Policy Framework –  
Information Security Incident 
Protocol: Update 

- Data Intelligence Project – 
Update 

- Rail Data Feasibility Study- 
Update   

- GDPR Sub-Group- Update 
- PCI Sub-Group Update 

   
- Information Asset Register 
- Information Risk Register 

   
- Internal Audit Reports – 

Summary Report Q1 2017/18 
   

- Quarter 1 FOI Report 
(2017/18)  

- Issues Bulletin   
   

- Information Governance 
Internal Audit (SIAS) Follow-
Up review update  
    

Stephanie Donaldson 
Liz Storey 
Carole Carroll 
Alastair Ramsay 
Ian Hawkins 
Andrew  Henderson 
Sue Twidale 
Liam Phelan 
Stephen Littler 
Paul Johnson   
 

 
22 September 

2017 
 

- Information Management 
Policy Framework  
Information Security Incident 
Protocol: Update 
Publication Scheme 

- Data Intelligence Project – 
Update  

- GDPR Sub-Group- Update 
- PCI Sub-Group Update 
- IT service notifications 

   
- Information Risk Register 

   
- Internal Audit Reports – 

Summary Report Q2 2017/18 
- Information Governance 

Internal Audit (SIAS) Follow-
Up Report 

- Off-site Storage – Audit 
Report   

- Issues Bulletin   
   

Stephanie Donaldson 
Andrew Henderson 
Louise Outram 
Carole Carroll 
Alastair Ramsay 
Gary Evans 
Liz Storey  
Ian Hawkins 
Sue Twidale 
 

 
22 November 

2017 
 

- Information Management 
Policy Framework  

- Information Security Incident 
Protocol 

- Data Intelligence Project  
- GDPR Sub-Group- Update & 

Stephanie Donaldson 
Gary Evans 
Ian Hawkins 
Andrew Henderson 
Louise Outram 
Jo Sawyer (in place of 

Page 142Page 194



 

5 

 

Action Plan 
- PCI Sub-Group Update 
- Off-Site Storage Sub-Group  

TORs and Action Plan      
  

- IT Service Notifications – 
Update  

- Information Risk Register 
  

- FOI Quarterly Stats Report 
(Q2)                                                               

- Issues Bulletin   
   

Liz Storey from this point 
onwards) 
Anthony Tierney 
Sue Twidale 
Katriona Lloyd  
Paul Collins  
 

 
17 January 2018 

 

- Information Management 
Policy Framework  

- Data Intelligence Project 
Update 

- GDPR Sub-Group- Update: 
Update / ICO self- 
assessment outcome & 
Action Plan  

- Data Protection Impact 
Assessment – Draft   

- Fair Processing Notice 
template – Draft  

- PCI Sub-Group Update 
- Off-Site Storage Sub-Group 

Update   
Updated Action Plan  
  
Briefing Note: Next Steps  
Template / Guidance for 
storage requests  

- IT Service Notifications – 
Update   

- Information Risk Register 
   

- FOI Quarterly Stats Report 
(Q3)   

- Audit Reports – Information 
Management Issues arising 
(Q3)  

- Issues Bulletin   
   

Stephanie Donaldson 
Carole Carroll 
Ian Hawkins 
Andrew Henderson    
Louise Outram    
Alistair Ramsey  
Jo Sawyer 
Anthony Tierney  
Sue Twidale 
Colin Moneypenny 
 

 
14 March 2018 

 
 
 

- Information Management 
Policy Framework                                

- Request from ARG Board – 
Information Governance 
Policy development 

- GDPR Sub-Group- Update & 
Action Plan                    

-  PCI Sub-Group Update                                                                                                   
- Off-Site Storage Sub-Group 

Update                                                                         
- IMG Terms of Reference & 

Stephanie Donaldson 
Gary Evans 
Ian Hawkins 
Louise Outram 
Alastair Ramsay 
Joanna Sawyer 
Sue Twidale 
Liam Phelan 
 

Page 143Page 195



 

6 

 

Membership 2018/19                                              
- IMG Annual Report 2017/18 

(for agreement)                               
- 11KBW Law Conference – 

Feedback                                             
- IT Service Notifications – 

Update                                                                               
- Information Risk Register                                                                                              
- Issues Bulletin                                                                                                                    

 -  Stephanie Donaldson 
Gary Evans 
Liam Phelan 
Andy Henderson 
Louise Outram 
Alastair Ramsay 
Sue Twidale 
Paul Hart 
 

 
During the year, the Group established or maintained overview of three sub-
groups as follows: 

 PCI Sub-Group; 

 GDPR Sub-Group; and 

 Off-Site Storage Sub-Group. 
 
Sub-group terms of reference are attached at Appendix 1. IMG also maintain 
an oversight and support role to the Data Intelligence and Review project, led 
by the Policy and Performance team, which was previously a workstream of 
the Support Services Transformation Project (SSTP). 
 
4. Key Achievements of IMG in 2017/18 
 

 Facilitating data protection training across the business, 
delivered by the Senior Information Management Officer; 

 Development and maintenance of a comprehensive information 
management policy framework; 

 Leading on General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 
readiness; 

 Undertaking a significant piece of work in relation to the off-site 
storage facility and the volume and cost of the documentation 
held therein and associated GDPR and data protection 
implications. 

 Establishing a Disclosure Log of responses to Freedom of 
Information requests on Merseytravel’s website 
 

5. Looking Forwards 
 

The key focus of the IMG during 2018/19 will be to build upon the work 
completed during 2017/18 to embed and maintain effective information 
risk management arrangements and appropriate overview of legislative 
compliance. 

Page 144Page 196



 

7 

 

 
Future considerations and challenges for 2018/19 include: 
 

 Ensuring GDPR compliance can be demonstrated in the lead up 
to the implementation date of 25 May 2018; 

 Reducing the costs and risks associated with the off-site storage 
facility; 

 Ensuring Level 1 PCI compliance following the roll-out of 
contactless payments at the Mersey Tunnels; 

 To appraise PARG, Merseytravel and the Audit, Risk & 
Governance Board  in respect of information governance, risk 
management and assurance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 145Page 197



 

8 

 

 
APPENDIX 1 
 

INFORMATION MANAGEMENT GROUP 
 
1. GDPR  Sub Group 

 
MEMBERSHIP & TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Members: 
 
Stephanie Donaldson – Head of Internal Audit / Deputy SIRO 
Louise Outram – Head of Legal, Democratic Services & Procurement 
Andy Henderson – Senior Information Management Officer 
Ian Hawkins – IT Service Delivery Manager 
Janet Roach – Customer Delivery Manager 
 
 
Purpose: 
1. To review GDPR requirements 
2. To consider any relevant guidance and address issues thereunder. 
3. To consider how GDPR impacts on Merseytravel and its services 
4. To engage with relevant officers to effect introduction of GDPR compliant 
practices and procedures. 
5. To give guidance in respect of / amend any processes / procedures as 
required. 
6. To keep the purpose and composition of the Group under review. 
7. To revert to IMG in respect of GDPR and readiness for compliance. 

 
 

2. Off-Site Storage Sub Group 
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

Members: 
 
Stephanie Donaldson – Head of Internal Audit (Chair) 
Paul Collins – Principal  Auditor (Technical) 
Louise Outram – Head of Legal, Democratic Services & Procurement 
Andy Henderson – Senior Information Management Officer 
Al Ramsay – Head of People & Customer Development 
Steve Carlile - Service Controller & Supervisor 
 
Purpose: 
 
1. To review the findings of the Internal Audit Report: Off-site Storage 
(October 2017) 
2. To provide a response to the recommendations contained therein as 
follows: 

 Suggested action 

 Responsible Officer 

Page 146Page 198



 

9 

 

 Implementation Date 

3. To co-ordinate and facilitate implementation of the recommendations 
outlined in the above Report. 
 
4. To provide regular updates to the Information Management Group in 
respect of: 

 Actions ongoing and completed 

 Information Management Risks arising and / or addressed 

 Any other emerging / key issues or concerns 

5. To keep the TOR’s / purpose of this Sub Group under review 
 
 
3 .PCI  Sub Group 

 
MEMBERSHIP & TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
Members: 
 
Ian Hawkins – IT Service Delivery Manager 
Rachel Hellier – IT Solutions Architect 
Gary Evans – Head of Customer Delivery 
Sarah Johnston – Head of Finance 
Paul Collins – Principal  Auditor (Technical) 
Andy Henderson – Senior Information Management Officer 
 
Purpose: 
 
To facilitate the PCI Self-Assessment Questionnaire process and ensure 
compliance with the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCIDSS) 

Page 147Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 200



  

IMPF January 2019 

APPENDIX 3 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
                
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Information 

Management 

Policy Framework 

Compliance 

Efficiency 

Security Quality 

Sharing 

COMPLIANCE 
 
COMPLIANCE 

 Guest Wi-Fi Protocol 

 Mobile Device Acceptable Use 
Policy 

 Information Security Incident 
Management Protocol 

 IT Acceptable Use Policy 

 IT Security Policy  

 Social Media Policy 

 Record Retention Schedule & 
Guidance 

 Records Management Policy & 
Procedures 

 IMG Terms of Reference 

 Publication Scheme 
 

 Media Policy for Staff  

 Third Party Access Agreements & 
Data Sharing Templates 

 Data Protection Impact 
Assessments Guidance & 
Template 

Management 

 Information Asset Register 

 Information Risk Register 

 Records Management 
Policy & Procedures 

 CCTV Code of Practice 

 Data Protection Impact 
Assessment Guidance & 
Template 

 Data Protection Policy 

 Fair Processing Notice Template 

 FOI & EIR Policy 

 PCI DSS Policy  
 

Key: 
Black – In Place & Current 

Red – Not In Place / Requires Review 

P
age 201



  

IMPF January 2019 

 

Document Date of Last Review Date of Expiry Status 

CCTV Code of Practice May 2018 May 2020 In Place & Current 

Data Protection Policy May 2018 May 2020 In Place & Current 

FOI & EIR Policy November 2018 November 2020 In Place & Current 

IMG Terms of Reference January 2017 January 2019 Requires Review 

Information Asset Register May 2018 May 2020 In Place & Current 

Information Security Incident 
Management Protocol 

May 2018 May 2020 In Place & Current 

IT Acceptable Use Policy September 2017 April 2019 In Place & Current 

IT Security Policy November 2017 November 2018 Requires Review 

Media Policy for Staff  July 2018 July 2019 In Place & Current 

Mobile Device Acceptable Use Policy September 2017 April 2019 In Place & Current 

PCI DSS Policy  August 2017 January 2019 Requires Review 

Publication Scheme September 2018 September 2020 In Place & Current 

Records Management Policy & 
Procedures 

December 2018 December 2020 In Place & Current 

Record Retention Schedule & 
Guidance 

March 2017 March 2020 In Place & Current 

Social Media Policy October 2016 October 2018 Requires Review 

    

No End Date    

Data Protection Impact Assessment 
Guidance & Template 

N/A N/A In Place & Current 

Fair Processing Notice Template N/A N/A In Place & Current 

Guest Wi-Fi Protocol August 2016 Not Stated In Place & Current 

Third Party Access Agreements & 
Data Sharing Templates 

Templates held by Legal 
Commercial Team 

N/A In Place & Current 

P
age 202



 

 

 
 

MERSEYTRAVEL  
 

 
 

 

Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Policy 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version v3.1 

Approved By Merseytravel 
11 April 2018 

Created Date May 2016 

Review Date 2 March 2018 

Expiry Date 31 March 2021 

 
This document is the property of Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used 

for any other purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written 
permission of Merseytravel. 

 
Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 

 
 

Page 203



MERSEYTRAVEL 
   

 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Purpose 2 
 

2. Definitions 2 
 

3. Policy Statement 3 
 
4. Scope 3 
 
5. Policy Evaluation 4 
 
6. Responsibilities 4 

 

7. Guidance 5
  
 How to Raise a Concern 5 
 
 Anonymous Allegations 5 
 
 Untrue Allegations 5 

 
 How Merseytravel will Respond to a Concern    6 
 
 How the Matter can be taken further      7 

 
8. Appendices 

 
APPENDIX A: Public Interest Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998 8 
 
APPENDIX B: Contact List 9 

  
 
 
  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 204



MERSEYTRAVEL 
   

 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 2 
 

1. Purpose 
 
This Policy establishes the arrangements for the reporting of concerns 
(“whistleblowing”) by a Merseytravel employee and others, including agency / 
temporary workers, contractors and trainees. It outlines how a concern can be raised 
internally, rather than overlooking the matter or “blowing the whistle” externally. 
 
Merseytravel has adopted this Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy and 
associated guidance to advise those to whom the Policy applies how to raise concerns 
confidentially and without fear of victimisation, subsequent discrimination or 
disadvantage. 
 
This Policy and guidance aims to:  
 

 Encourage you to feel confident in raising serious concerns; 

 Reassure you that Merseytravel takes Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) 
seriously; 

 Provide avenues for you to raise those concerns and receive feedback on any 
action taken; 

 Ensure that you receive a response to your concerns and that you are aware of how 
to pursue them if you are not satisfied; and  

 Reassure you that you will be protected from possible reprisals or victimisation if 
you have a reasonable belief that you have made any disclosure in the public 
interest and in accordance with the Protected Disclosure Provisions. 

 
This policy does not replace the corporate complaints procedure, Disciplinary Policy or 
the Grievance Policy. 
 

2. Definitions 
 
Confidential Reporting or “Whistleblowing” is the term used when an employee raises 
a concern about wrongdoing or malpractice in the workplace that has a public interest 
aspect to it. Officially this is called “‘making a disclosure in the public interest”. 
Whistleblowing is important to protect and reassure the workforce, and to maintain a 
healthy working culture and an efficient organisation1. 
 
A grievance or private complaint is a dispute about an employee’s own employment 
position and has no public interest dimension. The Merseytravel Grievance Policy 
exists to enable an employee or group of employees to raise a grievance or complaint 
relating to their own employment. 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
1
 National Audit Office: Making a Whistleblowing Policy at Work (March 2014) 

Page 205



MERSEYTRAVEL 
   

 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 3 
 

3. Policy Statement 
 
Merseytravel will; 
 

 Investigate all concerns which fall within the scope of this Policy; 

 Respond quickly when concerns are raised; 

 Inform persons bringing concerns forward of the outcome of any investigation 
subject to legal constraints; 

 Treat all concerns in confidence and every effort will be made not to reveal the 
identity of the Whistleblower without consent, unless required by law. 

 Not tolerate harassment of employees or any other person who brings forward 
a concern;  

 Endeavour to ensure that employees are not discriminated against or suffer 
detriment as a result of raising a concern; and 

 Will take appropriate action in the event of an individual suffering detriment as 
a result of raising a concern. 

 
 

4. Scope 

 
Merseytravel’s Whistleblowing arrangements are in accordance with the 
Whistleblowing Arrangements Code of Practice (PAS 1998:2008). 
 
Protection for employees who “whistleblow” is documented in The Public Interest 
Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998.  A summary of the main provisions of the PIDA is 
attached at Appendix A of this Policy and Guidance.  
 
This Policy covers employees and others, including agency / temporary workers, 
contractors and trainees. There is no minimum period of service and no upper age 
limit. 

 
Merseytravel’s Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy is intended to cover any 
concerns that fall outside the scope of other procedures. Examples of disclosures that 
may be made under this policy include (but are not limited to): 
 

 Conduct which is an offence or a breach of law; 

 Disclosures related to miscarriages of justice; 

 Health and safety risks, including risks to the public as well as other employees; 

 Damage to the environment; 

 Breach of Merseytravel policy and procedures; 

 The unauthorised use of public funds; 

 Possible fraud, bribery and corruption; and 

 Other unethical conduct. This may include falsification or concealment of 
information, breach of confidentiality and making potentially libellous, untrue or 
slanderous comments. 

 
The above list is not exhaustive. 

Page 206



MERSEYTRAVEL 
   

 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 4 
 

5. Policy Evaluation 
 
Evaluation of the policy will be undertaken as appropriate by the Merseytravel Audit, 
Risk & Governance Board. Revisions to this Policy will be subject to formal approval 
by Merseytravel. 
 
 

6. Responsibilities 
 
The Director General (Chief Executive) has overall responsibility for the maintenance 
and operation of the procedures detailed in this policy.   
 
The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for the implementation and day to day 
monitoring of this policy and making staff aware of this Policy. 
 
Merseytravel is committed to the highest legal, ethical and moral standards in the 
conduct of its business.  In line with that commitment we expect employees who are 
either aware of malpractice, or suspect it, to report it in accordance with this Policy. 
 
When bringing forward a concern it is the responsibility of individual employees to 
have a reasonable belief that the concern raised is substantially true and is made in 
the public interest. An employee doing so will be protected against recriminations, 
victimisation or harassment. This applies even if, after investigation, the disclosure is 
found to be incorrect or unfounded. 
 
All concerns will be treated in confidence and every effort will be made not to reveal 
the identity of the Whistleblower without consent, unless required by law. However, a 
Whistleblower may be asked to make a statement or come forward as a witness, for 
example, during disciplinary proceedings. 
 
If an allegation is found to have been made when known to be false, this will not be 
protected as the disclosure cannot be in the public interest. Such allegations will be 
treated as serious misconduct and may result in disciplinary action against the 
employee who made the disclosure. 
 
Merseytravel will uphold the principles of employment and criminal law and protect as 
far as it is reasonable to do so, the rights of the accused.   
 
Any investigation into allegations of potential malpractice will be conducted with 
confidentiality and will not influence or be influenced by any disciplinary or redundancy 
procedures that already affect you. 
 
All employees should familiarise themselves with this Policy and if necessary, seek 
clarification from their Line Manager, or any of the officers detailed in the contact list at 
Appendix B. 
 
 
 

Page 207



MERSEYTRAVEL 
   

 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 5 
 

7. Guidance 
 
How to Raise a Concern 
 
Where you have a concern which falls under the scope of the Policy, Merseytravel 
encourages you to raise your concerns internally, rather than overlooking the matter or 
“blowing the whistle” externally. You should normally raise your concerns initially with 
your immediate supervisor or manager. However, dependent on the seriousness and 
sensitivity of matter you may choose to raise your concerns outside of your direct line 
management. A list of contact officers with whom concerns can be confidentially raised 
or further advice and guidance can be sought is attached as Appendix B. 
 
Concerns may be raised verbally or in writing.  The earlier you express the concern 
the easier it is for Merseytravel to take appropriate action. 
 
Although you are not expected to prove beyond doubt the truth of an allegation, you 
will need to demonstrate to the person contacted that there are reasonable grounds for 
your concern. 
 
You may wish to consider discussing your concern with a colleague first and you may 
find it easier to raise the matter if there are two (or more) of you who have the same 
concerns.  
 
You may invite your trade union, professional association representative, a friend or 
legal advisor to be present during any meetings or interviews in connection with the 
concerns you have raised.  
 
Anonymous Allegations 
  
You are encouraged to put your name to your allegation whenever possible. Concerns 
expressed anonymously can be more difficult to investigate / substantiate but will be 
considered at the organisation’s discretion. 
 
In exercising this discretion the factors to be taken into account would include: 
 

 The seriousness of the issues raised; 

 The credibility of the concern; and 

 Available evidence / sources from which to substantiate the concern. 
 

Untrue Allegations 
 
In accordance with the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013, there is no 
requirement for disclosures to be true in order for Whistleblowers to receive statutory 
protection. Therefore, if you report a suspicion of malpractice that is found not to be 
substantiated following an investigation, you will be protected under the Confidential 
Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy. 
 

Page 208



MERSEYTRAVEL 
   

 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 6 
 

However, any allegation that you make which you know to be false is not protected, as 
the disclosure would not be in the public interest. This could result in formal 
disciplinary action being taken against you. 
 
How Merseytravel will Respond to a Concern 
 
Merseytravel will respond to your concerns. However, investigating your concerns is 
not the same as either accepting or rejecting them. 
 
There may be a range of issues raised under this Policy and, depending upon the 
nature of the complaint, the most appropriate officer to investigate will be determined.  
 
Concerns or allegations which fall within the scope of specific Policies and procedures 
(for example, discrimination issues) will normally be referred for consideration under 
those procedures. 
 
In order to protect individuals and those that are the subject of a concern, initial 
enquiries will be made to decide whether an investigation is appropriate and, if so, 
what form it should take, in accordance with the Merseytravel Investigation Protocol.  If 
appropriate, an issue may be referred to the Police or to Merseytravel’s appointed 
External Auditor. 
 
Some concerns may be resolved by agreed action without the need for investigation.  
If urgent action is required this will be taken before any investigation is conducted. 
 
Within ten working days of a concern being raised, the person to whom you made the 
complaint in the first instance will write to you: 
 

 Acknowledging that the concern has been received; 

 Indicating how Merseytravel proposes to deal with the matter; 

 Estimating of how long it will take to provide a final response; 

 Telling you whether any initial enquiries have been made; 

 Supplying you with information on staff support mechanisms and; 

 Telling you if no further investigations will take place and the reason/s for this. 
 
Officers investigating your concerns may need to contact you to obtain further 
information or clarify points raised. Where any meeting is arranged, you can be 
accompanied by a union or professional association representative or a workplace 
colleague. 
 
Merseytravel will take steps to minimise any difficulties which you may experience as a 
result of raising a concern.  For instance, if you are required to give evidence in 
criminal or disciplinary proceedings Merseytravel will arrange for you to receive advice 
about the procedure, if you require it. 
 
In the event that a colleague makes a protected disclosure and suffers any detriment, 
Merseytravel can be vicariously liable for the actions of the perpetrator, unless they 
can demonstrate they took all reasonable steps to prevent this happening.  Workers 
can also be personally liable if they subject a colleague to a detriment in such regard. 

Page 209



MERSEYTRAVEL 
   

 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 7 
 

 
Merseytravel accepts that you need to be assured that the matter has been properly 
addressed.  Thus, subject to legal constraints, we will inform you of the outcome of 
any investigation. 
 
How the Matter can be taken further 
 
The Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy documents how concerns can be 
raised internally and how Merseytravel will deal with these.  If you are not satisfied with 
Merseytravel’s response you may wish to contact the following: 
 

 The External Auditor 

 Your Trade Union 

 Your local Citizens Advice Bureau or Solicitor 

 Relevant professional bodies or regulatory organisations 

 The Police 

 Your Member of Parliament 
 
If you do take the matter outside Merseytravel, you should ensure that you do not 
disclose confidential information acquired during your employment unless it falls within 
the qualifying criteria for protected disclosures. Premature or inaccurate media 
exposure or adverse publicity may cause needless reputational damage, impede a 
proper investigation or cause unnecessary distress to individuals. 

  

Page 210



MERSEYTRAVEL 
   

 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 8 
 

APPENDIX A 
 
Public Interest Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998 
 
PIDA builds on existing employment protection legislation in the Employment Rights 
Act 1996. It makes it unlawful to subject a worker to any detriment for making what is 
known as a “Protected Disclosure”. Further provisions on whistleblowing are also 
included in the Enterprise & Regulatory Reform Act 2013. 
 
The “Protected Disclosure” provisions have two aims: 
 
1. To ensure concerns about malpractice is brought to the attention of the appropriate 

person who can deal with the issue quickly and effectively - and who can be held 
accountable if the concerns are not dealt with properly; 
 

2. To encourage whistle-blowers to behave responsibly (for example to avoid leaking a 
story to the media). 

 
There are three legal definitions of what constitutes a ‘protected disclosure’: 
 
1. Nature of the Disclosure 
 

To be a protected disclosure, the disclosure must be about the commission of a 
criminal offence, a breach of any legal obligation, a miscarriage of justice, a risk to 
health and safety or damage to the environment. 

 
2. Disclosure to Whom? 
 
 A protected disclosure may be made: 
 

(a) To the worker’s employer; 
(b) To the person having legal responsibility for the matter that is subject to the 

disclosure; 
(c)  In accordance with the employer’s whistle-blowing procedure; 
(d) To the worker’s legal advisor. 

 
3. Worker’s State of Mind 
 

The person making the disclosure must reasonably believe that the information 
disclosed tends to show one of the matters outlined above so the disclosure can 
constitute the subject matter of a protected disclosure. 
 
The Act places responsibilities on the actions of whistle-blowers.  To be protected 
by the Act, the disclosure must not be made for personal gain and must be made in 
the reasonable belief that the allegation is substantially true and is made in the 
public interest. Furthermore, the disclosure will only be protected if a number of 
additional pre-conditions are satisfied.  These include raising the matter internally or 
with a prescribed person, or if this has not been done it is because the person must 
reasonably believe that they will be subject to detriment by their employee. 

Page 211



MERSEYTRAVEL 
   

 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy Page | 9 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

Merseytravel 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy 
 

Contact List – March 2018 
 

Financial Probity and Malpractice Issues: 
Internal Audit (7th Floor, Mann Island) 
 
Director of Resources       330 1959 
Head of Internal Audit   330 1031 
Audit Manager   330 1122 
Principal Auditor (Technical)  330 1116 
Senior Auditor   330 1284 
  
 
Human Resource/Staffing Issues: 
People & Customer Development (9th Floor, Mann Island) 

 
      Head of People & Customer Development  330 1800 

HRD Operations Manager   330 1213 

HRD Strategy ＆ Systems Manager     330 1204 

Health & Safety Officer   330 1210 
  
Legal Issues and Advice: 
Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement (7th Floor, Mann Island) 
 
Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement  330 1700 
Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement Manager  330 1703 
 
Independent Advice: 
 
Public Concern at Work (PCAW) is a Whistleblowing Charity that provides 
independent support & advice:  
 
Website: http://www.pcaw.org.uk/ 
PCAW Whistleblowing Advice Line: 020 7404 6609 

Page 212

http://www.pcaw.org.uk/


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Audit & Governance  
     Committee  
 
Meeting:     20 March 2019 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY MONITORING OFFICER  
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ETHICAL STANDARDS 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
1.1 This report informs Members of the outcome of the Committee on Standards in 

Public Life review of Local Government Ethical Standards. 
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance 

Committee: 
 

(a) notes the report and the contents of the review; and 
 

(b) endorses the actions contained within paragraph 3 in relation to Best Practice 
recommendations. 
 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 It the context of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority  (LCRCA) it is 

important to note that the there are only 7 members (Metro Mayor, Leaders and 
Mayor) to whom the Code of Conduct for Members applies.  All other members who 
attend a range of LCRCA Committee meetings do so not as Members of the 
LCRCA  but as members of their own constituent Council.  This means that these 
members would be covered by the Code of Conduct in their own constituent local 
authorities.   

 
3.2 On 25 May 2010, the coalition government announced its intention to abolish the 

Standards Board regime set out in Part 3 of the Local Government Act 2000. The 
government accepted that it was important to have safeguards in place to prevent 
the abuse of power and misuse of public money, given that those who elected 
members to office had the right to expect the highest standards of behaviour. 
However, it considered that the standards regime under the LGA 2000, under which 
all local authorities by law had to adopt a national code of conduct and a standards 

Page 213

Agenda Item 11



committee to oversee the behaviour of members and receive complaints, regulated 
by Standards for England, was ineffective, bureaucratic and encouraged petty 
complaints or harmful accusations. It therefore proposed that, through the Localism 
Act 2011, local authorities would draw up their own local codes of conduct and it 
would become a criminal offence for members to deliberately withhold or 
misrepresent a financial interest.  In these circumstances, the Code of Conduct 
adopted in 2017 by the LCRCA is a blend of all the constituent Council‟s so as to 
represent the optimum common position in place at each of those Council‟s. 

 
3.3  However, concerns were raised by the Committee on Standards in Public Life 

(CSPL) in various reports, following the implementation of the Localism Act 2011, 
as to whether the sanctions for breach of standards were adequate and that it 
would therefore be monitoring the implementation of the new local government 
standards regime. 

 
3.4  The CSPL undertook a review with the following terms of reference: 
 
3.4.1 Examine the structures, processes and practices in local government in England 

for:  
 a. Maintaining codes of conduct for local councillors  
 b. Investigating alleged breaches fairly and with due process  
 c. Enforcing codes and imposing sanctions for misconduct  
 d. Declaring interests and managing conflicts of interest  
 e. Whistleblowing  
 

3.4.2 Assess whether the existing structures, processes and practices are conducive to 
high standards of conduct in local government. 

 
3.4.3 Make any recommendations for how they can be improved. 
 
3.4.4 Note any evidence of intimidation of councillors, and make recommendations for 

any measures that could be put in place to prevent and address such intimidation. 
 
3.4.5 The review covered all local authorities in England, of which there are 353  principal 

authorities, with 18,111 councillors in 2013, and an estimated 10,000 parish 
councils in England, with around 80,000 parish councillors. They did not take 
evidence relating to Combined Authorities, metro mayors, or the Mayor of London. 

 
  

Page 214



CSPL Review 
 

3.5  The review report runs to over 100 pages and the list of recommendations is as 
follows: 

 

Number Recommendation Body 
Responsible 

for Action 

1 The Local Government Association should create 
an updated model code of conduct, in consultation 
with representative bodies of councillors and 
officers of all tiers of local government. 

Local 
Government 
Association 

2 The government should ensure that candidates 
standing for or accepting public offices are not 
required publicly to disclose their home address. 
The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012 should be amended to 
clarify that a councillor does not need to register 
their home address on an authority‟s register of 
interests. 

Government 

3 Councillors should be presumed to be acting in an 
official capacity in their public conduct, including 
statements on publicly-accessible social media. 
Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 should be 
amended to permit local authorities to presume so 
when deciding upon code of conduct breaches. 

Government 

4 Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 should be 
amended to state that a local authority‟s code of 
conduct applies to a member when they claim to 
act, or give the impression they are acting, in their 
capacity as a member or as a representative of the 
local authority. 

Government 

5 The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012 should be amended to 
include: unpaid directorships; trusteeships; 
management roles in a charity or a body of a public 
nature; and membership of any organisations that 
seek to influence opinion or public policy. 

Government  

6 Local authorities should be required to establish a 
register of gifts and hospitality, with councillors 
required to record any gifts and hospitality received 
over a value of £50, or totalling £100 over a year 
from a single source. This requirement should be 
included in an updated model code of conduct. 

Government 

7 Section 31 of the Localism Act 2011 should be 
repealed, and replaced with a requirement that 
councils include in their code of conduct that a 
councillor must not participate in a discussion or 
vote in a matter to be considered at a meeting if 
they have any interest, whether registered or not, “if 
a member of the public, with knowledge of the 
relevant facts, would reasonably regard the interest 
as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your 
consideration or decision-making in relation to that 

Government  

Page 215



matter”. 
8 The Localism Act 2011 should be amended to 

require that Independent Persons are appointed for 
a fixed term of two years, renewable once. 

Government 

9 The Local Government Transparency Code should 
be updated to provide that the view of the 
Independent Person in relation to a decision on 
which they are consulted should be formally 
recorded in any decision notice or minutes. 

Government 

10 A local authority should only be able to suspend a 
councillor where the authority‟s Independent Person 
agrees both with the finding of a breach and that 
suspending the councillor would be a proportionate 
sanction. 

Government  

11 Local authorities should provide legal indemnity to 
Independent Persons if their views or advice are 
disclosed. The government should require this 
through secondary legislation if needed. 

Government / all 
local authorities 

12 Local authorities should be given the discretionary 
power to establish a decision-making standards 
committee with voting independent members and 
voting members from dependent parishes, to decide 
on allegations and impose sanctions. 

Government 

13 Councillors should be given the right to appeal to 
the Local Government Ombudsman if their local 
authority imposes a period of suspension for 
breaching the code of conduct. 

Government 

14 The Local Government Ombudsman should be 
given the power to investigate and decide upon an 
allegation of a code of conduct breach by a 
councillor, and the appropriate sanction, on appeal 
by a councillor who has had a suspension imposed. 
The Ombudsman‟s decision should be binding on 
the local authority. 

Government 

15 The Local Government Transparency Code should 
be updated to require councils to publish annually: 
the number of code of conduct complaints they 
receive; what the complaints broadly relate to (e.g. 
bullying; conflict of interest); the outcome of those 
complaints, including if they are rejected as trivial or 
vexatious; and any sanctions applied. 

Government 

16 Local authorities should be given the power to 
suspend councillors, without allowances, for up to 
six months. 

Government 

17 The government should clarify if councils may 
lawfully bar councillors from council premises or 
withdraw facilities as sanctions. These powers 
should be put beyond doubt in legislation if 
necessary. 

Government 

18 The criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 
relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests should 
be abolished. 

Government 

19 Parish council clerks should hold an appropriate 
qualification, such as those provided by the Society 

Parish councils 

Page 216



of Local Council Clerks. 

20 Section 27(3) of the Localism Act 2011 should be 
amended to state that parish councils must adopt 
the code of conduct of their principal authority, with 
the necessary amendments, or the new model 
code. 

Government 

21 Section 28(11) of the Localism Act 2011 should be 
amended to state that any sanction imposed on a 
parish councillor following the finding of a breach is 
to be determined by the relevant principal authority. 

Government 

22 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015 should be 
amended to provide that disciplinary protections for 
statutory officers extend to all disciplinary action, 
not just dismissal. 

Government 

23 The Local Government Transparency Code should 
be updated to provide that local authorities must 
ensure that their whistleblowing policy specifies a 
named contact for the external auditor alongside 
their contact details, which should be available on 
the authority‟s website. 

Government 

24 Councillors should be listed as „prescribed persons‟ 
for the purposes of the Public Interest Disclosure 
Act 1998. 

Government 

25 Councillors should be required to attend formal 
induction training by their political groups. National 
parties should add such a requirement to their 
model group rules. 

Political groups  

National political 
parties 

26 Local Government Association corporate peer 
reviews should also include consideration of a local 
authority‟s processes for maintaining ethical 
standards. 

Local 
Government 
Association 

 
3.6  Members will see that the vast majority of the recommendations identify the 

 government as the responsible body for implementing the recommendation and a 
 further report will be submitted to committee when  the government‟s response is 
received in due course. Members will also see that it is recommended that the Local 
 Government Association should create an updated model code of conduct and 
 should such a model code be produced, it will be presented to members for 
 consideration in due course. 

 
 
Best Practice 

 
3.7 In addition to the above recommendations the Review published a list of best 

 practice recommendations which they expect should be implemented and they 
 intend to review the implementation of their best practice in 2020. 
 
 
Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and 
harassment in codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and 

Page 217



harassment, supplemented with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered 
by such a definition.  
 

o Comment: Our code does not currently prohibit bullying and harassment 
specifically but there is a requirement to treat others with respect.  

 
o Recommendation: No concerns that the Code is not understood so no further 

action at this juncture.  Should the LGA produce a new Code, further 
consideration will be given to this position at that time. 

 
 

Best practice 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct 
requiring councillors to comply with any formal standards investigation, and 
prohibiting trivial or malicious allegations by councillors.  
 

o Comment: Our code does not include specific provisions but reasonably 
implied from other obligations. 

 
o Recommendation: No action at this juncture. 

 
 

Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their code of conduct each year 
and regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, community 
organisations and neighbouring authorities.  
 

o Comment: Our code has been reviewed since its adoption in 2017.  Officers 
also look to co-ordinate codes with neighbouring constituent councils so as 
to minimise confusion for the public and councillors subject to more than one 
Code of Conduct.    

o Recommendation: No action at this juncture. 
 
 

Best practice 4: An authority‟s code should be readily accessible to both 
councillors and the public, in a prominent position on a council‟s website and 
available in council premises.  
 

o Comment: LCRCA  complies with this best practice. 
 

o Recommendation: No further action at this juncture. 
 
 

Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register 
at least once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV.  
 

o Comment: The register is regularly updated and is published on the Council‟s 
website under the Members Register of Interests. 

 
o Recommendation: No further action at this juncture. 

 
 

Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest 
test against which allegations are filtered.  

Page 218



 
o Comment: A „local assessment criteria test‟ which the Monitoring Officer 

utilises when assessing initial complaints has not yet been developed and 
therefore this test is not published. 

 
o Recommendation: Develop and publish the „local assessment criteria test‟ on 

the Council‟s website. 
 
 

Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent 
Persons.  
 

o Comment:   LCRCA does not have currently have access to two Independent 
persons.   

 
o Recommendation: It is proposed that each of the constituent Council‟s will be 

contacted to ask if reliance on the independent persons can be shared with 
the LCRCA and arrangements made accordingly 

 
 

Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to 
undertake a formal investigation on an allegation, and should be given the option to 
review and comment on allegations which the responsible officer is minded to 
dismiss as being without merit, vexatious, or trivial. 
 

o Comment: In light of the above comment, understandably an Independent 
Person is not consulted at this early stage in the process but the Chair of the 
Audit and Governance Committee would be consulted if the Monitoring 
officer was minded not to deal with a complaint on the basis that it is without 
merit, vexatious or trivial. 

 
o Recommendation: No further action at this juncture. 

 
 

Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of 
misconduct following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published 
as soon as possible on its website, including a brief statement of facts, the 
provisions of the code engaged by the allegations, the view of the Independent 
Person, the reasoning of the decision-maker, and any sanction applied.  
 

o Comment: Detailed procedures to deal with complaints have not been 
developed as of yet.   

          
 

o Recommendation: It is likely that procedures from another Council will be 
adapted and reported to a subsequent Audit and Governance meeting for 
approval. 

 
 

Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible 
guidance on its website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the 

Page 219



process for handling complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and 
outcomes. 
 

o Comment: In light of comments above, and the revamped website, this is an 
aspect that requires further work 

 
o Recommendation: That progress on this action be reported to a future Audit 

and Governance Committee meeting. 
  

Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish 
councillor towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council as a 
whole, rather than the clerk in all but exceptional circumstances. 
 

o Comment: Not applicable to LCRCA. 
 

o Recommendation: Nil 
 

Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers‟ roles should include providing advice, 
support and management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches 
to parish councils within the remit of the principal authority. They should be provided 
with adequate training, corporate support and resources to undertake this work.  
 

o Comment: Not applicable to LCRCA. 
 

o Recommendation:  Nil 
 

Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address any 
conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps 
should include asking the Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake 
the investigation.  
 

o Comment: Whilst this is not specifically written into our code it is not 
prohibited and the Monitoring Officer has the ability to seek assistance from 
third parties. 

 
o Recommendation: No further action at this juncture. 

 
Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or 
which they own as part of their annual governance statement, and give a full picture 
of their relationship with those bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities 
should abide by the Nolan principle of openness, and publish their board agendas 
and minutes and annual reports in an accessible place.  
 

o Comment: Our annual governance statement does not currently include 
reference to separate bodies wholly owned by the Combined Authority.  
 

 
o Recommendation: Consideration of this will be given for future Annual 

Governance Statements in 2019/20. 
 
 

Page 220



Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders 
or group whips to discuss standards issues. 
 

o Comment:  The context of the LCRCA does not warrant this kind of approach 
on a regular basis. 

 
o Recommendation: If a standard issue arises with a member of the LCRCA 

(or their deputy) then the mechanisim of liaising with the Group Whip at the 
relevant constituent council would be considered at that time. 

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
  None arising from the contents of this report. 
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
  None arising from the contents of this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
  None arising from the contents of this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
  
  None arising from the contents of this report. 
 
 
5.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
5.1 None arising from the contents of this report. 
 
 
6.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 None arising from the contents of this report. 
 
 
7.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
7.1 Members of the LCRCA will be advised of the contents of this report following its 

consideration by the Audit and Governance Committee. 
  

Page 221



 

8.  CONCLUSION 

8.1 The CSPL believe their recommendations represent a package of reforms to 
strengthen and clarify the existing framework for local government standards. Whilst 
many of the recommendations would require primary legislation – whose 
implementation would be subject to Parliamentary timetabling – they would expect 
that those recommendations only requiring secondary legislation or amendments to 
the Local Government Transparency Code could be implemented by government 
relatively quickly. The best practice they have identified is, in most cases, already 
operating in a number of local authorities. Taken as a whole, this best practice 
represents a benchmark that any local authority in England can and should 
implement in their own organisation. 

 
8.2  Ultimately, they believe that, responsibility for ethical standards rests, and should 

remain, with local authorities. Senior councillors and officers must show leadership 
in order to build and maintain an ethical culture in their own authority. 

 
 
 

JILL COULE 
Chief Legal Officer & Monitoring Officer 

 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
Jill Coule, Chief Legal Officer & Monitoring Officer, 0151 330 1855 
 
 
Appendices: 
There are no appendices. 
 
Background Documents:  
Nil 
 
Useful Link: 
 
 
Report – Local Government Ethical Standards; A Review by the Committee on Standards 
in Public Life: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-
standards-report  
 

Page 222

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Audit & Governance 

Committee 
  
Meeting:  20 March 2019 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM:   No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER  
 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY  
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ANNUAL REVIEW 2018/19 

 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of the report is to provide Members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee with an Annual Review for 2018/19 that includes Audit and Governance 
activity, schedule of proposed meeting dates and forward plan to demonstrate how 
the Committee will discharge its functions during 2019/20. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 The Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee is recommended to: 

 
a) agree the Audit and Governance Committee Annual Review for 2018/19 at 

Appendix 1 and that any amendments/insertions be made in consultation 
with the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, the Head of Internal Audit and the 
Monitoring Officer; and 
 

b) agree the proposed programme of meetings and provisional work 
programme for the Audit and Governance Committee for 2019/20 at 
Appendix 1 and that any amendments during the course of the new 
municipal year be made in consultation with the Chairperson, Vice 
Chairperson, the Head of Internal Audit and the Monitoring Officer. 

 
 

3. BACKGROUND  
 
3.1  To enable the Audit and Governance Committee to discharge its functions as 

defined in its Terms of Reference in the LCRCA Constitution, the enclosed cycle of 
meetings and provisional work programme of core business is proposed at 
Appendix 1. 

 

Page 223

Agenda Item 12



3.2 In addition to the activities detailed in Appendix 1, during the year, the Audit and 
Governance Committee may also consider additional items of business within its 
remit, including, but not limited to; 

 
a) Reports and recommendations of external audit and inspection agencies and 

their implications for governance, risk management or internal control, where 
appropriate; 

 
b) Review the effectiveness of the Authority’s risk management arrangements, 

Corporate Risk Register and Risk Management Strategy and policies; 
 

c) Review and consider the Authority’s Accounting Policies, Treasury 
Management arrangements and financial performance; 

 
d) Consider revisions to the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Code of 

Corporate Governance and Assurance Framework, if required; 
 
e) Consider the Authority’s counter-fraud arrangements; 
 
f) Consider the Authority’s compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards (PSIAS), the CIPFA Local Government Application Note (LGAN) 
and associated guidance and best practice; and 

 
g) Any other business proposed by the Chair, officers or Members of the 

Authority, as appropriate. 
 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

 There are no direct issues arising from this report which is for noting only. 
 

4.1 Financial 
 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 

Page 224



 
 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
7. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
  There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
8. CONCLUSION 
 
 The Authority is required by law to ensure that adequate and effective internal audit 

arrangements are provided for. The proposed schedule of dates and forward plan of 
Committee activities outlined in this Report seek to ensure that legal and 
Constitutional obligations are met in respect of these requirements. 

 
 

JILL COULE  
Monitoring Officer  

 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit, 0151 330 1764 
Charles Yankiah, Democratic Services, 0151 330 1079 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 – Audit and Governance Committee Annual Review for 2018/19 and 
Provisional Work Programme for 2019/20 
 
Background Documents:  
None 

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 

COMMITTEE 

 

 

ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 227

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjm1ZiwqLvgAhUi2uAKHQ2iD-UQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.providertrust.com/blog/finished-your-audit-now-what-to-do-with-all-the-information/&psig=AOvVaw3u0XijmQbnB9YILD8iLnTi&ust=1550236795993573
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjm1ZiwqLvgAhUi2uAKHQ2iD-UQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.providertrust.com/blog/finished-your-audit-now-what-to-do-with-all-the-information/&psig=AOvVaw3u0XijmQbnB9YILD8iLnTi&ust=1550236795993573


2 
 

 

CONTENTS  

                                                                                                Pages nos. 

Foreword by the Audit & Governance Committee Chair                                   3 

Message from the Audit and Governance Vice Chairperson                            4 

Audit & Governance Committee Members 2018/19                                          5 

Audit & Governance Committee Terms of Reference                                       6 - 9 

Audit & Governance Committee Activity 2018/19                                             10 

Audit & Governance Committee – Provisional Work Programme 2019/20      11 

Audit & Governance Committee – Looking Ahead 2019/20                             12 

  

Page 228



3 
 

 

FOREWORD 

 

Chairperson, Councillor Paula Murphy 

 

Welcome to the 2018-2019 Annual Report of the LCR Audit and 

Governance Committee. I am pleased to present this report that 

highlights the work of the Committee over the last twelve months 

and also sets out the proposed work programme going forward 

for the Audit and Governance Committee for 2019/20. 

 
I hope that this Annual Report helps to demonstrate the vital role 

that is carried out by the Committee and the contribution that it 

makes to the Combined Authority‟s overall governance. As with all Liverpool City 

Region Combined Authority Committees, scheduled meetings are open to members 

of the public and I would encourage residents within the City Region to come along 

and see the Committee in action. 

 

I am pleased to advise that the Committee has continued to make progress in 

discharging its responsibility to provide independent assurance on the 

Combined Authority‟s control environment and governance framework. As 

highlighted in the body of this report, the Committee has been actively engaged with 

our Internal 

and External Audit functions and the results of their work. In addition, the 

Committee has taken a keen interest in governance developments including the 

Confidential Reporting/Whistleblowing Policy, the LCRCA Constitution and the 

LCRCA Publication Scheme. 

 

I‟d like to say a special thank you to the members of the public who attend our 
meetings and to the invited guests for providing the information to assist and advise 
the Committee in undertaking its duties. 
 
Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to those officers who have, over 

the past year, attended the meetings to present reports and 

supported me as the Chairperson, along with the Vice Chairperson, in carrying out 

our roles. 

 
 

Paula Murphy 

_______________________________ 

Chairperson, Councillor Paula Murphy 

 

 

Page 229



4 
 

 

 

 

MESSAGE  

Vice Chairperson, Councillor Edna Finneran 

 

It has been very rewarding to serve on the Audit and Governance 
Committees this year, as the Vice Chairperson.   

It has been a learning experience that I have welcomed with audit 
jargon, terminology, practices and processes that have provided the 
Committee with assurances that the Combined Authority are 
discharging its functions correctly and appropriately.  

There is still so much more to learn and to monitor and it is a responsibility that is not 
to be taken lightly.  

I would like to thank the officer team, who have been supportive in providing training 
and explaining all the audit and governance terminology and provided the Committee 
with information and frameworks to assist us in monitoring the audit and governance 
arrangements. 

Finally, I would like to thank my fellow councillors for their attendance and 
commitment to the Committee. We have once again worked together to achieve 
some common goals and fulfil out remit as the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 

Edna Finneran 

____________________________________ 

Vice Chairperson, Councillor Edna Finneran 

 

 

  

Page 230



5 
 

 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

2018/19 

  
 

 
Chairperson: Councillor Paula Murphy 

Labour, Molyneux Ward 

Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council 

 

 
 

Vice Chairperson: Councillor Edna Finneran 

Labour, Halewood South Ward 

Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council 

 
 

 
Councillor Dr John Pugh 

Liberal Democrat, Dukes Ward 

Opposition Group Representative 
Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council 

 

 
Councillor Sir Ron Watson 

Conservative, Dukes Ward 

Opposition Group Representative 
Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council 

 

 
Councillor Derek Long 

Labour, West Park Ward 

Combined Authority Representative 
St Helens Metropolitan Borough Council 

 
 
Councillor Ian Maher 

Labour, Netherton and Orrell Ward 

Combined Authority Representative 
Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 231



6 
 

 
 

 
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE  
TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
1.  Composition 
 
Membership 
 
The Audit and Governance Committee will be composed of 7 Members as follows: 
 
(i) 6 elected Members which consist from the voting members of the Combined 

Authority and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and  

(ii) 1 Independent Member. 

 
There will be no more than two Members of the Combined Authority on the 
Committee. 
 
Chairing the Committee 
 
The Chair shall be appointed annually from amongst the voting membership of the 
Committee at its first meeting following the Annual Meeting and before proceeding to 
other business.  
 
Appointment  
 
The Combined Authority shall appoint an Audit and Governance Committee at the 
Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority, which shall consist of: 
 

(a) members appointed from the voting members of: 

(i) Combined Authority and 

(ii) Overview and Scrutiny Committee, together with  

(iii) another elected voting member as a substitute member of the Audit and 
Governance Committee to act in the absence of the member appointed 
above, in such a manner that the members of the Audit and Governance 
Committee taken as a whole will reflect, so far as reasonably practicable, 
the balance of political parties for the time being prevailing among 
members of the Constituent Councils when taken together; 

 
(b) at least one Independent Person, appointed through the prescribed procedure 

and who: 
(i) is not a member, co-opted member or officer of the authority;  
(ii) is not a member, co-opted member or officer of a parish council for which 

the authority is the principal authority;  
(iii) is not a relative, or close friend, of a person within sub-paragraph (i) or (ii); 
and  

Page 232



7 
 

(iv) was not at any time during the 5 years ending with an appointment  
(1) a member, co-opted member or officer of the authority; or  
(2) a member, co-opted member or officer of a parish council for which 

the authority is the principal authority; and 
 
(c) such non-voting members may be co-opted from other organisations in such 

manner and at such times as the Audit and Governance Committee may 
decide. 

 
Quorum 
 
No business of the Audit and Governance Committee shall be transacted unless at 
least two-thirds of the voting members are present. 
 
Meetings and Procedure 
 
The Committee will conduct business in accordance with the overview and scrutiny 
rules, meeting standing orders, access to information rules and other standing 
orders, codes and protocols set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 
Delegation 
 
The Committee may establish such sub-committees, panels and ad-hoc working 
groups as it considers expedient to assist it. 
 
Statement of Purpose 
 
The Audit and Governance Committee is a key component in the Combined 
Authority‟s Corporate Governance Arrangements. Its main objectives are to: 
 

 provide assurance of the adequacy of the risk management framework and the 
associated control environment, including the Annual Governance Statement 
and other assurance statements; 

 ensure that it properly reflects the risk environment and considers any actions 
required to improve it and to demonstrate how good governance supports the 
achievements of the Combined Authority‟s objectives; and 

 promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Combined Authority 
Members.  

 
Functions 
 
The Combined Authority has delegated to the Audit and Governance Committee the 
following roles in order to advise the Combined Authority: 
 
(a) to satisfy itself that the Combined Authority‟s assurance statements, including 

the Annual Governance Statement, properly reflect the risk environment and 
any actions required to improve it, and demonstrate how governance supports 
the achievements of the Combined Authority‟s objectives; 

 

Page 233



8 
 

(b) in relation to the Combined Authority‟s internal audit functions: 

 approve the Internal Audit Charter, Quality Assurance & Improvement 
Programme and Code of Ethics for Internal Audit. 

 approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including any significant interim 
changes to the plan  

 monitor compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 

  consider the Head of Internal Audit‟s Annual Report  

 oversee its independence, objectivity, performance and professionalism; 

  support the effectiveness of the internal audit process; and 

 promote the effective use of internal audit within the assurance framework; 

 
(c) to consider the effectiveness of the Combined Authority‟s risk management 

arrangements and the control environment.  Review the risk profile of the 
organisation and assurances that action is being taken on risk-related issues, 
including partnerships with other organisations; 

 
(d) to monitor the effectiveness of the control environment, including arrangements 

for ensuring value for money and for managing the Combined Authority‟s 
exposure to the risks of fraud and corruption; 

 
(e) to consider the reports and recommendations of external audit and inspection 

agencies and their implications for governance, risk management or control; 

 
(f) to support effective relationships between external audit and internal audit, 

inspection agencies and other relevant bodies, and encourage the active 
promotion of the value of the audit process; 

 
(g) to review the accounting policies, financial statements, external auditor‟s 

opinion and reports to members, and monitor management action in response 
to the issues raised by external audit; 

 
(h) to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members; 
 
(i) to assist Combined Authority Members to observe the Combined Authority‟s 

Code of Conduct for Members; 
 
(j) to advise the Combined Authority on the adoption, revision or replacement of 

the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members and the Combined 
Authority‟s Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints that Combined Authority 
Members have failed to comply with the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct 
for Members (“the Authority‟s Arrangements”); 

 

Page 234



9 
 

(k) to monitor the operation of the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for 
Members and the Authority „s Arrangements; 

 
(l) to advise, train or arrange to train Combined Authority Members to observe the 

Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members; 
 

(m)  to determine, in accordance with the Authority‟s Arrangements, whether a 
Member has failed to comply with the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct 
for Members and, if so, to determine what action (if any) to take in respect of 
the Combined Authority Member, such actions to include: – 

 
• publication of the findings of the Combined Authority‟s Standards 

Committee in respect of the Subject Member‟s conduct; 
• reporting the findings of the Combined Authority‟s Standards Committee to 

the Combined Authority for information; 
• recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member 

should be censured; 
• instructing the Combined Authority‟s Monitoring Officer to arrange training 

for the Subject Member; or 
• recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member 

should be removed from all appointments to which the Subject Member has 
been appointed or nominated by the Combined Authority;  

 
(n) to determine appeals against the Monitoring Officer‟s decision on the grant of 

dispensations; 
 

(o)   to report to the Combined Authority on the Committee‟s findings conclusions 
and recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Authority‟s governance, risk management and internal control frameworks; 
financial reporting arrangements, and internal and external audit functions; and 

 
(p)     to report to the Combined Authority on the performance of the Committee in 

relation to its Terms of Reference and the effectiveness of the Committee in 
meeting its purpose. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 235



10 
 

 
 
 
 

 
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ACTIVITY 2018/19 

 

Meeting: 17 October 2018 

Items covered: 
Internal Audit Performance Q1 and Q2 
KPMG Annual Audit Letter 
 
Appointment of Independent Member – Update 
 

Training: 13 December 2018 

Training session: 
Internal Audit and Risk Management  
 

Training: 23 January 2019 

Training session: 
Governance arrangements 
 

Meeting: 23 January 2019 (Inquorate meeting, items referred to 20 March 2019) 

Items covered: 
Internal Audit Performance Q3 
External Audit Plan 2018/19 
Governance Update – LCRCA Constitution, Information Management & 
Publication Scheme and Confidential Reporting/Whistleblowing Policy 
Risk Management Update 
 
Work Programme 2018/19 - Update 
 

Meeting: 20 March 2019 

Items covered: 
Internal Audit Performance Report Q3 and Q4 
Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 
External Audit Plan 2018/19 
Counter Fraud Policies 
Risk Management Update 
Accounting Policies 
 
Audit & Governance Committee Proposed Forward Plan for 2019/20 
Audit and Governance Committee Annual Report 2018/19 
 

 
There has also been progress on the appointment of the Independent Member to serve on 

the Committee for the 2019-20 year in accordance with good practice for audit committees 

outlined by CIPFA in their publication “Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local 

Authorities and Police” (2018 Edition). 

 
 

Page 236



11 
 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
Provisional Work Programme for 2019/20 
 
The Committee would like to propose the following provisional work programme for 
2019/20 
 

 
DATES 

 
AGENDA ITEMS 

 
24 July 
2019 

 
Internal Audit 

 Head of Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2018/19 

 Draft Pre-Audit Accounts (including Annual Governance Statement) 

 Internal Audit Performance Report (Q1) 

 Risk Management Update 
Finance 

 Final Accounts 2018/19 
Governance 

 Member Code of Conduct – Review 

 Mazars ISA 260 Report 

 
16 
October 
2019 

 
Internal Audit 

 Internal Audit Performance Report (Q2) 

 Risk Management Update 
Finance 

 Mazars Annual Audit Letter 
Governance 

 Governance Update (Information Management – Breaches, Conduct 
and Complaints and Whistleblowing) 
 

 
15 
January 
2020 

 
Internal Audit 

 Internal Audit Performance Report (Q3) 

 Risk Management Update  
Finance 

 External Audit Plan 2018/19 

 
22 
March 
2020 

 
Internal Audit 

 Internal Audit Performance Report (Q4) 

 Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 

 Risk Management Update 

 Risk Management Policy 
Finance 

 Accounting Policies (revised) 

 External Audit Plan 2018/19 
Governance 

 Counter Fraud Policies (revised where appropriate) 

 Audit & Governance Annual Report 2019/20 & Review of Effectiveness 

 Schedule of A&G Committee Dates & Forward Plan 2020/21 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 237



12 
 

 
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
Looking Ahead to 2019/20 
 
Audit and Governance plays an important role in challenging performance and 
driving improvement and needs to be as effective as possible.  
 
Areas of Focus for 2019/20 
 

 
AREA OF FOCUS 

 
COMMENTS 

Developing effectiveness of the Committee in 

accordance with good practice for audit committees 

outlined by CIPFA in their publication “Audit 

Committees: Practical Guidance for Local Authorities 

and Police” (2018 Edition). 

 

Further training for members to support development 

and increase effectiveness.  

 

This will enable Committee members to assess their 
own compliance with the guidance and report on this 
in 2019-20. 

 

 
To coincide with the review of the Constitution of the 

LCRCA, the Terms of Reference for the Committee 

will be updated to comply with the CIPFA publication 

“Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local 

Authorities and Police” (2018 Edition). 

 

 

 

Page 238


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meetings
	Minutes
	Audit and Governance Committee Minutes - 23 Janaury 2019
	Minutes


	4 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Internal Audit Performance
	Item 4 - Appendix

	5 Liverpool City Region  Combined Authority Internal Audit Plan and Charter 2019-20
	Item 5 - Appendix One
	Item 5 - Appendix Two
	Item 5 - Appendix Three

	6 External Audit Plan 2018/19
	Item 6 - Appendix

	7 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Counter-Fraud Policies
	Item 7 - Appendix A - The Confidential Reporting ("Whistleblowing") Policy
	Item 7 - Appendix B - Anti-Bribery Policy
	Item 7 - Appendix C - The Anti-Money Laundering Policy
	Item 7 - Appendix D - The Surveillance Policy
	Item 7 - Appendix E - The Investigation Protocol

	8 Risk Management Update
	Item 8 - Appendix One
	Item 8 - Appendix One (A)

	10 Governance Update
	Item 10 - Appendix 1
	Item 10 - Appendix 2
	7 PARG and IMG Annual Reports 2017/18
	Enc. 2 for PARG & IMG Annual Reports 2017/18


	Item 10 - Appendix 3
	Item 10 - Appendix 4

	11 Local Government Ethical Standards - A Review by the Committee on Standards in Public Life
	12 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee Annual Review for 2018/19
	Item 12 - Appendix


		2019-01-14T07:32:15-0800
	Agreement certified by Adobe Sign




